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CHRONOLOGY SHEET'
Inthecaseof: _ U.S. v. Specialist Megan M. Ambuht
(Rank and Name of Accused)
Date of alleged commission of earliest offense tried: __23 October 2003
(Enter Date)
Date record forwarded to The Judge Advocate General: 2
(Enter Date)
— COL, JA, Staff Judge Advocate -
oL \da
(Signature and Rank of Staff Jﬁge Advocate or Legal Officer)
' In a case forwarded to the Judge Advocate Action Date Cumulatlve
General, the staff judge advocate or legal . 2003 Elapsed
officer is responsible for completion of the : Days
Chronology Sheet. Trial counsel should " p— 4
report any authorized deductions and | 1- Accused placed under restraint by military authority
reasons for any unusual delays ofthe case. | 5 Gharges preferred (date of affidavif) 13 Jul 04 _
? Or officer conducting review under Article | 3. Article 32 investigation (date of report) s
B4(a) (MCM, 1984, RCM 1112) 4. Charges received by convening authority 13 Jul 04 0
' In computing days between two dates, | 5. Charges referred for trial i 21 Jul 04 8
disregard first day and count last day. The .
actual number of days in each month wil be 6. Sentence or acquittal 25 Aug 04 43
counted. Less days:
¢ ltem 1 is not applicable when accused is Accused sick, in hospital or AWOL 0
not restrained, (See MVM, 1984, RCM 304)
or when he/she is in confinement under a Delay at request of defense
sentence or court-martial at time charges are : ian ©
preferred. Item 2 will be the zero date if item Total authorized deduction 0
1 is not applicable. 7. Net elapsed days to sentence or acquittal 43
* May not be applicable to trial by special | 8- Record received by convening authority
court-martial Action’
* Only this.item may be deducted 9. Record received by officer conducting revievr under
Article 64(a)
T If no further action is required, items 1 Action ®
through 8 will be completed and chronology clion
signed by such convening authonty or his/her
represéntative, i
£
! When further action is requxld under
Article 64 or service directives. :
REMARKS
Investigation of the most serious charge was initiated on 15 January 2004. The Accused was arraigned on
11 August 2004. Total of 209 days. f
4
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COURT-MARTIAL DATA SHEET

1. OJAG NUMBER

When an item is not applicable to the record of trial being reviewed,
diagonal line similar to the ones which appear in the SPCMCA blocks fo

2. NAME (Last, First, Middle Initiad | 3. SOCIAL SECURITY 4. RANK 5. UNIT/COMMAND NAME
AMBUHL, Magen M. i SpC HHC, 16th MP Bde (ABN), III Corps
I
INSTRUCTIONS

mark the proper block with a
r items 6a and b.

KEY TO USE

TC - Trial Counsel. This column will bd
completed in all cases in which a finding
of guilty is returned.

SPCMCA - Special CoutttMartial
Convening Authority Whg' is not
empowered to convene a general court-
martial. This column will be completed
in each special court-martial case by the

GCM._or JA - General Court-Martial
Convening Authority or Judge
Advocate. This column will be
completed in any.case in which the
record is forwardgd by the commander
exercising generd! court-martial
Jurisdiction to The Judge Advocate
General of the branch of service
concerned. If the record is reviewed

SPCMCA or his/her designated
representative.

under Article 64(a), UCMJ, this
column will be completed by the judge
advocate accomplishing the review

OJAG - Appropriate appellate agency in the Office
of The Judge Advocate Gengral of the branch of

service concerned. This column will be disregarded

.| Jf arecord of trial was reviewed under Article 64,
5 UCMYJ, and in cases where there are no approved
*findings of guilty.

References - All references are to the Uniform Code
of Military Justice (UCMYJ) and the Manual for
Courts-Martial, United States MCM), 1984,

SECTION A - PRETRIAL AND TRIAL PROCEDURE

TC SPCMCA | GCM or

JA

OJAG

YES| NO| YES| NO | YES| NO [ YES | NO

6. a. Ifa general court-martial: Was the accused represented in the Article 32
investigation by civilian or military counsel of his/her own selection or by
counsel qualified within the meaning of Article 27(b), UCMJ?

b. Ifnot: Did the accused waive his/her right to such representation?

7. Does the record show place, date, and hour of each Article 39(a) session,
the assembly and each opening and closing thereafter?

8. a. Areall convening and amending orders of courts to which charges were
referred entered in the record?

b. Are court members named in the convening orders, detailed military
Jjudge (if any), counsel and the accused accounted for as present or absent?

¢. Was less than a quorum present at any meeting requiring the presence
of court members (RCM 805))?

d. Does the record show that after each session, adjournment, recess, or
closing during the trial, the parties to the trial were accounted for when the
court reopened (A13-5)?

e. If the military judge or any member present at assembly was thereafter
absent, was such zbsence the result of challenge, physical disability or based
on good cause as shown in the record of trial (RCM 505(c)(2)(A))?

9. Were the reporter and interpreter, if any, sworn or previously sworn?

10. a. Was the military judge properly certified (RCM 502(c))?

b. Weas the military judge properly detailed (RCM 503(b))?

¢. Was the military judge present during all open sessions of the court?

11. a. Was the accused advised that:

(1) He/she had the right to be represented free of charge by a military
lawyer of his/her own selection, if reasonably available, in which case detailed
counsel might be excused (RCM 506(a))?

i
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COURT-MARTIAL DATA SHEET

SECTION A - PRETRIAL AND TRIAL PROCEDURE
(CONTINUED)

TC

SPCMCA | GCM or
JA

OJAG

YES| NO | YES| NO| YES| NO| YES| NO

(2) He/she had the right to be represented at the trial by a civilian lawyer
provided at no expense to the government, in which case detailed counsel
would serve as associate counsel or be excused with the accused's consent?

(3) If he/she did not exercise any of the rights listed above, he/she would be

defended by detailed counsel certified under Article 27(b), UCMJ (RCM 502(d)(1))?

b. (1) Was the accused represented by a civilian lawyer?

(2) Did the accused request a specific military counsel?

(3) (a) If so, was such request complied with?

(b) If not, were reasons given why requested counsel was not
reasonably available?

12. a. Was the detailed defense counsel properly certified (RCM 502(d))?

b. Was at least one qualified counsel for each party present during all
open sessions of the court (RCM 502(d) and RCM 805(c))?

13. a. Ifthe special court-martial adjudged a BCD:

(1) Was a military judge detailed to the court (RCM 503(b))?

(2) If not, did the convening authority submit a statement indicating
why a military judge could not be detailed and why trial had to be held at that time
and place (Article 19, UCMI)?

(3) Was a verbatim transcript made (Article 19, UCMI)?

14. Did any person who acted as the accuser, investigating officer, military

Jjudge, court member, or a member of the defense in the same case, or as

counsel for the accused at a pretrial investigation or other proceedings

involving the same general matter, subsequently act as a member of the
rosecution (RCM 502(d)(4))?

15. If any member of the defense had acted as a member of the prosecution in
the same case, was he/she excused (RCM 502(d)(4))?

16. 2. If any member of the defense had acted as the accuser, investigating
officer, military judge, or member of the court, were his/her services expressly
requested by the accused (RCM 502(d)(4))?

b. If not, was he/she excused?

17. a. If accused was an enlisted person, did he/she make a request that
enlisted persons be included in membership of the court?

b. Ifso, were at least one-third of the members who tried the case enlisted
persons, or did the convening authority direct the trial without enlisted
persons and provide a detailed written explanation which is appended to the
record (RCM 503(a)(2))?

¢. Did any enlisted member of the court belong to the same unit as the accused?

18. If a military judge was detailed to the court, was the accused informed of
his/her right to request trial by military judge alone?

19. ‘Were the members of the court, military judge (if any) and the personnel
of the prosecution and defense sworn or previously sworn?

20. a. Was any person sitting as a member of the court, or military judge (if
any), the accuser, a witness for the prosecution, the investigating officer, staff
judge advacate, counsel, or convening authority, or upon rehearing or new
trial was he/she a member of the former trial (RCM 902(b) and RCM 912(f))?

b. If so, did the accused waive such disqualification (RCM 912(f)(4) and
RCM 902(e))? :

DD FORM 494, OCT 84, Page 2
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COURT-MARTIAL DATA SHEET

SECTION A - PRETRIAL AND TRIAL PROCEDURE
(CONTINUED)

TC SPCMCA | GCM or O0JAG
JA
YES| NO | YES| NO YES|NO]| YES| NO

21. a. Was each accused extended the right to challenge military judge (if
any), and any member of the court for cause and to exercise one peremptory
challenge?

b. Was action by court upon challenges proper (RCM 902 and RCM 912)?

¢. Does the record show that a member excused as a result of a challenge
withdrew from the court?

22. a. Was the accused properly arraigned (RCM 904)?

b. Do the following appear in the record: The charges and specifications,
the name, rank and unit/command name of the person signing the charges,
the affidavit, and the order of reference for the trial?

¢. Except in time of war, was the accused brought to trial (which includes
an Article 39(a), UCMI session) by general court-martial within five days (by
special court-martial within three days) subsequent to service of charges upon
hinvher (RCM 602)?

d. Ifso, did the accused object to trial?

23. a. Were any charges or specifications affected by the statute of limitations
1 (RCM 907(b))?

b. If so, was accused advised of his/her right to assert the statute and was
his/her response recorded (RCM 907(b))?

24. Did the court take proper action with respect to motions raising defenses and
objections (RCM 905-907)?

23. a. Were pleas of accused regularly entered (RCM 910(a))?

b. Were pleas of guilty properly explained, and accused’s responses recorded
CM 910(c))?

26. Does the record show that all witnesses were sworn?

27. Did the military judge or president advise the court concerning the
elements of each offense, each lesser included offense reasonably raised by
the evidence, and the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, and
burden of proof, pursuant to Article 51(c), UCMI (RCM 920(e))?

28. a. If trial was by military judge alone, did the military judge announce the
findings (RCM 922)?

b. Ifthe trial was with members, did the president announce the findings
(RCM 922)?

c. If special findings were requested, were they made a part of the record?

29. Were the findings in proper form (A10)?

30. a. Was the evidence, if anty, of previous convictions admissible and
properly introduced in evidence (RCM 100 1(0)(3))?

b. Was the information from personnel records of the accused properly
admitted (RCM 1001(b)(2))?

¢. Was the defense permitted to introduce evidence in extenuation and
mitigation after the court announced findings of guilty (RCM 1001(c))?

31. a. In a trial with members, did the president announce the sentence
(RCM 1007)?

b. If trial was by military judge alone, did the military judge announce the
sentence (RCM 1007)?

DD FORM 494, OCT 84, Page 3
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COURT-MARTIAL DATA SEEET

TC SPCMCA | GCM or 0JAG
SECTION A - PRETRIAL AND TRIAL PROCEDURE JA
(CONTINUED) YES| NO| YES| NO | YES| NO| YES| NO

32. Was the sentence in proper form (A11)?
33. Is the record properly authenticated (RCM 1104)?
34. a. Did all members who participated in proceedings in revision vote on
original findings and sentence (RCM 1102(e)(1))?
b. At proceedings in revision, were a military judge (if one was present at

the trial), the accused, and counsel for the prosecution and defense present

CM 1102(e)(1))?
35. Was each accused furnished a copy of the record or substitute service
made on defense counsel (RCM 1104(b))?
36. Was clemency recommended by the court or military judge?

GCMor
SECTION B - PROCEDURE AFTER TRIAL TC SPCMCA JA 0OJAG

YES[NO| YES| NO | YES| NO| YES| NO

37. Was the court convened by proper authority (RCM 504(b))?
38. Did the court have jurisdiction of person and offense (RCM 202 & 203)?
39. Does each specification state an offense under the code (RCM 907(b))?

40. Did the accused have the-requisite mental capacity at the time of trial and
the requisite mental responsibility at the time of the commission of each
offense (RCM 909 and RCM 916(k))?

41. Is the evidence sufficient to support the findings?

42. Is the sentence within legal limits RCM 1112(dy?

43. Is the action of the convening authority properly entered in the record
and signed (RCM 1107(H)?

44. If appropriate, is a proper place of confinement designated (RCM
1107(f)(4)(c))?

45. a. Was the staff judge advocate's post-trial recommendation served on
the defense counsel for comment (RCM 1106(f)?

b. Ifthe addendum to the recommendation contained new matters, was
it served on the defense counsel for comment (RCM 1105(D(7))?

c. Did the accused submit matters for the convening authority’s
consideration in a timely manner (RCM 1 105)?

d. Ifyes, was the convening authority's action subsequent to the
submission of the matters?

e. If o, did the accused waive in writing the right to submit matters and
was the action taken subsequent to the written waiver or did the time periods
provided in RCM 1105(c) expire before the convening authority’s action?
46. a. Does the record indicate that the accused was advised of his/her
appellate rights (RCM 1010)?

b. Do the allied papers contain a statement indicating the desires of the
accused with respect to appellate representation in the event his/her case is
referred to a court of military review?

c. Did the accused waive or withdraw appellate review and is the waiver
or withdrawal in proper form and attached to the record of trial (RCM 1110,
Al9 & 20)?

002200
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' COURT~MARTIAL DATA SHEET

SECTION C - COURT-MARTIAL ORDERS (CMO)

TC

SPCMCA | GCM or

QJAG

YES| NO

YES| NO | YES| NO | YES

NO

47. Does the initial CMO bear the same date as the action of the convening
authority who published it?

48. Are all the orders convening the court which tried the case correctly cited
in the CMO?

49. Are the accused's name, rank, SSN, unit/command name and branch of
service correctly shown in the CMO?

50. Are all the charges and specifications (including amendments) upon which the
accused was arraigned correctly shown in the CMO (RCM 1114)?

51. Are the pleas, findings, and sentence correctly shown in the CMO
(RCM 1114)?

52. Does the CMO show the date the sentence was adjudged?

53. Is the action of the convening authority correctly shown in the CMO?

54. Isthe CMO properly authenticated (RCM 1114)?

55. REMARKS:

DD FORM 494, OCT 84, Page 5
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COURT-MARTIAL DATA SHEET

55. REMARKS (Continued):

56. TRIAL COUNSEL
a. TYPED NAME (Last, First, Middle Initial) | b. RANK

d. DATE SIGNED
-] MAT

7 Zee 04
57. CONVENING AUTHORITY OR HIS/HER REPRESENTATIVE
a. TYPED NAME (Last, First, Middle Initial) b. RANK ¢. SIGNATURE d. DATE SIGNED

58. STAFF JUDGE ADVOCATE OF GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY OR REVIEWING JUDGE ADVOCATE

a. TYPED NAME (Last, First, Middlc Inital) | b. RANK d. DATE SIGNED
_— COL 25 Bpe o4

59. ACTION IN THE OFFICE OF THE JUDGE ADVOCA

2. ACTION:

b. INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING DATA SHEET

(1) TYPED NAME (Last, First Middls Initial | (2) RANK | (3) SIGNATURE (@) DATE SIGNED

002202
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CORRECTED COPY

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
~ Headquarters, Iif Corps
Victory Base, Iraq
APO AE 09342-1400

GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL ORDER 5 December 2004
NUMBER 9 |

Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, ‘us. Army, Headquarters and Headquarters

Company, 16th Military Police B'ri'g_ade'(Airbome), i Corps, Victory Base, Iraq, was
arraigned at Victory Base, Iraq, on the following offenses at a general court-martial
convened by the Commander, il Corps.

Specification: Ator near Baghdad Central Confinement Facility, Abu Ghraib Irag,.on or
ut 23 | ire wi Sergeant

e Uniform Code of Military Justice, to wit: maltreatment of
effect the object of the
Megan M. Ambuhl did participate in a photograph who

- tied a leash around the neck of a detainee and led the detainee down the corridor with
the leash around his neck. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered. N

‘Charge II: Article 92. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered.

subordinates, and in order to

Specification: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambgh l,g)\ﬂfo knew of her duties, at or near
Baghdad Central Correction Facilit Abu Ghr, ib, Irag, from on oF about 20 October

2003 to on or about 1 December 2003, was derelict in the performance of those duties
in that she willfully failed to protect.Iragi detainees from abuse, cruelty and

maltreatment, as it was her duty to do. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered.

‘Charge lil: Article 93. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered.

orders, by watching naked detainees in a pyramid of human bédies. Plea: None
Entered. Finding: None Entered,

002203
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GCMO No. 9, DA, Headquarters, lli Corps, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342-1400,
dated 5 December 2004 (continued)

Charge 1V: Articlé 134. Plea: None Entered. Findings: None Entered.

Confinement Facility. Abu Ghraib, Irag. on or
mit an indecent act with Iragi detainees, Staff

X _ pting to masturbate
e they were located in a public corridor of the Ba hdad Central Correction Facili

with other soldiers who photographed or watched the detainess’ actions. Plea: None
Entered. Findings: None Entered. _ .

_Additional Charge |: Article 81. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered.

se under the
subordinates, and in order to
lace naked detainees’in a
red. Finding: None Entered. _ o

2
2
¥

Additional Charge II: Article 93. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered. 3

Specification 1: At or near Ba hdad Central Confinement Facilit: Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on
or about 8 November 2003. did maltreat several detainees. persons subject to her
orders, by watching naked detainees being forced to masturbate in front of other
detainees and soldiers. Plea: None Entered. Finding: None Entered.

Specification 2: At or near Baghdad Central Confinement Facility, Abu Ghraib, Irag, on
or about 23 October 2003. did maltreat several detainees ersons subject to her

ACTION

The accused having been arraigned, the proceedings were terminated on 25 August
2004. The Charges and Specifications are dismissed. All rights, privileges, and property
of which the accused has been deprived by virtue of these proceedings will be restored.

002204
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- DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters, 1l Comps
Victory Base, Irag
APO AE 09342-1400

OCT 2 8 2004

a

AFZF-CG

MEMORANDUM FOR Staff Judge Advocate -

SUBJECT: Disposition of the Court-Martial Charges Preferred Against_fépecialist
Megan M. Ambuhl

The recommendati‘:ons of the Staff Judge Advocate are approved. Pursuant to the
accused’s offer to plead guilty, the attached charges and their specifications are

referred to trial by summary court-martial. [ hereby appoint Lieutenant Colonel-
= dasthe summary court-martial officer.

THOMAS F. MEM

Lieutenant General, USA
Commanding

002206
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AFZF-JA-MJ 0CT 2 8 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, lll Corps, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342-1400

SUBJECT: Advice on Disposition of the Court-Martial Charges Previously Referred
Against
Specialist Megan M. Ambuh! {EEI-~cmioN MEMORANDUM

1. Purpose. To forward for disposition, in accordance with Rule for Court-Martial
(RCM) 407, the courtynartial charges against Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl,
Headquarters and Headquarters €ompany, 16th Military Brigade (Airborne), lll Corps,
Victory Base, Iraq.

2. Background. On 21 July 2004, you referred the charges (including additional
charges) and specifications in this case to trial by general court-martial. On 13 October
2004, the Defense submitted the attached offer to plead guilty, under which you would
agree to refer all charges and specifications to trial by summary court-martial.

i 3. Hecommendations. - . s

a. Chain of Command. The chain-of command recommends you accept the
attached offer to plead guilty and refer this case to a summary court-martial.

b. Staff Judge Advocate. | recommend you accept the attached offer to plead guilty
and refer this case to a summary court-martial.

4. Staff Judge Advocate Review. | affirm my prior review of these charges under RCM
406 and Article 34, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ). ltis my legal conclusion
that (1) The specifications allege offenses under the UCMJ; (2) The allegations of the
offenses are warranted by the evidence indicated in the attached documentation; and
(3) The court-martial will have jurisdiction over the accused and the offenses alleged.

5. POC is Captain/8llat DSN 315-s22[J i

Encls
1. Charge Sheet OL, JA
2. Additional Charge Sheet Staff Judge Advocate

3. Offer to Plead Guilty
4. Allied Documents

002207
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~ HEADQUARTERS
MULTI-NATIONAL CORPS - IRAQ
BAGHDAD, IRAQ
APO AE 09342

REPLYTO - BT 2 8 2004
FICI-JA

MEMORANDUM FOR Lieutenant Cologie! N[N 57t Signal Battalion, 3rd
Signal Brigade, Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Appointmentas a Summary Court-Martial Officer

1. Pursuant to Rules for Court Martial 401 and 403, | hereby appoint you the Summary
Court-Martial Officer for the referred charges pertaining to Specialist (E-4) Megan M.
Ambuhl, Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade
(Airborne), Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342

2. Before 4 convene this court-martial you will contact your legal advisor, Major
: si= ==/ Office of the Staff udge Advocate, 1st Calvary Division, Victory Base
r

at DSN 302-531 for a briefing. During the course of the proceeding,
you may seek assistance from your legal advisor.

¢3. It will be your duty to come to a factual conclusion on this case at hand and, drawn
from the evidence presented, adjudge a sentence that is not disproportionate to the

offenses committed.

Encl THOMAS F. METZ
ne Lieutenant General, USA
Commanding

002208
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OFFER TO PLEAD GUILTY

AMBUHL, Meghan M.

SPC, US. Army,

Headquarters and Headquarters Company
16th Military Police Brigade (Airborne)
I Corps, Victory Base, Iraq

APO AE 09342-1400

3

8 dbtobcr 2004

1. I, Specialist I‘f/legan M. Ambuhl, the accused in a pending court-martial, offer to plead guilty
as follows: :

a. To the Sptficiﬁcation of Charge I and to Charge I: Not Guilty;
b. Tothe Spéciﬁcaﬁon of Charge I and to Charge II: Guilty;
P c. To ﬂ;&: Spéciﬁcaﬁon of Chaige IIT and to Charge II: Not Guilty; and
d. Tothe Spéciﬁcaﬁon of "Cha%%e IV and to Charge IV: Not Guilty.
2. Aspartof tlus offer, I also agree to the following:

a. To enter into a Stipulation of Fact correctly describing the offense to which I am offering
 to plead guilty. Ialso agree that this stipulation may be used by the Summary Court-Martial
officer to ascertain matters pertinent to findings and sentence. If my plea is not accepted, this
offer to stipulate is null and void. :

b. Iagree to waive unconditionally any right I may have to an administrative separation
board under AR 635-200, in the event my unit elects to separate me from the Ammy. This
unconditional waiver includes any right I may have to a separation board if I am being
considered for separation under other than honorable conditions.

c. I agree to waive the presence at my court-martial of all witnesses located outside of
Victory Base, Irag.

d. Tagree to cooperate fully with the sovernment in the igv
Specialist Sergean taff Sergean
iali Private First Class
ased on misconduct at the Baghdad Cen onfinement

igations and prosecutions of

otner soldier or civilian charg
Facility at Abu Ghraib.

€. To request defegnent of any period of adjudged confinement until after the conclusion of United
States v. H IAW Article 57a, UCMYJ.

002209
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3. Iagree to take the actions above provided the Convening Authority takes the following
actions:

a. Refers this case to trial by summary court-martial.

b. Authorizes and orders the Trial Counsel to dismiss without prejudice the charges and
specifications to which I have pled not guilty, once the summary court-martial officer accepts
my plea of guilty to Charge II and its Specification.

4. Tunderstand that I may request to withdraw the plea of guilty at any time before my plea is
accepted and that if I do so, this agreement is canceled. This agreement will also be canceled if:

a. Ifail to plead guilty as agreed above;

b. The Stipulation of Fact is modified at any time after I have affixed my signature thereto
without the consent of both myself and the Govemment; or

c. The summary court-martial officer either refuses to accept my plea of guilty or changes my
plea of guilty during the trial.

5. This writing includes all terms and conditions of this Offer to Plead Guilty and contains all .
promises made to me or by me concerning my plea of guilty. There are no other promises,
conditions, or understandings regarding my proposed plea of guilty that are not contained in this offer.

SFC, U.S. Army Civilian Defense Counsel
Accused

E -

The offer to plead guilty dated 8 October 2004'is:

%%?

i THOMAS F. METZ
Lieutenant General, USA
Commanding

0CT 2 8 2004
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UNITED STATES

Il Corps, Victory Base, Iraq
APO AE 09342

)

) STIPULATION OF FACT
)
v, )
)
AMBUHL, MEGAN M. )
SPC, U.S. Army )
Headquarters & Headquarters Company)

16% Miitary Police Brigade (Airbome) ) 8 October 2004

)
)

I. NATURE AND USES OF THE STIPULATION:

1. This document represents a set of facts that both the Government and SPC Megan
Ambuh! (“the accused”) agree upon as true. These facts are admissible in evidence
and can be considered by the Summary-Court Martial to determine the providence of
the accused’s plea of guilty; to establish the elements of all charges and specifications;
and in congideration of an appropriate sentence. For these purposes, the accused
expressly waives any objection that she may have to the admission of these facts, and
any referenced attaghrmients, into evidefice 4t tial under any evidentiary rule, applicable
case faw, or Rule for Courts-Martial that might otherwise make them inadmissible.

?

Il. THE ACEUSED: ’i,‘
THE ACEUSED, .

2. 1, SPC Msgan Ambuhl, am 30 years old: 1 graduated High Schbol in 1992, and then
attended Coastal Carplina College where ! received a B.S. in Biology. My GT scoreis
128. Ientered militay service on 31 January 2002. | attended One Station Unit
Training at Fort Leonard Weod, Missouri. | ¢omipleted Basic Tralning approximately 23
Juns 2602, After | eompleted my MOS training, | was released from active duty
approximately 23 August 2002. On 21 February 2003, | was activated for the current
tour of service in support of Operation Iragi Freedom. | have a total of 2 years and 9
months service In the United States Ammy Resérve including my Delayed Entry time. |
received Geneva Cenventien and UCMJ traifing during an approximately 60-90 minute
block of instrugtien in Basic training, but cannot remember any specifics of those
classes. Inmy eivilian life, | work as a histology technician at LabCorp, a private

" company in Herridon, Virginia.

3. Vwas originally assigned to the 352™ MpP Company, but was involuntarily transterred
to the 372" MP Company. The 372™ spent 3 months training at Ft. Les, Virginia on
Law and Order missions. Now | arm assigned to Headquarters and Headquarters
Service Company, 16™ Military Police Brigade. At all times relevant to the charged
offenses, | was 29 years old and on active duty.

002211
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Stpulation of Fact— Un'ri‘e\,J‘ates v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

lil. BACKGROUND

4. InMay 2003, |, along with members of the 372d NiP Company, arrived in Kuwait.
The company procesded north to the city of Hillah where the unit was responsible for,

among other things, assisting and training t i Police in the surrounding area.
D i time 1 begcame friends with SSG _CPL and

fellow MPs in my company. | am still goog triends with SPC

fee

5. On 14 October 2003, the 372d MP Co. assumed duties at the Baghdad Central
Confinement Facility (BCCF). The BCCF is located in Abu Ghraib, a city located
appraximately 12 miles west of Baghdad, Irag. Within the BCCF there are several
compounds used to hold a large number of detainess. One of the compounds is
actually a series of buildings buitt to contain individual cells. This compound is known
as the "hard site” and consists of a number of halls, or tiers. Detainees in tier 1 were
divided into two sub-tiers, tier 1A and tier 1B. During the relevant time, tier 1A was used
for Military Intelligence (MI) holds — individuals who were belisved to possess
information of tactical, strategic, or operational value. Tier 1B housed certain sub-
categories of civilian detainees -- including women, juveniles, and detainees suspected
of psychiatric/psychological problems or mental instability. 1B also housed many
delainees that had caused serious disciplinary problems. There were juvenile and
female M holds on 1B from the beginning. Later on, there were all the different types of
male M and OGA holds as wsll.

6. During the months of October 2003 to January 2004, | worked at the BCCF. My
primary responsibility was to serve as a night-shift guard for tier 1B. Specifically, | was
given the responsibility to safeguard the women and juveniles who were held in the hard
site on tier 1B, My formal supervisor during th night shift was generally SS

the NCOIC, although SSG o rotated the duty of i I
dSSG ﬁ ssa nd SSG

C with twe ether staff sergeants, SSG
ould also eiween serving as the Sergeant of the Guard (SOG) during this
. SFCﬁrrived somgtime in November was the NCOIC of the entire
hard site. During the day-shift, S generally served as the immediate

supexvisor for the tiers, with SSG serving as the SOG. Overall responsibility for
rgeant and Platoon Leader, SFC

ire hard site remained with the 4™ P
P%specﬁvely. CPTMas the Company Commander and
1 was the Company 1SG, and these
for the

two men had the overall responsibility
ard site, Camp Vigilant, as well as the company’s LSA.

7. The 37?d was not formally trained to conduct interment and resettiement (IR)
operations of the type executed at Ghraib. Several members of the company,
SSG and SSG ere corrections officers in the

including CPL
United States. .
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Stipukaticn of Fact — Unitearslates v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

lll. THE MISCONDUCT: THE ELEMENTS

8. Between the time frame of 20 October 2008 and 1 December 2003, | was derelict in
the performance my duties, which | knew, in that [ willfully failed to protect Iraqgi
detainess from abuse, cruelty, and maltreatment. Specifically:

a. |'had a certain prescribed duty to the Iragi detainees, thatis lhad a ?uty to
protect them from a%yse, cruelty, and maltreatment, and?

b actuaily knew f this assigned duty, and;
€. That between on or about 20 October 2003 and on or about 1 December
20083, I was derelict in the performance of that duty by willfully failing to protect the Iragi
detainees from abuse, cruelty, and maltreatment.

IV. THE MISCONDUCT: THE UNDERLYING FACTS

9. During the time of 20 October 2003 and 1 December 2003, | witnessed numerous
acts of abuse, cruelty, and maltreatment of Iraqi detainiees within the hard site. This
time was very confusing for me, and things were done to detainees that | questioned,
but that apparently were permissible. But there were some things that were done that |
knew were wrong at the time, and | did not act to stop this behavior to protect the
detainess from abuse, cruelty, and maltreatment. There are two primary incidents that |
specifically remember as being obviously wrong and that | took no action to prevent,
efther directly by saying something or taking action to stop the incident, or indirectly by
reporting this behavior to someone who could stop the misconduct,

10. The first incident occurred approximately 8 days after the 372d had assumed duties
at the hard site, on the evening of 24 October 2003. oo

by
*

aﬁ'hts incident took placs in the hardrsife,ﬁn tier 1A/1B and involyed three
, CP PF(h myself, anda detainee named Mr.

3 32. :

] T

was a solqien'i ajssfgned to the 372d MP Co., but not as an MP.

b. PF
instead, PFC ive clerk who had no duties that required her

as an admipistrati

Jto ben the hard site. PEC_ however, wa$ involved in a sexual relationship with
‘CP a rélaiionsﬁip e company had triedto stop but apparently did not.
Mr. A nicknamed-.vas in the hole on
as a small man weighing approximately 100

when he was release ad been arrested for attacking coalition forces.
%n attacked orghreatened to atjack his MPﬁguargs.qemonstrated clear

jons of & signifiéant méntal illne8s, and refysed td accept anything offered to him

including clothes, food, or water. As a result, was often naked, as he was on the
night of 24 October 2003. Because-routinely refused food and water, the MP

c. The detainee involv
the night of 24 October 2003,
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Stipuation of Fact — Uniteudiates v. SP an M. Ambuhl

guarding{iiiilihad to forcibly administer IV's to keep him alive, and this Ieﬁ.weak
ard frafl.

d. On 24 October 2003, ulle from the hole. CPL
looped a tie-down strap around neck, and handed the other end of the strap to
P en asked PFC 0 pose holding the strap while he

ttempted to crawl along the floor. CP did not

make any comments to me he had been ordered to do this, and P really
had no businegs being there in the first place. It was not my idea to stage this
photograph o and | did not think there was a legitimate reason to do so. Atthe
time this was happening | knew it was wrong just as | know now that it was wrong. | did
not say anything to CPL# or PFCﬁto the effect that ! shouldn't be
treated this way, and 1 didn't try to stop this | any way. | also didn't tell anyone about
this although | knew it was wrong to trea r any detainee this way.

12. The second incident occurred in the late evening of 7 November 2003.

a. As mentioned above, the BCCF consists of both the hard site and several
compounds. One compound within the BCCF is Camp Ganci. Camp Ganci generally
hcuses detainees who may be a security risk if released or hold some low-level
intelEgence value. Camp Ganci was not administered by the 372™, but by another MP
company. Unlike its sister camp, Camp Vigilant was run by 2™ platoon of the 3724,
Camp Ganci was fairly disorderly and riots sometimes-occurred. One such riot occurred

~on the night of 7 November 2003.

b. After the riot at Camp Ganci was controlled, seven detainses believed to be
participants in the riot were taken to the hard site to be placed into igolati
of punishing them for their conduct. T ven detainees were Mr.

I didn't know the names of these
been told who they were. | recently heard Mi‘h
testify in court as to what happened to him that night and was

as he talked about being hurt and abused, and about the deep shame he
felt as a result of what my fellow soldiers did to him that night.

c. The detainees were taken into the hard site with sandbags on their heads and
flex-cuifs on their hands. This practice was not uncommon for incoming personne! and

was generally done for security reasons. Present were a r of MP. who were
assigned to the pight-shift including SSG qCPL sec Y
SGTE: - k. and myself. Also pressnt was SPC & mechanic

o the company.

d. Once the detainees amived in the hard site, the situation deteriorated. | saw
the detainees were thrown together in a pile, still bound and hooded. | then
proceeded to walk up the stairs to the upper level. SGT - -

0027214
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Stipdation of Fact— Unitew wates v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

who worked in the tiers was there. SGT-used his combat bo step
on the hands and fest of the detainees. | walked up next to SF ) who
n the upper tier standing at the railing. SF and | saw SGT
stepping on the detai nd motioned for , and
ordered him to leave. Fcﬁleft the hard site and SGT sftthe
tier. [think SGTﬁetumed ater to witness the additional abuse of the
Id not

'detainees, but | witness him do so.

I also saw a picture of CPL posed with a detainee. In the pose, CPL
Qe!d a detainee’s head with hus fist cocked back as if he were about to punch the
. A soldier or soldiers photographed CP in this position; | was upstairs
in the tier office. Cpl may have hit a detainee; however | did not witness it. From
stimony at his guilty pea, | leamed he made an “X” with his hand on
the of another bound and hooded detainee, and then punched the dstainee with
great forcs in the chest_ This blow caused the detainese to have great difficul
breathing. When S hit the detaines, whom | now know was Mr.h
gotan inhaler from another detainee and tried to help him.
not see, but a medic was called and she tried to help Mr. breathe normally
again. After Mr.-started breathing again, the medic lett.
f. 8sG

and CPL-trip-searched the detainees. | didn’t take part
inthis either. From the investigation, | learned that SPCiwrote word “rapeist”
on the keg of one detaines, listing his crime.

-@g. SSG and CP placed the detainees into the humiliating and
demeaning position of a naked human pyramid. Because the detainees did riot speak
English, they were physically pushed and forced into these degrading positions. The
other soldiers then began photographing and posing for photographs with the dstainees
in humiliating and degrading positions. This | leamed from ths various pictures and
phatographs. | did not pose for any photographs or see others do so.

h. SPC

I talked in the upstairs office of going to make personal
phone calls. S ffice and CPL. and [ found cells for the
deiainess on tier 1B. SPC came back and then she and I left. When | was
going downstairs, | witnessed one detaines kneeling down in front of another with his
head a few inches away from the standing detainee’s groin area. The dgtainee who
was standing had his hands on the head of the kneeling detainee. SP andl
then left and went to the Internet café. We came back to the tier around 0200 and the
detainees were in their cells. The detainees were naked with sandbags on their heads
and no mattresses or blankets. It was a cold night and ths detainees must have been
very cold without anything to wear.

i. Prior to the investigation starting, | saw various videos and pictures depicting
some of the events on the night of 7 November. | should have stopped or reported
these events, both those | saw and thoss | found out about later, but | did not.
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Stipuiation of Fact — Unite. <ates v. SPC Meaan M, Ambuhl

V. OTHER MATTERS

on-13 January 2004 when SPC _ slid a compact disc containing images
of detainee abuse under the office door of the cniminal investigation division (CID) at

Baghdad Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) near Abu Ghraib, Iraq. SPC had
received two compact discs from CPL , another soldjer assigned to
BCCF. SPC ad asked for pictures of the hardsite. SPC ownloaded the

images from both discs to his computer without looking at them. After saving the
pichres, SPC pened the files which included innocuous pictures of palaces in
Irag and soldiers working at the BCCF. The images also included ﬁlctures of naked

" 13. Ileamed from the CID case file irovided_ to my counsel that the investigation began

detainess in forced sexual positions (Attachments 2 and 6). SPC etumed the
two discs to CPL{JJlffand then bumed the images to a compact disc that he
anonymously provided to CID.

14. The CID investigation further showed that the day after SPC-slid the disc
under CID’s door, SPC poke to investigators and made a sworn statement
describing the abuse of detainees at the BCCF. In his statement, SPC-, a junior
enlisted soldier, explained that he knew abusing detainees was wrong and wanted it to
stop. He did not cite any rule of law or policy of the facility; he stated that he simply “felt
the picturgs were morally wrong.”

15. Thave since leamed that the humiliating and sadistic acts of maltreatment and
dehumanization described herein are unacceptable in any culture, but especially so in
the Arab world. Homosexual acts are against Islamic law and Arab.men consider it
humiBiating to be naked in front of others. Placing the detairiees together in a manner to
simulate acts of homosexuality seriously violated the tenets of Islamic law and degraded
the detzinees.

16. Over the past few months, both Middle Eastern and Western media outlets have
broadcast some of the attached photographs. The acts of the soldiers in these
photographs significantly contributed to tamishing the reputation and image of the
United States Armed Forces and the United States in the eyes of many Americans as
well as many individuals throughout the world. Had | attempted to stop this abuse, or

repoit i to the appropriate authorities sooner, much of the misconduct could have been
avoided entirely.

VL. EXTENUATION AND MITIGATION:

6 002216
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SSipuiation of Fact — Uniteusidtes v. SPC Megari M. Ambuhl

17. 1have agreed to cooperate with the govemment inthe investigation of misconduct
within the BCCF. 1 will provide truthful information concerning the events that occurred
within the:BCCF from October 20083 to January 2004.

Vil. STIPULATION TO ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE

18. The government and the | agree that this stipulation of fact plus attached
enclosures are admissible at trial and may be considered in determining the providence
of my pleas and in determining an appropriate sentence. The attached enclosures

- include Photo Exhibits 1-15 |appear in Photo Exhibits 3 and 4. -
rl /
yé/%uw

"MEGAK M. AMBUHL -

Civiian Def&nse Counsel SPC,USA MAJ, JA
Accused Trial Counsel
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OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF COURT
US ARMY JUDICIARY
ARLINGTON, VIRGINIA 22203-1837

THE RECORD OF TRIAL HAS BEEN REVIEWED FOR RELEASE UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT. THE DOCUMENT[S]
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS HAS[HAVE] BEEN REMOVED FROM THIS COPY OF THE
RECORD BECAUSE THE RELEASE WOULD BE IN VIOLATION OF THE DOD
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROGRAM, DOD 540077—R, EXEMPTION 6 and
7(C):

Photographic Exhibits
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS, Ill CORPS
VICTORY BASE, IRAQ

APO AE 09342-1400
REPLY TO

rerivio  0CT 28200

AFZF-CG

MEMORANDUM FOR Specialist Megan M. Ambuh q Headquarters and
Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade, Victory Base, Irag, APO AE 09342-1400

SUBJECT: Grant of Testimonial Immunity and Order to Testify
|

|
1. Purpose. Under the provisions of Rule for Courts-Marﬁai!(RCM) 704(c), | grant you testimonial
immunity for any statements made during the investigation and any courts-martial resulting from

. investigations info alleged abuse of detainees*committed by the following soldiers in your unit:
't jali Specialistﬂ, and
i i ] er grant you immunity for tesumony In any future

criminal prosecutions of soldiers or civilians arising from detainee abuse allegations at Baghdad
Central Confinement Facility (BCCF).

2. Authority and Basis for Grant. As a general court-martial convening authority, | am authorized
to grant testimonial immunity under the provisions of RCM 704(c). Prior to granting testimonial

immunity and directing you to testify, | made the following findings:

a. Relevant Evidence. You possess information relevant to proving the government's cases
against individuals who have been or will be charged with detainee abuse at BCCF.

b. Self-Incrimination. Under ordinary circumstances, you would not be able to provide this -
testimony without implicating yourself in a possible criminal act. Absent a grant of immunity, it is
anticipated that you would invoke your right against self-incrimination and not testify in the courts-
martial listed above or any future criminal prosecutions.

c. Necessity of Testimony. Your testimony before any court-martial which may be convened to
adjudicate the misconduct described above, and your cooperation with law enforcement officers,
investigating officers, and counsel investigating these allegations, is necessary to the public
interest, including the good order and discipline of the U.S. Army.

d. Military Status. You are an individual subject to the Uniform Code of Military Justice.

3. Scope of Immunity. Any information you give pursuant to this order, or any information directly
or indirectly derived from your testimony, shall not be used against you in a trial by courts-martial or
proceedings under Article 15, UCMJ, except for prosecution for perjury, false swearing, making a
false statement, or failing to comply with this order to testify.

4. Effective Date. This grant of immunity and order to testify shall be effective upon personal

delivery to you or your detailed military defense counsel. i

5. POC for this memorandum is Captain Neill at DSN s18-c22 [

Tk 5 oo

Lieutenant General, USA
Commanding
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AFZF-JA-MJ OCT 2 8 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, Il Corps, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342-1400

SUBJECT: Grant of Immunity and Order to Testify ~ ACTION MEMORANDUM

1. Purpose. To recommend vou grant testimonial immunity and an order to testify to
Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl

2. Background.

a. On 20 March 2004, Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl was charged with maltreating
detainees at the Baghdad Central Confinement Facility (BCCF) near Abu Ghraib, Iraq.
Pursuant to an approved offer to plead guilty, Specialist Ambuhl will plead guilty at a
summary court-martial on 30 October 2004. '

b. Youbave previgusiv referred similar charges against Serceant [ D
Specialist *ﬁnd Specialist whose courts-

martial are pending. Specialist Ambuhl has agreed to testify against these co-accused
after receiving a grant of immunity and order fo testify. She has also agreed fo provide

truthful testimony in the court-martial of Private First Class“a co-
accused stationed at Fort Bragg, North Carolina, and in other criminal prosecutions of

soldiers and civilians arising from detainee abuse allegations at BCCF.

3. Applicable Law. Under the provisions of Rule for Courts-Martial (RCM) 704(c) in the
Manual for Courts-Martial, you are authorized to grant testimonial immunity subject to
making specific findings regarding the subjects listed below. Based on my review of the
case, all the specific findings are satisfied.

a. Relevant Evidence. Specialist Ambuhl possesses information relevant to proving
the government’s case against the four charged soldiers listed above. She witnessed
other soldiers abusing detainees at BCCF.

b. Self-Incrimination. Specialist Ambuhl cannot convey this information without
implicating herself in possible criminal acts and, if asked to make a statement or if called
to testify, it is anticipated that she would invoke her right against self-incrimination and
not testify without a letter of testimonial immunity.

c. Necessity of Testimony. The testimony of Specialist Ambuhl at the remaining

- courts-martial is necessary to the public interest, including the good order and discipline
of the United States Army. Similarly, her cooperation with officers, investigating officers,
and counsel investigating these allegations is in the public interest.
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AFZF-JA-MJ
SUBJECT: Grant of Immunity and Order to Testify - ACTION MEMORANDUM

d. Military Status. Specialist Ambuhl is an individ L?}al subject to the Uniform Code of
Military Justice. ’

4. Recommendation. | recommend you grant testimonial immunity and an order to
testify for Specialist Ambuhl. An action to accomplish this is attached.

5. Pocis CPT (NN chic, Criminal Law Division, at 318-822 Y

Encl
as COL, JA
Staff Judge Advocate

00222
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SUMMARY COURT-l  TIAL RIGHTS NOTIFICATION/WA 1} STATEMENT

For usarof wis form. 568:AR 22167 the proponent sgéncy 1§ OTJAG"

1. STATERIENT CONCERNING REFUSAL TG ACCEPT QUALIFIED COUNSELING, ARTICLE 20, UCIJ AND: UNDERSTANDING OF RIGHTS

a. On g C‘ ﬂ?ﬂC)T OL‘ - kW2 dffordsd an nppormmty 10 ‘consult:with legal caunser befafa making my decision to.consent to“Summary
Céurt-Martial procéedings under Articls. 20; YoM,

b. | bave decided not to see coungel in-connestion with-thls action.

. lunderstand my ¥iglits unides Articha: 20, UCMY, Ingluding i tight €5, objest thal Hy:Summary Court-Martlah, punjshment [mitations, foténtisl use 5fths record of
Summary Cnurt Martialin any subsgquent courts-martlal, and othér consequences-af my degision.

d. 1valuntasily decide to cénsent to triaj by Syminiary- Court-Mértial,

TYPED OR PRINTED NAME OF:SERVICE MEMBER. ‘BANK SIGNATURE

MEéPcYN} M_Ayxsum. WW

Degerse Counsesy

explairiéd my rights toxmetinder the provisions of -Articla 26, UCMJ, tomclude my right £0.okjact to tna! b!,' Summary Coun-Mamal pumshment limitaticns,

potential use of thewrecord af “Summary-Court-| Man?al proceedmgsln any: subsequen: courts-martial and gther Eguences of my decisia

b. *| Understand my rights arid veluntarily.degidéd 1o conserit t6 tridl 5y Sumniry Court-Martial.

i

TYPED DR PRINTED:NAME OF SERVICE MEMBER

¢BER RANK V SIGNATURE ‘
v A M. AMBUHL sec ﬂ/
8P Meaan M /%4/4,‘4

c. | have advised SPC/ MEGAN M A‘MBU ‘H [
‘Wame aud Rark € Sérvice Member)
Summary Court:-Martial and the possitle consagrences of.bis or het tonsent or ohfgction to trial by Summary Court-Martial.

of His or her stewudbhy and regulatery rights with regard to this

RANK Sgaagrse

cPT

TYPED OR PRINTED NAME OF DEFENSECOUNSEL BRANCH

3: BEFUSAL TO'ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF ADVICE - ARTICLE: 20, UCKY

After ) sdvised

- . . ' of fis
(Ngrmig - (First, -1, Tas5) - (Rank) SENY

or her rights to-¢orisuit with !egaf ‘cdunsef baféra misking s dedision 16 consent of ctijectts Summary Caurt-Martist proceedings under Article 70, YCMY, 'he or she
refused to complete and sign an goknovdedgment of recsipt of the-advice:

TYPED OR PRINTED NAME OF SUMMARY: CGURT-MARTIAL OFFICER™ | RANK SIGNATURE
REMARKS
DA FORM 5111, SEP 2002 DA FORM 8111-R, AUG 84, IS OBSOLETE.

USAPA'V1.00ES
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters and Headquarters Company
57th Signal Battalion
APO AE 09342

= 0CT 2 9 2004
AFZF-JA-MJ

MEMORANDUM FOR Specialist (E4) Megan M. AmbuH},. Headquarters and
Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Victory Base, Iraq,
APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Notification of Summary Court-Martial

1. On 30 October 2004, at 0800 hours, at the, Headquarters 57th Signal Battalion,
building 41, | will hold a Summary Court-Martial, to consider all facts and circumstances

concerning the charges referred against you on 21 July 2004, by Lieutenant General
Thomas F. Metz. The charge is:

Charge II: Dereliction of Duty, Article 92, UCMJ.

2. The uniform for the hearing is hereby designated as DCU’s. You have the right to be
present during the entire hearing.

3. You have the right to be represented at all times during the hearing by legally

qualified civilian counsel, at no expense to the government. You also have the right to
waive representation by counsel.

4. If reasonably available, | intend to call the following witnesses: None.

5. Additionally, it is my intention to examine and consider evidence contained in the
court-martial packet.

6. As the summary court-martial officer, | will try to arrange for the appearance of any
witnesses that you want to testify at the hearing. You will provide me with a list of the

witnesses you intend to call to testify in your defense NLT 1500 hours, 29 October
2004.

7. Sergeant [SEESEEARENY paralegal, is detailed to this court-martial to provide
paralegal and administrative support.

862223
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AFZF-JA-MJ
SUBJECT: Notification of Summary Court-Martial

8. You may contact me by calling 822-
2 Encls

1. DD Form 458
2. DAForm 5111-R

Summary Coyrt-Martial Officer

I hereby acknowledge Receipt of this Notification of Summary Court-Martial on this

27 _dayof_ec7 2004.
MEGAN M. AMBUHL

SPC, USA
Respondent
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters and Headquarters Company
57th Signal Battalion
APO AE 09342

AFZF-JA-MJ

0CT 28 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Specialist (E4) Megan M. Ambuhl, Headquarters and
Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Victory Base, Iraq,
APO AE 089342

SUBJECT: Notification of Summary Court-Martial

b ]
1. On 30 October 2004, at Osooaﬁours, at the Victory Base Court Room, building 94, |
will hold a Summary Court-Martial, to consider all facts and circumstances concerning
the charges referred against you on 21 July 2004, by Lieutenant General Thomas F.
Metz. The charge is: :

Charge I: Dereliction of Duty, Article 92, UCMJ.

2. The uniform for the hearing is hereby designated as DCU’s. You have the right to be
present during the entire hearing.

3. You have the right to be represented at all times during the hearing by legally
qualified civilian counsel, at no expense to the government. You also have the right to
waive representation by counsel.

4. If reasonably available, | intend to call the following witnesses: None.

5. Additionally, it is my intention to examine and consider evidence contained in the
court-martial packet.

6. As the summary court-martial officer, [ will try to arrange for the appearance of any
witnesses that you want to testify at the hearing. You will provide me with a list of the
witnesses you intend to call to testify in your defense NLT 1500 hours, 29 October
2004.

7. Sergeant aralegal, is detailed to this court-martial to provide
paralegal and administrative support.
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AFZF-JA-MJ
SUBJECT: Notification of Summary Court-Martial

8. You may contact me by calling s22{jjJjif

2 Encls
1. DD Form 458

2. DAForm 5111-R Summary Couyrt-Martial Officer

| hereby acknowledge Receipt of this Notification of Summary Court-Martial on this

29 dayof_2c7 2004.

MEGAN M. AMBUHL
SPC, USA
Respondent

002226
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, BAGHDAD FIELD OFFICE
* CAMP VICTORY, IRAQ

APO AE 08342

FICL-JA-BFO 29 October 2004

MLEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT: Nobﬁcauon by Summary Court-Martial Officer -- United States v. SPC Megan M.
Ambuhl |

1. On 28 October 2004, LTC— Summary Court-Martial Officer, notified the
accused, SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, of the government’s intent to proceed to 2 Summary Court-
Martial (SCM) on “Charge I Dereliction of Duty.”

2. The accused, her civilian defense counsel, and her military defense counsel understand that
the SCM qu proceed on one charge of dereliction of duty. This charge has been misidentified

as “Charge I" and is correctly identified as the original Charge II. The substance and nature of
the charge have not changed. The defense understands the reference to “Charge I” by the SCM
Officer to be an administrative error.

3. SPC Ambuhl is not prejudiced by this error and she and her defense team are on notice that
the offense tq be considered at the SCM is original Charge I, Dereliction of Duty.

4. Questions concermng t‘tus matter, may be addressed to me via email at
oot T " or by telephone at DSN: (312) 521-

//orii'iii siﬁed//

CPT, JA
Trial Defense Counsel

002227
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PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

AUTHORITY: 42 U.S.C. 10606 et sec., Victim's Rights and Restitution Act of 19¢0; 18 U.S.C. 1501 et se¢., Victim and Witness
Protection Act of 1982. .

PRINCIPAL PURPOSES: To inform victims and witnesses of their post-trial rights; to determine whether the victim or witness of a crime
elects to be notified of changes in the confinement status of a convicted criminal offender; and to record the election by the victim or
witness of their desire to be notified about subsequent changes in inmate status.

ROUTINE USES: None.

DISCLOSURE: Voluntary; however, failure to provide identifying information will prevent the corrections facility from notifying victim or
witness of change in a criminal offender’s status.

SECTION | - ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION

Installation Victory Base City Baghdad State Iraq APOAE 09342

Incident Number Organizational Identifier (ORI)

SECTION il — CERTIFICATION OF NO VICTIM OR WITNESS

(Complete this section cnly if there are no victims or witnesses who are entitled to notification under the Victim’s Rights and Restitution Act -
of 1980, and DoD Instruction 1030.2.)

Asa represeﬁtative for the Government in the court-martial case of United Satesv. AMBUHL, Megan M. s

(Name of accused)(Last, first, middle initial)
& Y - convenedby  Lieutenant General Thomas F. Metz, Il Corps, Commander .
(Social Security Number) (Summary Court-martial, Convening Authonity)

| certify that this case does not involve a victim or witness entitled to receive information about the confinement status of the

defendant as re

im’s Rights and Restitution Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-647; 104 Stat. 4820).

ignature of person certr (Typed name (Last, first)

20041030 MAJ, Trial Counsel
(Date) YYYYMMDD) (Grade and title)

SECTION ill - CERTIFICATION OF ADVICE TO VICTIM(S) AND WITNESS(ES)

Complete this section when there are victims or witnesses entitled to notification.)

| certify that on this date | personally notified the victim(s) and witness(es) in the court-martial case of United States v.

(Name of accused)(Last, first, middle-initial) (Socia! Security Number)

Convened by

(Summary Court-martial, Convening Authority)
whose sentence included confinement, of their right under the Victim's Rights and Restitution Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-647,

104 Stat. 4820), to receive information about the status of the inmate, to include length of sentence, anticipated eariiest release
date, likely place of confinement, the possib_ility of transfer, and the right to receive notification of a new place of confinement. |
advised the pbssibility of parole 6r clerﬁen%:}wiz"h an explénation of these teﬁns. Additiona(ly,- l advised of the right to prior
notification of the inmate's parole hearings, release from confinement, escape and death. [ advised that to receive notification of
the inmate’s transfer, parole hearings, and release from confinement, the victim or witness must provide the information required in
Section IV of this form. | advised all victims and witnesses that if they elect to terminate or reinitiate notifications, or if they change

their address listed above, they must contact the Military Service Central Repository listed in Section V.

(Signature of person certifying) (Typed name (Last, ﬁrs@ O 2 :_j 2 8
(Date) YYYYMMDD) (Grade and title) ]
DD FORM 2704, MAR 18399 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE. USAPA V1.00

ACLU-RDI 962 p.36
DOD 001187



SECTION IV - ELECTION TO BEN; " IED

The victim(s) and witness(es) listed below have elected the right to receive information about changes in the status of the
inmate by initialing the “Yes” block. If the inmate is transferred, they understand that they will be notified of the address of
the new confinement facility. They also understand that if they move or their telephone number changes, they must notify
the confinement facility of the new address or telephone numbers in order to be notified.

LIST ALL VICTIMS AND WITNESSES INVOLVED IN THE CASE. (Indicate whether a victim or witness be entering *V* or “W" in the appropri-
ate column. Those who elect to be notified of inmate status changes should initial in the “Yes® column; otherwise initial the “No” column.)

NAME ADDRESS TELEPHONE NUMBER | VOR NOTIFY
(Last, First, Middle Initial) (Street, Apartment No., City, State, ZIP Cods) (Include Area Code) w

YES NO

N/A

SECTION YV - DISTRIBUTION
ADDRESSES (include 9-digit ZIP Code and telephons number.)

MILITARY SERVICE CENTRAIREPOSITORY LOCAL CONFINEMENT FACILITY (name and address)
HQDA, 0DCS, G-3
atn: Damo-ooL (vs. | NN
400 Army Pentagon
Washington, ] 00400
2“-&4
(703) 6955

LAW ENFORCEMENT/SPECIAL INVESTIGATION VICTIM/MWITNESS (Individual will receive a copy with all other
victimAwitness addresses blacked out.)
002229
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HEADQUARTERS .

MULTI-NATIONAL CORPS - IRAQ
BAGHDAD, IRAQ
APO AE 08342

REPLY TO -
. ATTENTION OF:

FICI-JA 30 October 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Lieutenant Colone! | | SN Summary Court-Martial,
HHC, 57th Signal Battalion, Victory Base Irag APO AE

SUBJECT: Dismissal of Charges Without Prejudice
1. Upon acceptance of the accused’s plea to the Specification of Charge Il, | direct that

the remaining charges now referred be dismissed without prejudice, in accordance with
the offer to plead guilty approved by the Convening Authority.

2. The point of contact is the undersigned at DSN (318) s22-J i

MAJ, JA
Trial Counsel

002230

ACLU-RDI 962 p.38
DOD 001189



-

AD07018 - HOQ
3389030 31VaUNvIvoova - )

393700 40 YVIA HLP- O

RS 100 rvw

‘1¥300NA3 NIO

$13A3710N03 AID

“1dW0OS DNa3 i

‘QTHN3 ONA3 UW
88 ‘d49 11404 JOLY

$3LV0 3343 NOILYNIWUAL
‘3002 NOSYIY W3l

‘a0 WVUO0Ud 3ALLNIONI

Lo/sooz
[XrdYirA

C2/e0/Z002

WIID0 1018 NI SNOILVINDJ0 - 110
£0/CORO0C 1§ ¥

8991 Hole3 N
£88-9V  :60Y
zja ebey

*3dAL SNNOD SAUNIONY
‘340 J443 AANLNIINI ONI
‘00 SN4VLS LNIONI ONb

dSNIS WYIUY CWHA
U4V DI OWHA
$O3Y IVAI LSYTALVE
‘av 3y Lsviaiva

*AVO 920 NVINAID
:31vQ/a3d TVA yoay

'dIZ ALVLS 'ALID
<1331 yaav

WON3Q 13

ANVANQD 1HOJdNS TYNOIOIU HLES < Nt

ver {628-26 1d) PLGS JO LOV AOVAIYD SHL OL LOAFENS 30 AV LHOJ3Y SIHL v

‘ve

K4

‘e
‘0T

‘94
9}

BNON-A  iLVISSdWL3Q1d20 6}
! *3LVa/3dAL183ANI S 8t
AVISSIWLIC AWM 3l n
3NON - A LViSSdwiaa and ol
9012002 1 d  COWNA/OIONILNdY 'S
IOWHA/ DIONI LM LOH b
ILHDIIMILHDIEH  ‘t)
:OIONI ITIWYS YN 2}
) | 00TAVUXINZO CH
o == VLVA NOILYDINYAD - I NOILOAE = v
0000 10AS 034 1OV SUA  'B)
WNIAZ dNTIVO OV ')
Q115 98N 0} 3111
‘€9 Ld3S £ ¥BL4Y HO NO DY NIINT 10A-D  :0JWBOUNOS 8L
LYBOUVIA 02 ‘b
1ork0rz002 1S3 AYLNG WILING 6l
1or10/z002 STW AMLND VILINE 'R}
OWYA NLTUWVAD ‘2
VLS NLAY IVAD b
e osone *OAS NdL NdX3 "0k
Lt gD s 10100 IVLS NAX3 6
ee =" VYA BDIANIS - [} NOILOTS ===\,
NYOO TAILVN - v 'dIHSN3ZILO
HIHLO-X  idNOuD OINHL3
AlHM =0 :30vy

» = VAya TYNOSHY"

FOHVSNW

GERSRITE)
QY053 NOILYDIAIVND TINNOSYAd

(sV14) 38 VYMLJ08 NOILYDITddY 13ATT TYNOIDAY

‘31VQ SALVLS 3UVO ATINYH
ISNLVLS NYd 3YVD ANV
SHOLVOIIANI LNJU VA 3708

QHLVAM

‘T
‘b
0

oin

11831 SNUA OWVA

LS3L A LSV OWHA

£0/400Z 'WVX3 SAHd LSV OWHA

£0/1002
N TIT )
! '
! 1 Dloss
ziooloz
62102002

NOMLDIULSTIY ON - AA

SL1INM NI GaNIvys
STVAGINONI 3AHISIY 03103738 - v

sz10z00z
t 0ds

Q3LsNNg -3

FVYWIL - o

X3S QNV HLYIB 40 31VQ
‘INVN NO OH4MIA NSS - V-

AUV NYOIN THHENY

‘S3HIND/ AVI SAHd
'SNAVLS ANd HHND

f3LVY O¥3Y HUNO
14831 2V10 OWHA

‘3¥00Ss avia
ISV TSV I mISY
u_w.wm<:mmm:mwu

D780 S3Y AQY dX3
‘agad

{ONRB AQTdIQ OWHA
‘ALINBVAOTId2a

1VYO AVd ONUL
MNVY 40 BLva

‘OAS QWYY HO / JOVYD

*8EVIO ¥3d W

*SIN3ION343Q WNN
‘NS5/35Nn0dS UW
'SOLVLS ViYW

:X38

‘800

*NSSA
:NSS
SINVYN

(auvn9) 02 aw zsco
1S3N03Y TVIDAdS :0¥003Y 3dAL

90/01/2002

ve N e

-~ N eAaw

NN

L0U-HOH :NDd

:31va 180d3Y

ACLU-RDI 962 p.39

DOD 001190



Qool e

'03M3IATY 3Lva

o
(ap)
(G
Cc2

§ <S§ 13YNLYNDIS . ()
’ SMOT104 8V 1430X3 m0.>m~Wm

AYVLIITHW 2AILOV 40 3ONVWHOHY3d AW INIAIUL GTNOM LVYHL 193430 TVOISAHd HO NOILIGNOD ._<n,=cms_ ON 3AVH 1 LVHL 331738 ONV 3903 TMONY AW 40 1538 3HL 01 AJIL¥3D)

‘dIHSOQUVH

ALINOWWOO HO TYNOSUAd SWIULXE NY 3LVIUD 0TNOM ALNG JAILDV Q2ANTLXI NO AYLINT AW HO ‘MHOM AYVNOISSIN WHOIUId OL NOILYOIT90 NY JAVH YO ‘AYLSININ THL YO

ONINVdIHd YO 'AULSNANI/ AONTOV SSNIJ30 ONIUOJINS U0 ANFWNYIA0D T¥D0THO '3LVLS "IVHIA3d 3HL HLIM NOILISOL A3X Y NI Q3A0TdW3 (LON W I/

9904
£88-9V
zioe

ez/iorzooz

FTEVIONVHOUILNI -

Q316N -3

008
SOy
ofiey

LVHL 3A31N38 1

*QOHLIW VA ONIGVIY
M3AIT JOUd BNIQVIY
JQ0HL3W VAL ONIVEYS
13A37 40Ud ONINYALS Y13AD7 40¥d BNINVIIS
‘0OHLIW TVYAT ONINALSIY {00HLIW TIVAT DNIN3LSH
’ S13A37 JO0Ud ONINALS 113A37 40Yd ONINALSN
11831 AON3IDIJOUd OWYHA ' t1S3L ADNZIDIH0Hd OWHA
+3DUNOS ADNIIOI0ND FOUNOS ADNIIDIJOU
3000 IN3Q) DVAONYT 2 3009 LNJ01 IDVNONYTT i

‘QOHLIW TVYA3 DNIGV3IY
“13A37 40Ud ONIGYIY
. ‘O0HLIN TVAI ONIN VIS

-+ w=== Y1V0 KONFIDIONd FOVADNVET HANOILOAS — 2 hesa ™ L "o o .

:31VQ LOVHLNOD ONZ '8 PZ/GO/ZIOZ  BIDW WH3aL ALVa ¥ :dNOITY LI43INID "

ALVY0 LOVHINOQ LINL '8 bu/s0/z00T tRIDW LUHVIS 3LV ' VIHALIED ALINGIONI §133W - 9113 - 'spivisong

w— Viva (11819) Wviiboud 3HAVLSIESVNDILYONAE - 1A NOLLSAS -5,

:1V¥i88d NOWIISOd  °Zi N HONVHE HInY B LTR0/Zo0T  33LVa OS5V NSOd
‘OuDY LSTANI S 4 LE] 3gvyo HLNY . L 301710d A¥VLIIIIN (3L NOLLISOd .
X3AsS RNV 04 1aV) ONILIVMY- Q21TVAD LON -V :3000 TVYND ALNQ ‘9 €0 ) €01 ‘HEN NN/ vuVvd 7

olass INOILISOd ALNO ki otezz

v == VAVQ'NOILISOd = A NOILOAS ~~- 1 . o .
1IN AU Lda BLVA 6

‘0dh HENY ‘6 ‘MBN NOWLISOd

‘HOYALVY 3Lva NdX3  °'th
5607 M0Ud NSH

IHOVILY NOSVIY ‘Tl DINAZYUL OSY ALva 8 114JQ OWYA rOUd
: L220/Z00T DSV 31VQ0 J43

THOVALY 3Uva 443 ‘1 - LOIN SNOIABYNd 'L
(advno) 0O dW 2550 SAWVN LINA
IHOVALY 40 9N 0+ MayoNOD Hkva B ! QHIVAM  :0dd/ 2N HHND

v~ YIVALING - N NOILDFS ™ i :
. AUVIN NVOIW THNBWY SNV

QWVIWKHOD LHOddNS TYNOIDZY HIs6- N4 *DUVSNW QHLYAM  :0In (ouvno)l 00 dn Zsco LN

{gaLsiIng)
ayo23Y NOWUYILAIIVAD 13NNOSYId
{SVT4) 3UVYMLA08 NOILVYOINddY 13AHT TYNOI9HY

. fottr sem s s 1 TN AL EATIPANC TIA AYWW ENOHATIN SIH ..

153ND3IY WVI03dS ‘QHOOIH IdA

LO¥HOH N

90/04/2002 :31VA L2043

ACLU-RDI 962 p.40

DOD 001191



ELNVP.. 2d4va
a3Lunens
3iva 0EE WHD4 VO
ADNIIDIHOUd IOVNONY) Zt . )
PZOUE Q13H S31vOI4LE3D MO SASNATIT ¥
NOLLVOIHILYID QUVOTD NVOIUEAY 'Ly
ava -Ivno NIHO gNVH
avea avno 1TV IERERS .
g00M
90
-LSV
- 1-100
m vd
A
¥ 120
(@) -0aw
2l 3u00s aLva 1531
= esIN| S1S3L H3HLO ‘01
r od P TR 3ovidg
I's) waly Ly a1va
c
E g2t |13 p
T 0zk | 40 f o OWIES VIsY 7T FeToty
O £zl v+ /1 =Nod -Ips~ Ly couy -2 [zan | on AMINNOD ONV VMY UMY wWoYd
> fd) 07| INOO] | SNOIVGAYD % SNOILVI0D30 'STUVMY 0 | dagy | ANOD | | 30135 VISHIAO s
o) 52L_| 9s
=z gvy | W
P 62k | 10 .
o ‘ ggr | 13
a FAR D)
o) 9zl | 19 UISNI | ONL Iy Wi | W Wi
Ol _m2uo0s| vauv| 3u00s | vauy | walsas auannng 1071 UGN LIVHOUIY
-o|_tNoa| | s3u00s vayv aanudy (@) IN0D] | NOILYOLINVAD AMINNND % 1SV NOLLYIAY [ £ ]
>
Al
-
= oo || SNOILVYIAISNDD LNFWNDISSV v
3008 OW=?YA | 3H00S ONTHA | 2u005 | ONRYA | OSOW
N aNoD | | 53005 NOLLYIIVAT SOW )
b 2 MO A A3 ey AT PIINN TOTESH VAVO INGWNDISSY ONY NOILYOLAISSVO - It NOLLOAS
aLva Eg 2S0W . AHVIA NVOINW THNEWY
NOD | | S311WID3dS TVNOLLYUNDI0 AUVLNIN 0 NS'S'2 WYN L
(penujuod) Y.iVA INIWNOISSY ONV NOILVIIIISSYIO * It NOILDIS Y.1VQ NOILYOIILNIAL - | NOLLDES 059yv801L20

002233

ACLU-RDI 962 p.41

DOD 001192



€L NVT 12 WHOd vu
HIAOTINI
: Q3IWYOu3d S3ILNa
arotma [ ON LI s
DSOW SHINOW'ON | NOMYdNOD0 WOILRD 3009 104
Y 2001 dor
- NOLLVJNI30 NVITIATDT . 0z
G [
4 ;
: ! NIYOWUHD Linav
5S3¥TAV/0HODN 4O BNOH 5z SLN3GNIJIQ 4O HIBWNN 2
35N0dS 30 dIHSNIZILID 0 ¢» wvxadoalva ) ) )
35N0dS Zo |SEN, S L PG b OW oM Py Tar Ty
on [0 saald S| ST A e oV /oiGy VNT T JadISya)
ANAQML 4135 | s3ssvio 26 | SN[ 74y WENTD SH UTCug
JINSNIZILID ONY HLYIE 4O 3ov1d ‘€2 SOLVLS WOISAHJ 2] ¥vaA | JWOD | TIVHNG | OSOMESYNOORIONA T00HIS
VLVA AMWYL ONV TYNOSHId * Al NOILOTS iNoo | ] SIOOHIS AUVLNIN ONV NOIYONGS NYIIAID P!
Nool | NOSVIY SAVQ NUHL WOy
(05N ‘ot st '226 *995) 1SO1 TAIL (19)
@s38) 54 ) JdAL NOLLYOO UNOILALILSNI NYUHL Woud
i 3DIAYIS QILSING DJSVE oo || FOLOVH BLVAIND ONV SINIWANIOJDY ONIHOVALAVLIJSOH o]
100 40 als uvdA | sHINOw 3DIAYIS 40 FJAL IVLIISOH
w_ﬂﬁuwwm wog | | SdIHSMOTIZS ONV STIONIQISIY ‘SAIHSNYALNI st
J0 )youeg NOILVOISILYID INIWAYLSNI
oopsnr Aoy
SUDJUBALDD | 2 XA ERAY% AR dEeriS
anfepj-eacuan 62102007 iAd | oo ] SNLVLS DNIATY ]*
(1oaviiiz div YNVAron3 aiva awoo | wavue
a1vg lo3rans 40 31va 3ALD3443 alva IN3YYND avd TYNIDRIO
INOD | [ ONINWML a3zIviDads a1 | 105 | SNOLL2NTTY ONV SINIWINIOJY 8} SONILYY 107T1d I3
SALYQ HTHLO GNY ONINIVML ‘IDIANTS - Il NOILDTS VLV INJWNOISSY ANV NOILYDIJISSYD - Il NOILOTS 099¢Y8QLZ0

(02234

ACLU-RDI 962 p.42

DOD 001193



CLNVE V¢ WHUS v

Pt £ VA \\
X177 T N - ;
\w\w\\ i , Vﬁz\DWQ:oQ NNNB\AN\Q z6l1afos]calentealoaiselroiesizafiofon]ss|oc)ea]osselre vejzejre;on
%ﬂ \ 69|09 zaloolsevolsafzofiajonjoalessslosssirelesizsltsjos oy ion) e

Q3M3INTY O3UVd3Ud .m.v splvvievlev|ivjovi{Geoe|LE]0E{SE .vn gcjeZejie|oe{BZjOC Lz |9z52|vT
FUNLYNDIS '¥E 31va w8 |cz]zz | 120z ] os ot 2t |0t fsi v lerizr it for |6 lulelols o lelzly
'3LVG ONION3 BV3A INSW3UILIY 0 SIONVHO 40 LOdIY "
] 'SNIVLS SAILOV WOHA TVAOW3Y AHOLYONYW ' GALLIFGNS 12 W0 ¥a F1voN1ana 31va ()
/707 60 T31va NOILVHIIdX3 NOILYOITHO 3DIAUAS 3 O3tvdIUd 002 MO0 0 31V (2)
3LVO NOILVYIdX3 LNSW3IUOV 1-92.E 1O 9228 W04 VO '
R elI9d! 21V0 NOILVHIdX3 NOILVOIIa0 JAYIS3Y AQV3Y 'BZE

Vivd ININOJWOD JAYISIY - XI NOILO3S

"ON
viva Wil
NOLLYANILNOD WaLLI R4 SHUYWIY '22
cqo’  1MINSIN - ANQILDAS I A4TAVR]

DOD 001194

ACLU-RDI 962 p.43



FICI-JA-AL 8 November 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, Muiti-National Corps — Iraq, Baghdad, Iraq
APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Legal Review of Summary Court-Martial - U.S. v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhi

1. In accordance with Rule for Court-Martial 1112(a)(3), | have reviewed the subject
Summary Court-Martial. | have not acted in this case as an accuser, investigating
officer, member of the court-martial, military judge, or counsel, nor have I otherwise
acted on behalf of the prosecution or defense.

2. | make the following conclusions:

a. The court-martial had jurisdiction over the accused and each offense as to which
there was a finding of guilty that was not disapproved.

b. Each specification as to which there was a finding of guilty that has not been
disapproved stated an offense under the UCMJ.

c. The sentence imposed was legal.

3. There are no allegations of error made in writing by the accused, nor have | identified
any errors in the case.

4. The above record of trial by Summary Court-Martial does not require further legal
review. The original copy of this legal review will be placed in the original Record of
Trial and a copy of this review will be provided to the accused.

5. POC is the undersigned at: -r DSN 318-622-

CPT, JA
Administrative Law Attorney
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RECORD OF TRIAL BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL

1a. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, M) b. GRADE |c. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSED d. SSN
ORRANK | HHC, 16th Military Police Brigade (Airborne)
AMBUHL, Megan M. E4 | Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342 Y

2a. NAME OF CONVENING AUTHCRITY (Last, b. RANK c. POSITION d. ORGANIZATION OF CONVENING AUTHORITY
, MI) 11T Corps,
METZ, Thomas, F. LTG Commander Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342

3a. NAME OF SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL b. RANK c. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION OF SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL
JESCM was accuser, so siate.) HHC, 57th Signal Battalion
; LTC Victory Base, Irag APO AE 09342

(Check appropriate answer) YES | NO

4

. At a preliminary proceeding held on - 30 October ¥ WM e summary court-martial gave the
accused a copy of the charge sheet.

5. At that preliminary proceeding the summary court-martial informed the accused of the following:
a. The fact that the charge(s) had been referred to a summary court-martial for trial and the date of referral.

X

b. The identity of the convening authority.

c. The name(g) of the accuser(s). -

d. The general nature of the charge(g).

e. The accused's right to object to trial by summary court-martial.

f. The accused's right to inspect the allied papers and immediately available persomel records.

g. The names of the witnesses who could be called to testify and any documents or physical evidence which the
summary court-martial expected to introduce into evidence.

h. The accused's right to cross-examine witnesses and have the summary court-martial cross-examine on behalf of the
accused.

i. The accused's right to call witnesses and produce evidence with the assistance of the summary court-martial if
necessary. -

j-  That during the trial the summary court-martial would not consider any matters, including statements previously
made by the accused to the summary court-martial, unless admitted in accordance with the Military Rules of
Evidence.

k. The accused's right to testify on the merits or to remain silent, with the assurance that no adverse inference would
be drawn by the summary court-martial from such silence.

1. If any findings of guilty were announced, the accused's right to remain silent, to make an unsworn statement, oral
or written or both, and to testify and to introduce evidence in extenuation or mitigation.

m. The maximum seatence which could be adjudged if the accused was found guilty of the offense(s) alleged.

<Ixl x x| x IxlIx|x!x|xIx|x|x|x

n. The accused’s right to plead guilty or not guilty.

At the trial proceeding held on 30 October }J 2004 , the accused, after being given a reasonable time to
decide, [ did did not object to trial by summary court-martial. Y
(Note: The SCM may ask the accused to initial this entry at the time the election is made.)

(Initial)
7a.

The accused O was ¥ wasnot represented by counsel. (If the accused was represented by counsel, complete b, ¢, and d below.)

b. NAME OF COUNSEL (Last, First, MI) c. RANK (If any}

d. COUNSEL QUALIFICATIONS

002238
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8. The accused was arraigned on the attached charge() and specification(¥). The accused's pleas and the findings reached are shown below:

CHARGE({# AND SPECIFICATION(Z} PLEA(®) FINDINGS (Including any exceptions and substitutions)
Charge 1I. )
Guilty Guilty

The Specification: Dereliction of Duty (20 OCT 03 -

1 DEC 03) )
M I was advised of my right to request that
confinement be deferred and I was advised of my right
to submit written matters to the convening authority,
including a request for clemency and of the right to
request review by the Judge Advocate General,
M I acknowledge receipt of record of trial.

%@» M
v
AftEGAN M. AMBUHL

9. The following sentence was adjudged: P

To forfeit 1/2 months pay for one month and to be reduced to the grade of Private (E-2).

10. The accused was advised of the right to request 11. The accused was advised of the right to submit written matters to the

that confinement be deferred. (Note: When confinement convening authority, including a request for clemency, and of the right to
is adjudged.) request review by the Judge Advocate General. \
X ves 0 no X ves O no

12. AUTHENTICAT{g@a

30 October 2004
Date
13. ACTION BY CONVENING AUTHg
The sentence is approved and will be executed.
THOMAS F. METZ Commander
Typed Name of Convening Authority Position of Convering Authority

Lieutenant General

Y ) Pk~ = NOV§ 2004

Signature of Convening Am‘hp‘ﬁé Date
UlUg e 38rcvio
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY REPORT OF RESULT OF TRIAL

For use of this form, see AR 27-10; the proponent agency is OTJAG

TO: Commander, Headquarters, |l Corps, Victory Base, Irag, APO AE 09342

1. Notification under R.C.M. 1101 and AR 27-10, paragraph 5-30 is hereby given in the case of the United States v.
Specialist Megan M. Ambuht, ..+ Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade
(Airborne), APO AE 09342.

2. Trial by summary court-martial on 30 October 2004, at Baghdad, Iraq, convened by: (Il Corps, US Army, Victory
Base, Iraq APO AE 09342,

3. Summary of offenses, pleas, and findings:

CH ARTUCMJ SPEC BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF OFFENSES(S) ‘PLEA FINDING
1l 92 The Dereliction of duty (20 OCT 03~ 1 DEC 03) G G

4. SENTENCE: (LTC- To forfeit 1/2 a months pay per month for one month and to be reduced to the
grade of Private (E-2).

5. Date sentence adjudged and effective date of any forfeiture or reduction in grade (YYYYMMDD): 20041030.
(See UCMJ Articles 57-58b and R.C.M. 1101.) 20041113.

6. Contents of pretrial agreement conceming sentence, if any: Attached
7. Number of days of presentence confinement, if any: NJA.

8. Number of days of judge-ordered administrative credit under Article 13, or for presentence confinement or restriction
found tantamount to confinement, if any: N/A.

9. Total presentence confinement credit toward post-trial confinement; None.

SSN(s) of companj -accused, if anv: SPC
" i, SPC : e
. H Y

11. DNA processing IAW 10 U.S.C. § 1565 is (not) required.

12. Conviction(s) do(es) require sex offender registration IAW 42 U.S.C. § 14071.

CF: Unit Commander SJA TDS MJ Post-trial
Confinement Facility SPCMA CID Supporting Finance Activity
: CR: N/A
) . SIGNATU
RANK BRANC
LTC

USAPA V1.00ES

V02240
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AFZA-AP-HHC : 2 November 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD
SUBJECT: Wavier of Clemency Matters

1. Tunderstand that Lieutenant Colonel_ the summary court-martial officer,
adjudged a sentence of forfeiture of 1/2 a month$ pay for one month and reduction to Private

E-2)._M

2. Tunderstand that I may consult with counsel; and, in conjunction with counsel, submit
clemency matter to the convening authority. _M@-

3. Thaving full knowledge of my right to submit matters, and after consulting with my defense
counsel have elected to waive that right. _MA

L it

SPC, USA

002241
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RE: Result of Trial (UNCLASSTFIED) ) Page 1 of 1

Kary Jared F SGT MNC-l SJA Claims

rom: (Y - - - -

Sent:  Monday, November 01, 2004 6:12 PM.

To: s IFSCT CJTF7-SJA Claims; v -
Cc: Y T "
Subject: RE: Result of Trial (UNCLASSIFIED)

|
!
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED i
Caveats: NONE [

SGT

The defense does not intend to submit any matters to the convening authority or to appeal the findings and sentence of the
SCM officer in U.S. v. Ambuhl.

s
CPT,JA
Trial Defense Counsel

——Orici e
Fromzm@f CJTF7-SJA Claims
Sent: Saturday, October 30, 2004 11:35 AM

Subject: Result of 1rial

SPC Ambuhl Team

If you wish to submit matters to the convening authority please submit them
to me NLT 1400 6 NOV 04 Baghdad time.

<<Result_A.pdf>>
I will serve a hard copy to SPC Ambuhl and have her sign the result ASAP.

Very Respectfully,

SG

US Armmy, Paralegal
DSN 3 18-822*
Classification: UNCLASSIFIED
Caveats: NONE
002242
11/2/2004 _
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CHARGE SHEET

1, PERSONAL DATA
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, M) 2 SSN — 3. GRADE OR RANK | 4. PAY GRADE
AMBUHL, Megan M. . SPC E-4
S. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION

6. CURRENT SERVICE
Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade |3 INTIALDATE  [b. TERM
(Airbome), 1li Corps, Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

28 Jan 02 8 years
7. PAY PER MONTH . 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED 8. DATE(S) iMPOSED
a. BASIC b. SEATFOREIGN DUTY ¢ TOTAL
$1,638.30 $100.00 $1,738.30 None N/A
1l. CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS
16. CHARGE | VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 81

THE SPECIFI’C_ATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, did, at or near Baghdad

Central i bu Ghrai ut23 O i ith Staff
Sergea cialist

0
commit an oitensSe under the Uniform ilitary Justice, to wit: malireatment of subordinates,

and in order to effect i piracy the said Specialist Ambuhi did participate in a
photograph with PF ho tied a leash around the neck of a detainee and led
the detainee down the corridor with the leash around his neck.

CHARGE II: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 92

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Armmy, who knew, of her duties
at or near Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Irag, from on or about 20 October
2003 to on or about 1 December 2003, was derelict in the performance of those duties in that she

willfully failed to protect Iraqi detainees from abuse, cruelty and maltreatment, as it was her duty to
do.

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET)
L, PREFERRAL
b. GRADE c. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER

0-3 HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abn) APO AE 08342
l = mace oy

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this character,
personally appeared the above named accuserthis _ 6% day of __yiaeh , 204
and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a person subject to the Uniform
Code of Military Justice and that he/she either has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set
forth thereln and that the same are true to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.

HHC, XViil Abn Corps
] Organization of Officer

0-3 Trial Counsel
Gracs Official Capazity to Administer Oath
(Sea RC.M. 307(b} ~ must be a cammissioned offcer)

DD FORM 458, MAY 2000 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE.
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12.

on_2C Mardh 2004 , , the accused was informed of the charges against him/her and of
the name(s) of The accuser(s) known to me (See R.C.M. 308 (a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification canriot be made.)

HHC, 16 MP Bde (Abn) APO AE 09342

Typed Nams cf immaecdiate Commancsr Organization of immediate Cemmar.der

V. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY

K

The swom charges were received at 1995 hours, _&/ Ma,ch ) -?QDE st Headquarters, 16" Military
: . Cssignation of Cormmand or
Police Brigade (Airbome) APO AE 08342
Officsr Exsrtising Summary Court-Martial Jurisciction (See R.C.M. 403}
FORTHE '
Typed Name of Officer Offcal Capacity of Officer Signing
Q-6
V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES
T4 DESIGNATION OF CONMAND OF CORVENING AUTHORITY | . PLACE <. DATE (YYYYMMDD)
Victory Base, lrag
Ili Corps ; APO AE 08342-1400 20041028

Referred for \nal tothe __Summary _ court-marfial convened by _this detail of Lieutenant Colongn

2s the summay court-martial officer on

28 October . 2004 , subject o the following instructions:  None

By Command of Lieutenant General Metz

Chief, Criminal Law Division
Official Capacity of Officer Signing

15.
On 2 9 acToseR ¢ 2004 . | (caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused.

MAJ

Grade or Rank of Trisl Counsal

FOOTNQTES: 11— When en eppropriate commandsr signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken.

‘ 2= Sea R.C.M. £01(e) conceming instructicns. If none, so stals.
DD FORM 458 (BACK), MAY 2000
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CONTINUATION SHEET DD Form 458, AMBUHL, Megan M., SPC, ;
HHC, 16th MP Bde (Abn), It Corps, Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

¢

item 10 (continued)
CHARGEll: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 83

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, lrag, on or about 8 November 2003,

did maltreat several Iraqi detainees, persons subject to her orders, by watching naked
detainees in a pyramid of human bodies.

CHARGE IV: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 134

THE SPECIFICATION: in that Specialist Megan M. Ambuh!, U.S. Army, did, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8 0
ongfully commit an indecentact with Iraqi detai eant
i iali and Private First
.o by observing a group of detainees masturbating, or
attempting to masturdate, while they were located in a public comridor of the Baghdad

Central Correctional Facility, with other soldiers who photographed or watched the
detainees’ actions.

00224
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HEADQUARTERS

MULTI-NATIONAL CORPS -IRAQ
BAGHDAD, IRAQ
APO AE 09342

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF:

FICI-JA 30 October 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR Lieutenant Colone! { MNP summary Court-Martial,
HHC, 57th Signal Battalion, Victory Base Iraq APO AE -

SUBJECT: Dismissal of Charges Without Prejudice
1. Upon acceptance of the accused's plea to the Specification of Charge li, | direct that

the remaining charges now referred be dismissed without prejudice, in accordance with
the offer to plead guilty approved by the Convening Authority.

2. The point 6f contact is the undersigned at DSN (318) 822

MAJ, JA
Trial Counsel

002246
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UNITED STATES
V.

AMBUHL, MEGAN M.
SPC, U.S. Army
Headquarters & Headquarters Company

T e St Mttt S Mg Nt N Ny e

16th Military PoliGe Brigade (Airbomne) 12 October 2004
Il Corps, Victory Base, Irag
APO AE 09342

EXTENUATION AND MITIGATION

COMES NOW the accused, by Counsel, and provides the following
information to be used as extenuation and mitigation evidence at her summary
court-martial:

1. SPC-Megan Ambuhl is pleading guilty to one charge of dereliction of duty
for not reporting the activities of MP and M personnel at Abu Ghraib Prison. She
has agreed to testify truthfully at all subsequent courts-martial relating to said
activities.
2. The uncontroverted evidence is that she did not participate in any of the
activities alleged to have occurred at the prison. Exhibit 1 is a partial transcript of
the BCD special court-martial of SPC —a co-accused. SPC
a'greed to plead guilty and to testify truthfully against his co-accused.
On page 44, lines 10-14, the Military Judgs asked SPC.NhO

participated in the conspiracy to maltreat detainees at the prison and received

this response:

MJ: ...did all these people (Sergean'ergean- Corporal
-Specialis- Specialist-and PFC- participate in

the abuse of these detainees?

002247
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ACC: Negative, Your Honor.
MJ: Who didn't?

ACC: Specialist Ambuhl did not.

Emphasis added.

SPC eiterates this fact later in his guilty plea at page 45, lines 17-20, and
page 46, lines 8-13. The Military Judge twice makes SPC-agree that SPC
Ambubhl is not part of the conspiracy—"“Let's put Specialist Ambuhl to the side for
a secong. These six other people were conspiring to malireat these

subordinates. Do you understand that? And the subordinates in this case are

the detainees.”
ACC: Yes, Your Honor.
Id. Emphasis added.
PFC _ Corporal -girh‘riend and the soldier
depicted in photographs as holding the leash, confirms that SPC Ambuhl did not

participate in the abuse. In her 5 May 2004 Sworn Statement PEC -was

asked whether she saw SPC Ambuhl strike any of the detainees. She

responded, “No, she rarely participated, she really wasn’t part of all this.” See

Exhibit 2, page 3 of 6. Emphasis added.

Finally, SGT— a witness but not an aécused, states that,

“SPC Ambunhl at no time in any way became involved in nor did she engage in
any of the interrogations or alleged abuse.” See Exhibit 3, 11 October 2004,

Statement Addition. Emphasis added.

2 002248
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3. On 2 May 2004 the accused, the undersigned civilian defense counsel,
JAG CPT —nd a civilian interpreter assigned to the JAG office
visited the prison to interview detainees who previously had provided witness
statements to CID. Every remaining detainee was interviewed. Without
exception each detainee stated that SPC Ambuhi treated them well and was both
liked and respected. See Exhibit 4, personal testimonials of the detainees.

4. Exhibit 5 contains letters from family and friends of SPC Ambuhl attesting
to her good character. They uniformly state that she is a caring and patriotic
person. Many letters describe her as a shy, non-confrontational person. Exhibit
5 also contains personat photographs of her family and activities.

5. 0On31 August 2004 LTC (= designated by the convening
authority as an expert to assist SPC Ambuhl's defenss counsel.” LTC- '
conducted a comprehensive psychological assessment of SPC Ambuhl, the facts
and cirgumstances surrounding her dereliction charge, and the mitigating factors
pertair{ing to her actions. LTC -report is found at Exhibit 6.

It is important to note that LTC-nformed SPC Ambuht that she was
appointed by the government and that any report that she issued was not
confidential. Id. at numbered paragraph 1. SPC Ambuh! understood and
cooperated fully.

While neither condoning nor justifying SPC Ambuhl's dereliction in not
reporting what had occurred, LTC-report places the inaction in coﬁtext in
the “Findings” section of her report. 1d. at pages 3-5. Her primary findings are

stated on page 4 at subsection 4c:

002249
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c. SPC Ambuhl's decision not to report alleged detaines abuse at .
Abu Ghraib BCCF clearly appears to be related to her lack of
training as a corrections officer, a lack of understanding of proper
procedures regarding treatment of detainees, and perceived
influences from civilian and military intelligence agencies who she
assumed had authority of the hard site. In addition, she was clearly
a junior member of her work group, and despite her rank, had been
in the Army only a short period of time (she enlisted as a college
graduate). There are no indications that she participated in any
incidents of abuse, as corroborated by detainee interviews and
other witness statements. Based on knowledge gained through her
participation in her legal proceedings, SPC Ambuhl has expressed
remorse for not reporting actions that she witnessed.
6. Exhibit 7 is & 1 August 2002 memorandum from the Depariment of Justice
Office of Legal Counsel to Alberto R. Gonzales, Counsel to the President of the
United States. It is part of the packet of material released by the White House

earlier this year. ‘

Although SPC Ambuhl did not participate in any of the alleged activities,
the context for her inaction is important. LTC-'eport has provided some of
that context. This memorandum provides some additional context. Itis
uncontroverted that both MP and M! personne! participated in the activities at
Abu Ghraib. It has been reported widely in the press that GEN Miller in
September 2003 advised that Ml should use MPs at the prison to “set the
conditions” for successful interrogations. GEN Miller was using his experience at
Guantanamo Bay as his point of reference. Finally, it is uncontroverted that
interrogators with experience in Afghanistan and Guantanamo Bay were brought

to the prison in the Fall of 2003.

4 002250
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It should be noted that, accepting the fact that the actions depicted in the
photographs at the prison were wrong, the Attorney General of the United States
stated otherwise. In the conclusion to the memorandum it states:

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that torture as defined in
and proscribed by Sections 2340-1340A, covers only extrems acts.
Severe pain Is generally of the kind difficult for the victim to endure,
Where the pain is physical, it must be of an intensity akin to that
which accompanies serious physical injury such as death or organ
failure. Severe mental pain requires suffering not just at the
moment of infliction but it also requires lasting psychological harm,
such as seen in mental disorders like posttraumatic stress disorder,
Additionally, such severe mental pain can arise only from the
predicate acts listed in Section 2340, Because the acts inflicting
torture are extreme, there is significant range of acts that though
they might constitute cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or
punishment fail to rise to the level of torture.

Further, we conclude that under the circumstances of the current
war against al Qaeda and its allies, application of Section 2340A to
interrogations undertaken pursuant to the President's Commander-
in-Chief powers may be unconstitutional. Finally, even if an
interrogation method might violate Section 2340A, necessity or self-
defense could provide justifications what would gliminate any
criminal liability.

Thus, itis a matter in mitigation that SPC Ambuhl, with no corrections or
interrogation training, would be reluctant to question or report activities
conducted by M and her superior non-commissioned officers. As the-
statement indicates, even her officers were reluctant to question MI. See Exhibit
3, page 2, numbered paragraph 6 (27 May 2004).

Conclusion:

The defense would ask the summary court-martial officer to consider the
factors above, the fact that SPC Ambuhl’s unit has retumed to the United States

months ago, the restrictions on her activities since March 2004, and her
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cooperation with the Government, and givé a sentence that does not include

imprisqnment.

Respectfully submitted,

SPC MEGAN AMBUHL
By Counsel

Civilian Defénse Counse! -
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Exhibit 1

002253

ACLU-RDI 962 p.61
DOD 001212



RECORD OF TRIAL

OF
. SPC

(Name: Last, First, Middle Initial) (Social Security Number) (Rank)
HHC, 16th MP Bde (ABN)

I Corps _U.S. Army Victorv Base. Iraqg
(Unit/Command Name) (Branch of Service) (Station or Ship)

BY
SPECIAL (BCD) COURT-MARTIAL
Convened by: Commander
(Title of Convening Authority)
Headquarters, ITT Corps
(Unit/Command of Convening Authority)
Tried at
Baghdad, Iraq on 19 Mav 2004

(Place or Places of Trial) (Daté or Dates of Trial)

INDEX RECORD
Article 39(a) Sessions R-2
Introduction of Counsel R-2
Challenges R-N/A
Arraionment R-8
Motions R-N/A
Pleas R-11
Prosecution Evidence R-14
Defense Evidence R-N/A
Instructions on Findines R-N/A
Charge(s) dismissed R-N/A
Findings } R-72
Prosecution Evidence R-73
Defense Evidence R-96
Sentence - R-126
Appellate Rights Advisement R-125
Proceedings in Revision R-NA

: o
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TESTIMONY

DIRECT/ CROSS/ COURT
NAME OF WITNESS REDIRECT RECROSS '

PROSECUTION:

75 80

8 93

DEFENSE: :

100/104 102

104 107
Accused (unsworn) 108
COURT:
None.

EXHIBITS ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE
NUMBER OR PAGE WHERE
LETTER DESCRIPTION OFFERED _ADMITTED
1 Stipulation of fact 14 17
2 POR and 2-1 73 73
3 Magazine article 74 [Not R.74]
A Stipulation of expected testimony (C 96 97
B Stipulation of expected testimony (SG 96 97
C 15-6 Investication 98 98
D Proof of emplovment 98 98
E Good soldier book 99 99
APPELLATE EXHIBITS
I Request for military judge alone 7
I Offer to plead guilty 53
I Quantum 53
v Post:trial and appellate rights . 125
i
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1 MJ: You mentioned earlier that, at least now, Specialist-

2 was there?

3 ACC: Yes, Your Honor.

4 MJ: And Sergea.nt-

5 ACC: Yes, Your Honor.

6 MJ': Sc the group that was there for most of the time when you

7 were there were you, Sergeant- Sergeant- Corporal
8 m Specialist- Specialist Ambuhl and PFC-

9 ACC: Correct, Your Honor.

10 MJ: ©Now, when you turned the hall, did all these people

11 participé.te in the abuse of these detainees?

12 ACC: Negative, Your Honor.
13 MJ: Who didn‘t?
14 ACC: Specialist Ambuhl did not. She was upstairs. From what I

15 understood, she was actually in charge of the female and juvenile

" 16 side of that area. She was upstairs, and Sergeant First Class

7 .

18 MJ: And correct me if I’m wrong, I believe you told me you saw
19 Sergeant-

20 ACC: Correct, Your Honor.

21 MJ: Okay, as I go through these names, tell me what you saw

22 each of these individuals do. Sergeant-
4 . 002256
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22

ACC: Strike a detainee in the chest, Your Honor.

MJ: Sergeant -

ACC: Stomped on hands and toes, Your Honor.

MJ: Corporal -

ACC: Punching a detainee, Your Honor.

MJ: Specialist-
ACC: Write the word “rapist” on an inmate’s leg, Your Honor.
wr: ana erc QNI

ACC: PFC -was taking photos and laughing.

MJ: And she was also the one....

ACC: Stomping on the hands and. toes.

MJI: So, you turned the corner here and you escorted your
detainee in there. And you told me earlier, is you didn‘t know what

was going to happen, but as you get in there, you see what they’'re

going to do.

ACC: Yes, Your Honor.

MJ: And let’s put Specialist Ambuhl to the side for a second,
but the otﬁer six and you, remember I talked to you earlier about
what a conspiracy is? |

ACC: Yes, Your Honor.

MJ: And a conspiracy can be like two reople getting together or
three people, and saying, “Here’s our plan to rob the bank. You do

45
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10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

this, you do that,” and then kind of talk it out and work it out and
then they may or may not go rob the bank. But that agreement’s in
words. There’s also a way to get an agreement just by actions, to
join in common actions indicating that each individual member of the

conspiracy are all agreeing with the cbject of the comspiracy. Do
you understand what I‘m talking about thgre?

ACC: Yes, I do, Your Honor.

MJ: And in this case, you're charged with conspiring with these
six other people. And again, let’'s put Specialist Ambuhl to the side
for a second. These six other people were conspiring to maltreat

these subordinates. Do you understand that? And the subordinates in

this case are the detainees.

ACC: Yes, Your Honor.

MJ: Now, before you walked in there, did you ever discuss doing
this with them or anything like that?

ACC: Negative, Youf Honor.

MJ: But once you got in there, by your actions and their

actions, do you believe and admit that you formed an'agreement to

maltreat these detainees?

ACC: Yes, I do, Your Honor.
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AFFIDAVIT

QL . W, bave read or have had read to me this statement which begins on
pagel 1 and ends on page S. Ifully understand the contents of the entire statement made by me. The
statement is true. 1have initialed all corrections and have initialed the bottom of each page
containing the statement. I have made this statement freely without hope of befiefit or reward,
without threat of punishment, and without coercion, uniawful influence or unlawful inducement.

Witness #1:

Faer Lo o 8300

Subscribed and swom before me, a
law to administer

Witness #2:

(Amhmty to Administer Oath)

INITIALS OF FERSON MAKING STA'IMNT-
DA Form 2823-E ‘

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY

.

PAGE 5 OF 5 PAGES
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Exhibit 3
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19/12/2884 13:82 751393'(__ . 17TH MP DETACHAE ;- rhaz o

/1172034 12:48 30179 D WESTERN MD INVESTIGA PAE 82
11 Oct 04
Statement Addition:

!-a former SGT. With the 372 MP Company hereby make this
statement concerning SPC Megan Argbubl. This is an addition to my statement that has
diready besn made on 27 May 04.

%m night of the alleged abuse incident that { witnessed which was on or about October
25%,

On this night in question SPC Ambuhl 2 no titne in 2uyway became involved in nor did
she engzge in any of the interrogations or zlisged abuse,

I personally did not witness this soldier (SPC Ambuhl) come out on the tier to even watch
what was going on.

SPC Ambuhl from what I know gbout her coming from our otiginal Unit the 352™ MP
Compauy would ot knowing or willfully in a sound state of mind abuse detainees,

Very Respectfully,
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ATZMDPSE S . . 27 May 2004
| MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD - .
., SUBJIECT: S{atam&ﬂtofSGTM&adqusﬂm*mdﬁezéqumm Company, ;"

. Gamison Fut Loz, Virginda "

1. My name isSGTWmm'md Hezdquasters Compgany, Garrison Fort ( :
TLes, Virginia. On 2£ September 2001, 1 wasaixigned to.352% MP Compuny, 2207 MP Brigeds,  \
Geilhereburg, Masyland, On 23 Februsty 2003, I was invohuntasilytensterred 1o 372 MP - - | ™
. Company, Cumberland, Marylatd. On 24 Fehnraty 2003; wy tnitwwas snoblifzed and on 27- . A
February 2004, Fasrived 2t Fort Lee, Virgink., On 16 May 2003, memibers 0£ 372" MP
Compeny deployed from For{Tee, Virginia to Camp Arifjan, Kawait. 1ramained &t Fort Les in
-; order to undesgo Surgery, On 2L $eptemther 2003, affer the surgery, Ideployed from Fort Lee and
- anived at Camp Arifiay; Kawalt, Ox 40 Septeraz 2003, I left Camp Asifjah and on 1 Oztober
. 2003, I txrived avthe Baghdad Cojrestiond] Facility (BCF/Abu Ghreib). Iwes asslgod ro 3™
platoort of 372" MP Company, "My duty aesignment wes Téam Leader. My milssions included
eseor of detainess fram BCF to.various courts in Baghdad, es well <5 escons of ViPsepd
_ contratiors. My quartess were Jogited =t 3™ platson building, approimitely 400 misters away e
" - Eom the BCF herd-site. Iwas ndidztailed 1 conduct 2ny misslonsat tRe BCF hardesits, - R

2, Diring the last week of October et approximately 2200 Hours 1yerit over to:the BCF hard-shte - :
16, order to speatc itk SPC Wy driver. 1 found SPCMMR Ther LA specking withBis - . X
cellnats, OPL Egumeg? When Tappraschid Titr LA, 18bseried o () servicemeribecs (he . .
firstaervice membetware blzdk P dhorts, brows t-shift, and shower.shoss; the setond service )
et wore DCUpants and broyn tshix), Iperceived buth séxvics members to be mikitry
intelligenice (MD). ¥ saw both MI soldiery handenff two (2) naked Iragi detzintes to thebars of

. eslls onoppesite sides. Tthen witpessed the saifie MI saldisrs hindeifFthe detainees together,

- facé 1o-face; “The M esldier dreased in'black PT ghords and-brown ehintapproached meand -
" gced mie 0.8 sarcastle tone of voice: “Do yon thick-we crsssed the }ins?™ or Words o that ffect,
T zesponded: “T ari ot shre, you e MI” ar Wirds to fhat effect. TheMI seldier then stated that
) ﬂg:;wm imurrogating 2 detainsss and said; “We khow whit we ari doing, ' o1 wotds to that

s t‘ W . . o : : A ‘. .

. 3. Subrquérttly, both M soldiers walked back to the detsinees; separated them, and theate-
-puffed thie t the Bare, The M $pldied wesring PT shorts tappad ods of thewdetainiees. o his
" butteckswith 8 plastis water bottler THen bofh BT soldiets re-duffed the @etzineey oyether.
Tiroughout this irisRlent, both M soldiers, via.an interprefer, opdered thedeidinees'to confess,
Whiti the detainces failled to coopirate, huth M1 soldiers yélled ut thein and ordered CPI
_ WoYell attbe detainges, Athidtiras another Ml soldiér (wearing DCU pants and brown w-shift] -
'l_amé}in.aed me,_gm seemed t Togk tafim with zespest-end sought his approval: ] ssked hism:
“Is'this how you intemogate datainess?™ ok words o that efféer. The M galdier responded “Aere
4irs different wayi to gat itdone,” or words to that effect. The Ml soldiers escorted tuenaked
detzinees dround Tier 1A, L : ; o '

.
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17TH M7 DETAGHE : PAGE B4
" ATZM-DPS-C

SUBJECT: Sttement nfSGT-!&dqum and Heaé.qu.mers Cnmpa!m

Gamsm Pnﬂ Lee, Wmnia

4, one o!‘thchﬁ soldiers pomted o thzr,aksddehiaees and aud, “Thess are¥ns peopls Who |
* rape & litle by, oF otk to thateffect, Then SSGUNP! b<Eeve, escerted a third
" detaines to Tier 1A, SSG@ d that thly detaines assisted in the rape by holding down’
" the victim. One of theMI so aﬂthanto!dthatmrﬂ dexdines to get undressed like the other
.- twdo. The rew detaines refissed. "Ths MI soldiers proceeded to yell 2t the detaines. Then; opc of
the M soldiers ordered te]] the detainesto get undressed, The third deteines
" undressed after cpﬁdted 8! fim, Then tha M gold{era ardered all thres detdiness w low
raw] on the floor. When ths detaizesq sitempléd to arch ip, two of the M goldiers put pressure,

in the middle of their backs mﬂyallea atthem 1o g:t down, Two MI soldiers then cuffedths -~
detsiness together. -

5. Aftecthedetainees were agaln handngfed, { walked aver and asked the detainze 1 el the M
soldiers what they needed know-and that I would try tomake the M1 soldiers stop, The detaihee
» . smmd.ﬂuoughﬁxemtezprem',thathtwouldm! confazs to sametiiing that ke did notdo. 1 .
. turmed to the-older M1 suldier sndasked hira with a rafsed voive: “Did you all ever considerthat
thay guys dreinnssent?” or words 1o-that effect. The M soldier mpunded. “IwWebesndolngthis . -~ . .
loager than ymi‘vc been'in the mﬂxmy You know, sefgeant, they are guilty,” or wordstothat . - .0
effect-] thieu turmed to walk out @nd the Ml soldier wearing bleck PT shorts staxted to sprickle.  ~ ©- -u”
 water on the detathees fromchis water bottle, Whiile T vras leaving.the tier, Y also obzerved ope of
. the M soldiers ori the upper tier 1dssing & need tall towirds the detainees. Jalsonoticed SBC 0 . ¥
- ding in the distanes arid taking photos, Twentbacktomy LSA 1 apprammaiely : 2.7
2230 ymﬁmelmmnﬁtumym&mymzwuﬂrﬁdyaﬂeep ' ’

6. Fonowmg wiomtig, et approxinsately 6530, Lelong with SPC QNP SPOMI <, e
BCF ch missionts estort detzintes to Rusats Coprthouse. -Afier chmpleting the mission, at
- spproximutely 1600, Twerit to my platoon feades, LT 47 dzseribed o himi the
. Intiden: T wilnessed the prévious right. Iinformed 2LT SRt MI saldiers were .
interrgating naked detilness, ZLT : “Thay are MI 2nd they ars in chargs fet them
_ dothelr job," or Words o that effect, Tthenbeganto quesﬁanLT -bom who Wwas in
charge of the facility. I further voiced my concerns abowt aur mission end opganizzdon. 2LT -
.-Jmn &kodwiedgad my eapmplaint anddndicated thay he will address it Approximalely AR
-onewesk later CPL ived = writtien cownseling statement fom CPT GMNPRr ueeof

w:ve forcé, CF ormed s ghout the-tounséling statément and Y overheayd CPT
Y Gicating thathe couhseia& CcrLi ] uc of excessive force,

_ 7. Approimitely cne wesk prior to the incidents [ dmnbed aba-re. Ispoke with C‘PL-
Coe e ami I’nduce&j:ha: CPL GGaEBvolce was Horse, 1 adked CPL hy ke was oarse,, CFL
wapstatedihat OGA and BT Were rizking i, yell at detainees and do things thet he flt were
wmng. CPLYCidid rat provids any datails, 1101 hisy! "then don’t do k" or werds w that
elfect, He staied Gt M1 soldiezs weould el himzafter an explosion fhat thers are Americass out
. lher&d}mgandmﬂessﬁﬁhﬂpsﬂm ‘get informaion From the deraluges then more Amaritans

will die. CP, nhldnpﬁﬁthawzsukingpicnmsw rotect himsel€ 1:ald CP
" take ﬂﬂs‘ﬂwwpm clain nfﬂcmmaud. . P s r
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17TH MP DETAGHYE PAGE 85
. ATZMDFSC. - . o . N
SUBJECT: Statemexttof§ ] eatiquazters and Headquartérs Compaxy,

Garrison Fort L2¢, Virginlz

3, Treturped to Tiex 1A epproximately sos wesk later in order to infbrm one of the deteinees of
His relassd date, AT thii?lg'!, 1 didnot obisérve eny inusuat conduct by the M personnel. This
wasthe lasttime I wentto Tier 14 . L .
9. Tn November 2003, while in Yrtg, I éxperisaced post-sorgery complizations, On2 Decersber
2003, my unit received & Red Cross ressage Informing me that my father experienced avery -
seriobs Heart gitask, 1was placed on Emerpensy Latve statiessad retumed to Dallas, Texason
. 2 Desegther 2003, ‘Subsequently, I retrtted fo Fort Lee, Virginia om ar sbout 17 December 2003

in order 1o undargo medical procedures.
30. In sddition ta aivertpting an o the.spot eoirestion, T reported fhe above-mentionsA incldent
to my platoon leader, 1T GENED Afizr retuming t6 Fort Les, Virginia Linformed the:

- following, among others, ofmy concems regarding the incident T witnessed st BCF:

Chrplain 0 7C) PG aLey  © . . Docember 2003
18

(HEC Ganison, FertLe¥) . . Deeamber 2003

, [HC Gatrsor, Fortfze)° ) Diecamber 2003

- DJC Meatzl Hezlth Clinic, Fort Le<) Jaxwry 2004
WP (O:puty Chiefof SGE, USAR) . . Maech 2004

SGT, JA

; : " March 2004
wacterrnastez School, Fort Les) Mexch 2004 - :
it L : : " Aprilz004 Sy
M. AO, Fort Les) N © April2004 . R
U.8. House of Represantafives Armed Services Comittes! April 2004 : L
11 POCs Bt vdseigred IO ,
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—— ) i

8  BTATEMENT [Costimés))

i P S

APRUAVIT

By A THE STATEMENT 18 THUE, | HAVE DETIALED ALL CORRECTENS ANA RAVE INITIALED THE BOTTOM OF EACH PASE
CONTAINING THE STATEMENT. THAVE MADE THIS STATESERT FHEELY WITHOUT, HOPR OF BENEFIT OX mwrrw
" THESAT OF PUNISHMENT, AND WITHOUT COERGION, LRAWTUL INFLUENCE O UREA

- "\ + HAVE REAS O HAVE HAD NIAD TO MR THIS STATEMINT :
S ON PAGE 1, ARD ENOS ON FAGE . lmwsnmwuwﬂmﬁmwmmmuumm:
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STI1 - CERTIFICATION

Schrotber Translations, ne. 1 1US 18 t0 certify that the attached English language document,

51 Monroe Street identified as Personal Testimonies, is a true and accurate

Sulte 01 translation of the original Arabic language document to the
Rockville, MD 20850

best of our knowledge and belief.

P: 30142
£, 20142 Jivs] Executed this 18th day
of May, 2004

SchreiberTranslations, Inc.
51 Monroe Street, Suite 101

| Rockville, Maryland 20850
' ATA Member 212207

Schreiber Translations, Inc. uses all available measures to ensurs the accuracy of each

translation, but shall not be held lizble for damages due to emor or negligence in
translation or transcription.

translation@schreibernet.com

wwwschreibernet.com _ 6022683
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I, hereby attest that prison guard, Megan treated the prisoners in solitary confinement with
dignity and that we are much better after she has taken charge. May god be witness to the
veracity of my testimony.

[Hllegible mgnature]
05-02-2004

602270

ACLU-RDI 962 p.78

DOD 001229



Ud/12/72UU4 1D:UY rax ZU" LG @IUULruul
i '

10

!
|
|
|
e (D ot i X e e

W\@/\y_ \_Q,&B\sg'sc):))ig),b)\_s\"w.m
- f; - poo L

002271

ACLU-RDI 962 p.79
DOD 001230



In the Name of God

In Mahjar, I never had any problems with Maggie,' the American lady; she was a very nice
person in the prison and treated all prisoners, whether male and female, in 2 good manner. She
always talked with the prisoners in a polite and pleasant way and if they had any complaints, she
would make every effort to solve their problems. I never saw an inhuman behavior on her behalf,
and never had any problems with her. Whenever I needed food she would bring it to me with a

botile of water, and would even give me cigarettes. She treated all the prisoners in the same way
and most prisoners liked this American girl and respected her.

R it
/signature/
02/05/2004
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“In the Name of God The Compassionate, the Merciful”

1, hereby attest that guard Megan treated all prisoners correctly including myself. We had no
problem with her. She treated us well and was very amicable with everybody.

[Iilegible signature]
05-02-2004
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I, hereby attest that prison guard Maki was one of the best police officers in our jail together with

Ofﬁcer- Mr..a:nd Mr-all of whom dealt with us in a humane manner. They

provided us with everything we needed, especially, Maki who used to bring us medicines and
mattresses. She also helped us when the US Police had us punished in sohtary confinement. 1
testify that this lady is incapable of punishing a sole.

[Mlegible signature]

05-02-2004
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My name is —and I'testify that Mickey wasnice to everybody in

confinement. One day she was carrying some canned food and I asked her if I can have some but
she refused because it was pork. I have never witnessed her offend anyone.
May god be witness to the veracity of my testimony.

[Signed:
05-02-2004
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Mika is 2 kind person and, during my stay in solitary confinement, I have never seen her punish
anyone. She used to be nice and to take the Qura’an from one cell to the other so that we can all
recite. When she brought the American foodstuff, she was always willing to exchange one bag
for another to suit the prisoners’ taste. Once she brought me Iraqi food that I longed for badly

and she came all the way across some 30 cells in order to hand it to me. I respect her for her
pleasant attitude with the detainees.

fTllegible signanue]
05-02-2004
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REMOVED BATES PAGES 2283 - 2297
(RECORD OF TRIAL — SPC MEGAN M. AMBUHL)

(15 TOTAL PAGES)
DOCUMENTS CONSIST OF PERSONAL LETTERS WRITTEN TO THE
CONVENING AUTHORITY BY FAMILY AND FRIENDS ON BEHALF

OF SPC AMBUHL, WHICH WERE DETERMINED TO BE
NONRESPONSIVE TO PLAINTIFF’S FOIA REQUEST
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OFFICE OF THE CLERX OF COURT
US ARMY JUDICIARY
ARLINGTON, VIRGINIA 22203-1837

THE RECORD OF TRIAL HAS BEEN REVIEWED FOR RELEASE UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT. THE DOCUMENT[S]
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS HAS [HAVE] BEEN REMOVED FROM THIS COPY OF
THE RECORD BECAUSE THE RELEASE WOULD BE IN VIOLATION OF THE DOD
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROGRAM, DOD 5400.7-R, EXEMPTION

(b) (6)

Memorandum - Psychological Assessment
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REMOVED BATES PAGES 2301 - 2346
(RECORD OF TRIAL — SPC MEGAN M. AMBUHL)

(46 TOTAL PAGES)

DOCUMENTS CONSIST OF A MEMORANDUM FOR ALBERTO R.
GONZALES RE: STANDARDS OF CONDUCT FOR INTERROGATION
UNDER 18 USC 2340-2340-A, DATED AUGUST 1, 2002

DOJ OFF)tE OF LEGAL
AND REFERRED TO Sl C OUNSEL ON 31

MARCH 2004
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, BAGHDAD FIELD OFFICE
CAMP VICTORY, IRAQ
APO AE 09342

REPLY TO
TTENTION OF:

FICI-JA4BFO ) 29 October 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR LTC_ Summary Court-Martial Officer, Headquarters
and Headquarters Company, 57% Signal Battalion, APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Request for Confinement Credit -- United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

1. The accused, through counsel, respectfully requests that the Summary Court-Martial Officer
grant SPC Ambuhl 28 days of credit toward any approved sentence of confinement. SPC
Ambuhl is entitled to 15 days credit for restriction tantamount to confinement, 8 days for a
violation| of Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 305(i), and 5 days for the command’s violation of
Article 18, Uniform Code of Military Justice (U .C.M.J.). Ata minimum, the defense requests
that you consider the restrictions unduly imposed on SPC Ambuhl as extenuation and mitigation
at sententing,. ’

2. Unlawful pretrial punishment and circumstances tantamount to confinement are evaluated
according to the totality of the circumstances. See United States v. Herrin, 32 M.J. 983, 985
(A.CMR. 1991); United States v. St N.J>528; 330 (A.& M:R®1985). The defense
requests Eonfinement credit under three separate and distinct principles of law. Each is addressed
scparatel?y below:

a. Restriction Tantamount to Confinement. A soldier is entitled to day-for-day
sentence credit for any pretrial restriction equivalent to confinement. United States v. Mason, 19
M.J. 274/(C.M.A. 1985). A determination of restriction tantamount to confinement is made
under a totality of the circumstances. Factors to consider include the limits of the restriction,
access toffacilities, whether the soldier is singled out by the command, and whether the soldier is
permitted to continue normally assigned duties. See United States v, Sassman, 32 M.J. 687, 690
(A.F.C.M.R. 1991); United States v. Russell, 30 M.J. 977, 979 (A.C.M.R. 1990). SPC Ambuhl
should be granted at least 15 days of credit for restriction tantamount to confinement.

(1) Time period of 20 August 2004 -3 September 2004: From 20 August 2004
through 3 September 2004, SPC Ambuhl suffered restriction tantamount to confinement by being
under 24l;hour supervision by a military police non-commissioned officer (NCO). On
approximately 19 August 2004, SPC Ambuhl and her assigned military defense counsel traveled
from Baghdad through Kuwait to Manheim, Germany, for a scheduled court appearance in
Germany. Upon SPC Ambuhl’s arrival at Taylor and Coleman Barracks in Germany, the
government subjected her to greater restriction than she had ever faced at Camp Victory, Iraq, a
war-zone. SPC Ambuhl was not allowed to leave her temporary barracks building without an
escort. She was not permitted to go anywhere without this assigned E5 “shadow.” SPC Ambuhl
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could not leave her barracks to meet with either of her attorneys unless the escort was present.
SPC Ambuhl could not leave her barracks to go to the Shoppette unless her escort was present.
SPC Ambuht could not leave her barracks to attend religious services on-post unless her escort
was present. Even in the presence of one, or both, of her defense attorneys, SPC Ambuhl was
not to be without this NCO escort. On one occasion when SPC Ambuhl was at a video
teleconference with her attorneys at an on-post conference room, she was not allowed to walk
down the hallway to use the latrine without her escort. For this “infraction,” the NCO publicly
chastised SPC Ambuhl. This type of restriction goes well-beyond the bounds allowed in the
military justice system.

(2) Time period of 6 February 2004 — 30 October 2004: The actions of the
command as early as 6 February 2004 are restriction tantamount to confinement. On 6 February
2004, the government moved SPC Ambuhi away from her regular duties at Baghdad Central
Correctional Facility (BCCF) at Abu Ghraib. The government separated SPC Ambuhl from her
unit and reassigned her to an unknown unit at Camp Victory. By moving SPC Ambuhl to a
different base, under the circumstances of deployment, the command effectively isolated and
restricted the soldier. When, in a deployed environment, a soldier is reliant on her battle-buddies
and her squad. The command moved SPC Ambuhl from that emotionally-secure environment.
She no longer lived, worked or socialized with her squad or platoon. She had little to no contact
with her platoon during the time she was at Camp Victory. Se was moved to an unfamiliar post
where he knew only approximately four junior enlisted soldiers. The acts of the command were
intended as restriction tantamount to confinement and were done to punish the soldier.

Another factor that contributes to the reasonable conclusion that SPC Ambuhl suffered
restriction tantamount to confinement, if not also pretrial punishment was the seizure and
removal of her issued weapons. The command took SPC Ambuh!’s weapons from her on 20
March 2004. Despite repeated requests by the soldier, the command never returned any of her
weapons to her; nor did the command provide any reason for its decision. In the Iraq Theater of
Operations a weapon is a part of each soldier’s assigned uniform. The obvious absence of a
weapon signals to others that the particular soldier is different. The command had no legitimate
reason to seize SPC Ambuhl’s weapons, other than punishment and restriction. SPC Ambuhl
was not a threa’_c to those around her, nor was she charged with a crime of violence using a
weapon. She never threatened to shoot any fellow soldiers or herself. To prohibit SPC Ambuhl
from carrying a weapon on Camp Victory, a base under constant mortar and small arms attacks,
for force protection was a decision made by the command designed to punish the soldier. At no
time during the investigation of the allegations has SPC Ambuh! been identified as a flight risk,
thus to remove her weapons so she would not leave post is an invalid argument, and reveals the
command’s bias against the soldier.

Additionally, since 6 February 2004, SPC Ambuhl was not permitted to continue her
normally assigned duties. Instead, SPC Ambuhl was singled-out and ordered to work extra duty
2
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type details. The factor on which the SCM should focus is not whether the tasks performed by
SPC Ambuhl were those normally assigned to an E-4, but rather that the tasks were assigned to
SPC Ambuhl because she was facing UCMJ action. Absent the pending UCMJ action, SPC
Ambuhl would have performed the duties of a 95B. She was denied the opportunity to contribute
meaningfully to her unit and was forced to do menial tasks.

During her assignment to HHC, 16® MP Brigade, SPC Ambuhl and several of her co-
accused were treated like complete outcasts by the command. SPC Ambuhl did not take partin
regularly-scheduled company missions or taskings. Instead, she and the co-accused, were given
special assignments, tasked directly from the company 1SG. Some of the tasks to which 1SG
B= 7 assigned SPC Ambuhl were: to pick up trash and cigarette butts along the road on Camp
Victory; to paint “no parking” curbs on Camp Victory; and to fill sandbags on a daily basis.
Adding insult to injury, the 1SG directed that these tasks be performed in areas that were not
assigned to HHC, 16% MP Brigade and were not in the Brigade AO. SPC Ambuhl was only
allowed to work with the other co-accused or other soldiers facing UCMYJ action; as such, she
was easily distinguished from other soldiers. SPC Ambuhl was forced to endure taunts from
fellow soldiers while completing these tasks out on the main thoroughfares of Camp Victory.
She suffered further degradation when other soldiers took photos of her sweeping the streets.
‘When asked by SPC Ambubhl to intervene on numerous occasions, 1S G-and CP
s =y did nothing. What defies logic is that the government had no issue with assigning SPC
Ambuhl to I&R duties at BCCF, an area in which she had no experience; but once the soldier
was moved to Camp Victory she easily could have performed tasks in her assigned Combat
Support operations role.

! Another factor to consider in determining if the command subject SPC Ambuhl to

*  restriction tantamount to confinement is whether or not she was entitled to leave the Camp

Victory AO, much less Irag. She is entitled to credit because her command punished her by

requiring her to remain in Iraq for approximately 18 months without even the opportunity for

R&R leave or a 4-day pass. From February 2003 through February 2004, the Army assigned

SPC Ambuhl to the 372 Military Police (MP) Company. On 12 March 2004, the government

| arbitrarily reassigned SPC Ambuhl to an unfamiliar company, HHC, 16% MP Brigade. Asa

i result of this arbitrary reassignment, SPC Ambuhl was treated as an outcast by her new command
and forced to remain in Iraq for several months past the redeployment of her true company, the
372° MP Company. During her entire deployment, SPC Ambuhl was not granted the

. opportunity to take leave or her authorized and encouraged two weeks of R&R. Once it became
clear that she would be required to remain in theater, SPC Ambuhl request leave, on several
occasions, through the appropriate channels in her company. She was denied leave on each
occasion. Unlike other soldiers of equal rank, SPC Ambuhl was not granted any 4-day passes
and was denied the opportunity to relax at a place like Qatar or in the northern mountains of Iraq.

| These factors contribute to the determination that the company imposed restriction tantamoust to
confinement on SPC Ambuhl.
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b. Violation of R.C.M. 305: When restriction is tantamount to confinement, the
procedures for review of the propriety of pretrial confinement set forth in R.C.M. 305 are
triggered. If the government fails to comply with those procedural requirements, day-for-day
credit for those days of noncompliance is required. United States v. Gregory, 21 M.J. 952
(A.CMR. 1986), aff’d, 23 M.J. 246 (C.M.A. 1986). The command subjected SPC Ambuhl to
restriction tantamount to confinement from 20 August 2004 through 3 September 2004. This
restriction should have been reviewed within 7-days of its imposition, IAW R.C.M. 305(i)(2);
thus, the review should have occurred no later than 26 August 2004. The government never
conducted a review of this restriction but rather chose to end the restriction on 3 September 2004
when SPC Ambuhl left Germany to return to Iraq. SPC Ambuhl is entitled to additional
administrative credit under R.C.M. 305(k) as a remedy for the government’s failure to follow this
rule. The defense requests and additional 8 days of credit for the period from 27 August 2004
through 3 September 2004 for the government’s failure to review SPC Ambuh!’s restriction
tantamount to confinement under R.C.M. 305().

c¢. Unlawful Pretrial Punishment Under Article 13, UCMJ. SPC Ambuhl suffered
hostile and degrading treatment from the government and the leadership of her company and is
entitled to credit for unlawful pretrial punishment under Article 13, U.C.M.J.

Pretrial punishment is forbidden in accordance with Article 13, UM.C.J., 10 U.S.C. § 813,
which states that:

No person, while being held for trial, may be subjected to punishment or penalty
other than arrest or confinement upon the charges pending against him, nor shall
the arrest or confinement imposed upon him be any more rigorous than the
circumstances required to insure his presence . . .

The Court of Military Appeals in United States v. James, 28 M.J. 214 (C.M.A. 1989),
adopting the standard in Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520 (1979), set out a two-prong test to
determine if a violation of Article 13 has occurred. The Court should first decide whether the
particular conditions were imposed with the intent to punish. See id. at 216, If the answer is yes,
then the conditions are punishment and the Court should consider a sentence credit. See id. If
the answer is no, the Court should inquire as to whether the purposes purportedly served by the
conditions are reasonably related to a legitimate governmental objective. Seeid. “[I]fa
restriction or condition is not reasonably related to a legitimate goal - if it is arbitrary or
purposeless -- a court permissibly may infer that the purpose of the governmental action is
punishment.” Bell, 441 U.S. at 539.

Military appeals courts have routinely and “unequivocally” condemned conduct by those in
positions of authority which result in needless military degradation, or public denunciation or
humiliation of an accused.” United States v. Latta, 34 M.J. 596, 597 (A.C.M.R. 1992), citing

4
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United States v. Cruz, 25 M.J. 326 (CM.A. 1987). Specifically, “public denunciation by the
commander and subsequent military degradation before the troops prior to courts-martial
constitute unlawful pretrial punishment prohibited by Article 13.” Cruz, 25 M.J. at 330. The
court further denounced the unnecessary public identification of an apprehended personas a
criminal suspect. Seeid. at 331 n.3.

Accused soldiers may be entitled to credit toward an approved sentence if they are
repeatedly subject to disparaging remarks by the command. See United States, v. Stamper, 39
M.J. 1097, 1100 (A.CM.R. 1994) (awarding credit based on disparaging remarks by a company
commander regarding a larceny the accused allegedly committed). In such instances, “these
remarks chipped away at the accused’s presumption of innocence.” Id. Further, Article 13 credit
can be granted for actions of the command toward the accused soldier when “some of the
[restraints] bore no relation to the purposes of his restriction and were unnecessary to his
presence.” United States v. Carmel, 4 M_J. 744,748 N.CM.R. 1977).

In addition to the behavior of the command described in paragraph 2a(2) of this
memorandum, SPC Ambuhl was further subjected to unlawful pretrial punishment. 1SG
routinely, punished SPC Ambuhl by making her do menial manual labor. While this activity
itself is no unexpected for junior-enlisted soldiers, 1SG West would require of SPC Ambuhl
labor that was being done by contractors. For example, the 16® MP Brigade hired contractors to
fill sandbags and Hesco barriers to fortify the tents of 16™ MP Brigade soldiers. lSG-
prohibited the contractors from fortifying SPC Ambuh!’s tent and required her to do it without
the assistance of contractors. Further, he required her to conduct such tasks during non-duty
hours. The only reason for these decisions was to punish SPC Ambuhl.

ISGQ also subject SPC Ambuhl to degrading comments. Repeatedly, he would
comment to SPC Ambuhl and others about her guilt. He would berate her about how she alone
brought down the reputation of the company and the U.S. Army. 1SG made these
inappropriate comments directly to SPC Ambuhl and to any NCO or junior enlisted soldier that
would listen. Such behavior on behalf of the company 1SG belies the presumption of innocent
until proven guilty and erodes any confidence among soldiers in the military justice system.

On one occasion, SPC Ambuht volunteered to help fill backpacks with school supplies.
After spending several days with Just one or two other soldiers, filling dozens of packs, SPC
Ambuhl requested to be permitted to go with members of HHC to distribute the backpacks to
local Iraqi children. Her request was denied because she was a “criminal.” To worsen the
humiliation to SPC Ambuhl, other members of HHC, 16% MP Brigade, received (and took)
credit for her work and received positive publicity in “Stars and Stripes.” The command knew
that distributing the backpacks to Iragi children was important to SPC Ambuhl; they knew that it
mattered to her. The command’s denial of this request can be deemed as nothing less than
punishment to the soldier.
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SPC Ambuhl is entitled to additional credit under Article 13, UCMLJ, for unlawful pretrial
punishment for the actions by his chain-of-command and for the unnecessary comments made by
the unit leadership. See Latta, 34 M.J. at 597, United States v. Villamil-Perez, 32 M.J. 341,343
(CMA 1991); Cruz, 25 M.J. at 330. The hostile treatment was demeaning to SPC Ambuhl and
chipped away at her presumption of innocence. See Stamper, 39 M.J. at 1100. There is no set
formula for calculating credit for pretrial punishment. If the military judge finds that illegal
pretrial punishment occurred, he or she determines the sentence credit to which the accused is
entitled. The military judge may order more than day-for-day credit for illegal pretrial
punishment. See United States v. Suzuki, 14 M.J. 491 (C.M.A. 1983).

3. Further, under the principle of parity, SPC Ambuhl should be eranted at least 20 davs credit
toward any sentence of confinement. On 21 October 2004, SS plead
guilty at a Genéral Court-Martial to several violations of the U.C.M.J. At trial, the military judge
approved an agreed-upon 20 days credit toward SSG approved sentence of
confinement. The defense position is that HHC, 16™ MP Brigade, kept SSG-undeI the
same conditions as those suffered by SPC Ambuhl. While a non-commissioned officer, SSG
dsuﬁered similar degrading and humiliating treatment by the company and was
subjected to substantially the same escort requirements as SPC Ambuhl from 20 August 2004
through 3 September 2004. Though the substance of these soldier’s offenses differ significantly,
as do their degrees of culpability, the restriction tantamount to confinement and pretrial
punishment were substantially the same. Parity and justice require that SPC Ambuhl, at a
minimum, be granted 20 days of credit toward any adjudged sentence of confinement.

4. Under the totality of the circumstances, SPC Ambuhl’s chain of command kept SPC Ambuhl
under restriction tantamount to confinement and unlawfully punished her prior to trial. SPC
Ambuhl is entitled to 15 days credit for restriction tantamount to confinement, 8 days for a
violation of R.C.M. 305(i), and 5 days for the command’s continued violations of Article 13,
U.CM.J. The defense request should be granted and SPC Ambuhl should be awarded an
appropriate amount of credit toward any approved sentence of confinement.

5. Questions concerning this memorandum may be addressed to the undersigned via email at
: I A or by telephone at DSN: (312) 52 1-

//oriiinal iiiiii/
CPT,JA
Trial Defense Counsel
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters, Ill Corps
Victory Base, Iraq
APO AE 09342-1400

AFZF-CG JUL 212004

MEMORANDUM FOR Staff Judge Advocate

SUBJECT: Disposition of the Court-Martial Charges Preferred Against Specialist Megan M.
Ambuhl (¢ _

The recommendations of the Staff Judge Advocate are approved. The attached original
charges and additional charges, and their specifications, are referred to a general court- -
martial convened by Court-Martial Convening Order Number 1, dated 14 January 2004, as
amended by Court-Martial Convening Order Number 3, dated 8 March 2004. In accordance
with RCM 601(e)(2), the additional charges and their specifications are joined with the
original charges and specifications. .

THOMAS F. METZ

Lieutenant General, USA
Commanding
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MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, Il Corps, Victory Base, Irag, APO AE 09342-1400

SUBJECT: Advice on Disposition of the Court-Martial Charges Preferred Against
Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl (¢~ . —ACTION MEMORANDUM

1. Purpose. To forward for disposition, in accordance with Rule for Court-Martial
(RCM) 407, the court-martial charges against Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, Headquarters
and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade, 1| Corps, Victory Base, Iraq.

2. Recommendations.

a. Chain of Command. As reflected by the court-martial charges transmittal
memoranda, the soldier's commanders recommend referral of the charges and the
additional charges to a general court-martial.

b. Staff Judge Advocate. | recommend you refer the attached charges and additional
charges, as well as their specifications, to a general court-martial, pursuant to RCM 601,
and refer the case to trial by Court-Martial Convening Order Number 1, dated 14 January
2004, as amended by Court-Martial Convening Order Number 3, dated 8 March 2004, with
instructions that the additional charges be joined with the original charges.

c. Article 32 Investigation. As reflected by the Investigating Officer Report, the
Article 32 Investigating Officer recommended that Charges lll (maltreatment) and IV
(indecent acts) not be forwarded for trial and that the remaining charges be forwarded to a
general court-martial. The additional charges were not preferred before the Article 32
investigation; however, the evidence supporting the additional charges was investigated at
the hearing.

3. Staff Judge Advocate Review. In accordance with RCM 4086 and Article 34, Uniform
Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), | have reviewed the attached charges and supporting
documentation. Itis my legal conclusion that:

a. The specifications allege offenses under the UCMJ:;

b. The allegations of the offenses are warranted by the evidence indicated in the
attached documentation; and

¢. The court-martial will have jurisdiction over the accused and the offenses alleged.

4. Poc is W)=t DSN 318-622

Encls
Charge Sheet (20 Mar 04) COL, JA
Charge Sheet (13 Jul 04) Staff Judge Advocate

Transmittal Memoranda ' 002354
Article 32 Investigation '

Allied Documents

SRS S e
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AFZA-AP-HHC

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT: Service of Referral of Charges in the Case of United State v.
Specialist Megan M. AmbuhL

1. | hereby acknowledge that the initial and additional charges against me were
referred to General Court-Martial on 21 July 2004. | further acknowledge receipt

of said Charge Sheet, Continuation Page(s), and Court-Martial Convening
Order(s).

2. lunderstand that | should contact my Trial Defense Attomey as soon as
possible to further discuss my case.

L 005
- MEGAN M.'AMBUHL

SPC, USA.
(date) ~
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AFZA-AP-HHC

- MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD
SUBJECT: Accused Receipt of Referral of Charges
1. 1 hereby acknowledge that on 23 July 2004 Specialist Megan M. Ambubwas
served a copy of the Charge Sheets, Continuation Page(s), and Court-Martial

Convening Order(s).

2. Due to the unavailability of government counsel block 15 of the charge sheet
wilt be filled out at a later date.

SGT, USA
Paralegal
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AFZA-AP-HHC

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT: Service of Preferral of Additional Charges in the case of United
States v. Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl

1. 1 hereby acknowledge that the additional charges against me were read and
preferred on this_ 1% day of [ Wy 200Y ,at_0Bi2 hours.
Further, I hereby acknowledge receipt bf said charge sheet(s) and allied papers.

2. lHurther understand that | should contact my attorney as soon as possible, for

further advice in my case.
MEGAN M. AMBUHL

SPC, USA
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters and Headquarters Company,
16™ Military Police Brigade (Airborne)
Victory Base, APO AE 09342

AFZA-AP-HHC - 28 JUN 04

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT: Assumption of Command

IAW AR 600-20, Chapter 2, Paragraph 3a, the undersigned assumes command of
Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16" Military Police Brigade (Airbomne)
(WFPBAA), Victory Base, lraq, APO AE 09342, effective 0001 hours on 28 JUN 04
to 2400 hours on 17 JUL 04. ’

CPT, MP
Commanding
DISTRIBUTION: '
1-Cdr, 16" MP BDE (ABN)
1-Cdr, HHC, 16 MP BDE (ABN)
1-Bde S-1, 16" MP BDE (ABN)
1-Bde S-2, 16" MP BDE (ABN)
1-Cdr, 15™ PSB, Victory Base PSB
1-Cdr, 15™ Finance Battalion, Victory Base
1-Office of the Staff Judge Advocate
1-Individual
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AFZA-AP-HHC | 12 SuL 07/
i

MEMORANDUM THRU Command!er, 16™ Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Camp
Victory, Iraq APO AE 09342 :

FOR Deputy Commander, [l Corpsf, Victory Base, Irag APO AE 09342 .

SUBJECT: Transmittal of Addition;él Court-Martial Charges — United States v. Specialist
Megan M. Ambuhl '

1. Pursuant to R.C.M. 401(c)(2) arfld 402(2), Manual for Court-Martial, United States
(2002 Edition), forwarded herewith :are the additional court-martial charges pertaining to
Specialist Megan, . HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abn), Camp Victory, Iraq APO AE
09342. ' :
2. Documentary evidence upon whiich the charges are based is enclosed.
3. All material witnesses are expeéted to be available at the time of trial.
4. There s no evidence of previou;s court-martial conviction(s).
5, I recommend that the charges af?nd specifications be referred to trial by

‘ a. ___ Summary Court—Mar_ﬁ'al

b. ___ Special Court-Martiai

c. ___ Special Court-Martial (empowered to adjudge a Bad Conduct Discharge)

d.meral Court-Martieil.

Encls
as

CPT, MP
Commanding
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AFZA-AP-CO
MEMORANDUM FOR Deputy Con
Iraq APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Transmittal of Initial ar
Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl

1. I have reviewed the enclosed in
32 Report pertaining to Specialist
(Abn), Victory Base, Irag APO AE
2. | recommend that the enclosed

a. ___ Summary Court-Mar

b. __ Special Court-Martig

1381 0¥
y)}uL 2004

nmander, Multi National Corps - Iraq, Victory Base,

d Additional Court—Marﬁal Charges — United States v.

itial and additional court- ial charges and Article
Megan M. Ambuhl, &HHC, 16" MP Bde
09342,

charges and specifications be referred to trial by
tial

|

d eneral Court-Marti

Encls
nc
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c. ___ Special Court-Martili (empowered to adjudge a Bad Conduct Discharge)

COL, M
Commanding
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AFZA-AP-HHC

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT: Service of Preferral of Charges in the case of United States v.
Specialist Megan M. Ambuh! -

l hereby qﬁknowledge that the charges against me were read and preferred
on this _28™dayof  marCH ,at 2721 hours. Further, |
hereby acknowledge receipt of satd charge sheet(s) and allied papers.

2. | further understand that | have an appointment at Trial Defense Services,
ph: (302) 835 trailer B12, Camp Victory, Iraq, at

MEGAN M. AMBUHL
SPC, USA
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D_O /l/?arcz\ ;004

MEMORANDUM THRU Commander, 16% Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Camp
Victory,|Irag APO AE 09342 ‘

FOR Deputy Commander, Combined Joint Task Force Seven, Camp Victory, Irag APO
AE 09342

SUBJECT: Transmittal of Court-Martial Charges — United States v. Specialist Megan
M. Ambuhi '

1. Purspant to R.C.M. 401(c)(2) and 402(2), Manual for Court-Martial, United States
(2002 Edition ded herewith are the court-martial charges pertaining to Specialist
Megén,ﬂ HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abn), Camp Victory, Irag APO AE 09342.
2. Documentary evidence upon which the charges are based is enclosed.
3. All material witnesses are expected'to be available at the time of trial.
4. There is no evidence of previous court-martial conviction(s).
5. | recommend that the charges and specifications be referred to trial by
al __ Summary Court-Martial
b{ Special Court-Mal-'tiaI'

c.| ___ Special Court-Martial (empowered to adjudge a Bad Conduct Discharge)

d. '—)eneral Court-Martial.

Encls
as

CPT, MP
Commanding
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CERTIFICATE

| HEREBY CERTIFY THAT | AM THE CURRENT CUSTODIAN OF THE PERSONNEL
RECORDS OF SPECIALIST MEGAN M. AMBUHL, [N +c

16™MP BDE (ABN) VICTORY BASE, IRAQ APO AE 09342, AND THAT THE
ATTACHED PERSONNEL QUALIFICATION RECORD & DA FORM 2-1 1S A TRUE
AND ACGURATE COPY AS MAINTAINED; IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION,

IN THE SOLDIER'S RECORDS.

2LT, AG
Brigade Adjutant

Or'é,\;,% | 002363
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02 TOBA4GL. SECTIONV-MISCELL  OUS
27. REMARKS 28. ITEM CONTINUATION
I'TEM
NO. DATA

SECTION IX - RESERVE COMPONENT DATA

002368

323, READY RESERVE OBLIGATION EXPIRATION DATE: 106132 Y
1. DA FORM 3726 OR 3726-1 AGREEMENT EXPIRATION DATE:
(29 DATE DA FORM 208 PREPARED: c. SERVICE OBUIGATION EXPIRATION DATE; 09743/

(30) DATE DUPLICATE DA FORM 2-1 SUBMITTED:

d. MANDATORY REMOVAL FROM ACTIVE STATUS:

REPORT OF CHANGES

e. RETIREMENT YEAR ENDING DATE!

2|3jats|e]rla,9 1wlnfizahafis)ielr a__c_mo 21 NN_B 33, DATE 34, SIGNATURE
o137 20| 30|50 | v [ 55|53 54 | 35136 {37 (e |59 a0 |43 [a3 {43 ad |6 dc) PREPARED REVIEWED ?\\N«\\
s|’5015i|82|85|54|55 56| 57|69 | 60| Sﬁg Gilod|sifersa|oo) | X § I \\M\\\\ \A&
i) 7517 | 771 78|79} 60| 61| 62 V56 57 1a7135 160 [51[52 |77 NNN&\QON\QQG\
. &

A FADM D

AN 77

77

/
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS, 16™ MILITARY POLICE BRIGADE (AIRBORNE)
CAMP VICTORY, IRAQ, APO AE 09342

REPLY TO
i ATIZFTION CF

ORDERS 72-5 12 March 2004

AMBUHL, MEGAN M,, SPC, 95B10, = 372™ Military Police Company
(WTEZAA), APO AE 09342 :

You are attached or released from attachment.

Attached to: HHC, 16" Military Police Brigade (Airborne) (WFPBAA) APO AE 09342
Reportirjg Date: 12 March 2004

Period: {Indefinite

Movement Designator Code: NZ03

Additional Instructions: You are attached for personnel service support to include
Awards and Decorations, UCMJ, and all other forms of personnel and legal
administration support. -

Format: {745
CPT, MP
Brigade Adjutant
DISTRIBUTION:

CDR, 372™ MP CO (1)

CDR, HHC, 16™ MP BDE (ABN) (1)
File (1)
Individual (3)

ACLU-RDI 962 p.119
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I
REPORT TO SUSPEND FAVORABLE PERSONNEL ACTIONS (FLAG)
For use of this form, see AR 600-8-2; the propenent agency is MILPERCEN.
SECTION I - ADMINISTRATIVE DATA
T .
1. NAME ([Last, First, M) 2. SSN 3. RANK
AMBUHL, MEGAN M. 2 E-4/ SPC
& On actie duty D Not on active duty D On ADT gbggg;ésgAIMRD
6. UNIT ASSIGNED ANDj ARMY MAJOR COMMAND 7. STATION (Geographical location)
372ND MP CO 372ND MP CO
99TH RRC . ABU GHRAIB, IRAQ APO AE 09335
8. PSC CONTRQ ACTION AND TELEPHONE NUMBER
9. THIS ACTION IS TO:
Initiate 2|flag D Transfer a flag D Remove flag
{Sections Il and Vonty) (Sections lif and V onlyj (Sections IV and V anty)
L .
SECTION Il - INITIATE A FLAG
10- A FLAG IS INITIATED, EFFECTIVE 20040125 FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON:
NON-TRANSFERABLE TRANSFERABLE
Adverse action (A) D APFET failure (J)
L] Estnination - field initiated (8} L weight control program (k)
D Refmoval from selection list - field initiated (C)
D Referred OER (D)
D Segurity violation (E) -
l:] HGPA use only - elimination or removal from selection list (F)
SECTION IIl - TRANSFER A FLAG
" [J  artac 4 TRansreren FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON:
D Adderse action - HQDA directed reassignment (G) D APFT failure (J)
D Adverse action - punishment phase (H) D Weight control program (K}
D Supportind documents attached? E] Yes D No
SECTION IV - REMOVE A FLAG
' [ aracs REMOVED, EFFECTIVE ___ FOR THE FOLLOWING REASON:
D Case closed favorably (C) D Soldier transferred to a different Army component or
discharged while case in process (destroy case file) (g}
D Disciplinary action taken (D} D Other final action (E)
SECTION V - AUTHENTICATION
HSTRIBUTION
1 - Unit Commander 1-F&AO
1-PSC 1 - Commander, gaining unit (trensfer flag only)
DRGANIZATION SIGNA DATE
MP Commanding o Vg
upany ] RS O
raNale Kal ) 1
JA FORM 268, JUN 87 EDITION OF 1 JAN 80 IS OBSOLETE. U iabacds
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|

1

r HEADQUAR;%RS, 99TH REGIONAL SUPPORT Cdu 1)
’ 99 SOLDIERS LANE

CORAOPOLIS, PENNSYLVANIA 15108-2550

/

ORDELS M-052-0002 21 February 2003

. " gre
0372 MP CO COMBAT SUPPORT (WTEZAA)
CUMBERLAND, MD 21502-5605

AMBUHL MEGAN MARY

~

You |are orderdd to Active Duty as a member of your Reserve Component unit for the
period indicatfed unless sooner released or unless extended. Proceed from your
curzent location in sufficient time to report by the date specified. You enter
active duty ugon reporting to unit home station.

B

rt to: D37R MP CO COMBAT SUPPORT (WTEZAA)., 14418 MCMULLEN HWY SW,
CUMBERLAND, MD 21502-5605 Report On: 24 Februaxy 2003

lrt to: Forjt Lee, Building P6008, Fort Lee, VA 23801 Report OCn: 27 February

20C3

Perjod of active duty: 365 Days
Purpose: Mobijization for ENDURING FREEDOM

Repqg

Repcg

Mobilization pategory code: "V
Additional instructiomns: 01, 02, 03, 04, 06, 07, 08, 0%, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15,

16, 17

FOR| ARMY USE
AUTHORITY: HQDA MSG 171644ZFEBO03/DAMO-ODM/ORDTYP/MOBORD/HQDA ONE/OEF NO.322-03

Accpunting cllssification:
2132010.0800 01-1100 PLIWLCOQ 11*%/12+** YFRE F3203 5570 S9999%

2132010.0§00 01-1100 P2W2C00 11i**/12+** YFRE F3203 5570 S99999%
2132020.0800 01-1100 P135198 21%*/22¥*x/25+% VFRE F3203 5570 S$99999

Sexg: F

MDQ: PM
PMGS/AOC/ASIALIC: 95B1O
HORi: € g

PEED: 29 Japuary 2002
DOR: 29 Janugry 2002
Segurity cledrance: SECRET
Conp: USAR

Format: 165

FOR THEE COMMANDER:

22 Z XSS R R RS RS S S SRR R R RS SRR R ERE S LRSS SRS
*

OFFICIAL >
99TH REGIONAL SUPPORT COMMAND *

hhkdhkkkkkkkkhddxThrThkdhxhkhhihhkddhkhdhrhxhixkiii

MPO

DISTRIBUTION: M1 PLUS MTLITARY PERSONNEL O -
IhiIVIDUAL CONCERNED (4) ' * = FFICER

FAMILY ASSISTANCE OFFICER (1}
MBRJ
FILE .(ORIGINAL + 1)

*

002372
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I3
CAUTION: NOT TO BE USED FOR THIS IS AN (MPORTANT RECORD. . ANY ALTERATIONS IN SHADED
iDENTIFICATION PURPOSES SAFEGUARD IT. AREAS RENDER FORM VOID

CERTIFICATE OF RELEASE OR DISCHARGE FROM ACTIVE DUTY

I 2. DEPARTMENT, COMPONENT AND BRANCH
5. DATE OF BIRTH (YYYYMMDD) 6. RESERVE OBLIG. TERM. DATE
Year 2010{Month 01[Day 28
e OF RECOHD AT TIME OF ENTRY (City and state, or complete

adrirace iF Lnns

7.a PLACE OF ENTRY [NTO ACTIVE DUTY

S1 D Oty ASSIGNMENT AND MAJOR COMMAND - ‘8.b STATION WHERE SEPA-RATED

8.a
CO C 787TH MP EN TR TC FORT LECNARD WCOD, MO £5473-83935

9. COMMAND TO WHICH TRANSFERRED ] - | 10. SGU COVERAGE |_| Nore
352 MP CO (CBT ]SPT) 1850 BALTIMORE RD ROCKVILLE MD 20851 Amount: $ 20, 000 .00

11. PRIMARY SPECIAUTY {List number, title and years and months in 12. RECORD OF SERVICE Year(s} Month(s) Dayls)

sggggét}éf%gg aoa,'_c;’{’g)ga{’ .;ﬁresc;a/ty numbers and titles involving 3. Date onterod AD This Period

NONE/ /NOTHING EOLLOWS b. Separation Date This Period

c. Net Active Service This Period
d. Total Prior Active Service

e. Total Prior Inactive Service k:
f. Fareign Service

g. Sea Service

, h. Effective Date of Pay Grade
13. DECORATIONS, MEDALS, BADGES, CITATIONS AND CAMPAIGN RIBBONS AWARDED OR AUTHORIZED 4/ periods of service)
NONE//NOTHING FOLLOWS

14. MILITARY EDUCATION (Course title, number of weeks and month and year completed)
MILITARY POLICE, 17 WEEKS, 2002//NOTHING FOLLOWS

15.2a MEMEER CONTRIBUTED TO POSI'-\-I!ETNAM ERA Yes Na 15.b HIGH SCHOOL GRACUATE OR

no | 16. DAYS ACCRUED LEAVE PAID
VETERAMN'S EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE PROGRAM X EQUIVALENT '

NONE
PRIOR TO SEPARATION " |NA| Yes |NA| No

17. MEMBER WAS PROVIDED A COMPLETE DENTAL EXAM ANDO ALL APFROPRIATE DENTAL STRVICES AND TREATMENT W

ACLU-RDI 962 p.122
DOD 001273



AFZA-AP-J

MEMORAN
ATTN: AHR

SUBJECT:;
1. Under th
the Perforn]
of the follov

a.

b.

S
S
S
S
S

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS
16" MILITARY POLICE BRIGADE (AIRBORNE)
VICTORY BASE, IRAQ APO AE 09342

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF:

A 12 May 2004

DUM FOR Commander, U.S. Army Human Resources Command,
2C-ARE, 1 Reserve Way, St. Louis, Missouri 63132-5200

Requeét for Certified Official Military Personnel File
e provisions of AR 600-8-104, paragraph 2-5, request 2 (two) certified copies of

ance, Service and Restricted Fiche of the Official Military Personnel File (OMPF)
ving soldiers:

sc Y - | C. 16" MP BDE (ABN), Iraq
7 - C. 1" \P BDE (ABN), Iraq

PC Y - C. 15" MP BDE (ABN), Iraq
PC Y i C. 16" MP BDE (ABN), Iraq
Pc N iC. 16" MP BDE (ABN), Iraq
C Y - - C. 15" MP BDE (ABN), Iraq

P

o. P U . 16" P B0E
(ABN)(REAR), FBN ’ :

2. These spldiers are pending trial by fpourt—maltial; and the records requested will be used
in presenting the Government's Case. . Please forward (2) two certified copies of the

complete OMPF to the following address:

P BDE (ABN) ATTN: -
VICTORY BASE, IRAQ ;

APQ AE 09342

3. The POC for this request is the undersigned at DNVT (302) soc- SN

SGT, USA
Paralegal

.
14
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i

|

!

i
AHRC-PDZ-RC " 13 gCT 2004
ORD)

[

f

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY .
U.S. ARMY HUMAN RESOURCES COMMAND .
200 STOVALL STREET
ALEXANDRIA, VA 22332-0470

RS A-10-410338
AMBURL MEGAN MARY sec '
WTEZAA
You

ARE ORDERED TO ACTIVE DUTY IN THE GRADE OF RANK SHOWN ABOVE FOR THE PERIOD

SHOWN IN ACTIVE DUTY COMMITMENT BELOW. YOU WILL PROCEED FROM YOUR CURRENT
LOCATION IN TIME TO REPORT ON THE DATE SHOWN BELOW.

RPT

TO: 16 MP BDE FWD WFPG6Al FT BRAGG NC 28310

REPORT DATE/TIME: 12 SEP 2004 BETWEEN 0800 AND 1700 HRS.

ASG

TO: 16 MP BDE FWD WFP6Al FT BRAGG NC 28310

DUTK AT: VICTORY BASE IRAQ APO AE 09342
ACTIVE DUTY COMMITMENT: 6 MONTHS END DATE: 09 MAR 2005
PURPOSE: UCMJ PROCESSING.

ADDELTIONAL INSTRUCTIONS: RELIEVED FROM RESERVE COMPONENT ABSIGNMENT ON THE DAY
PRECEEDING EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDER. INDIVIDUAL WILL BE RETAINED ON ACTIVE
DUTY IN HIS OR HER CURRENT GRADE AND' IS INCLUDED IN THE ACTIVE ARMY END

8

F
R

FOR

RENGTH. ACCESSION INTO DJMS-AC WILL REFLECT A SVC COMP OF "R". SHIPMENT OF

RM 214 TO SOLDIERS THAT ARE IN 12301, 12302 OR 12304 STATUS THAT REVERT TO
C.M. 202 STATUS. A DD 214 WILL BE ISSUED UPON COMPLETION OF R.C.M. SERVICE,

HgG AND TRAVEL OF DEP NOT APPLICABLE. SPECIAT EXCEPTION NOT TO ISSUE A DD

ALL PREVIOUS ACTIVE DUTY SERVICE PRIOR TO R.C.M. STATUS WILL BE ACCOUNTED
FOR IN BLOCK 18 OF THE DD 214. EARLY RELEASE AUTHORIZED.

ARMY USE; AUTHORITY: R.C.M. 202(C), AR 27-10 cH 21, AR 135-200 (7-4)

ACCT CLAS: NONE

MDC{ 1AE4  HOR: H ' PMOS/SSI: 31B1
SEX: F PPN: C : USAR RES GR: SPC
DORRES: 29 JaN 2002 PEBD: 29 JAN 2002  SCTY CL: NONE

FO T: 460
BY QRDER OF THE SECRETARY OF THE ARMY:

**aJ
*
*
***ﬁ

DISs
11
1 37

R ARk _
! AHRC * ’

FFICIAL * i CHIEF, RC SPT SVC DIV

LEA S S £ LT

|
RIBUTION: 1 SOLDIER

MP BDE FWD FT BRAGG NC 28310
2 MP CO COMBAT SUP 14418 MCMULLEN HWY SW CUMBERLAND MD 21502 560S

D02375
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1

h.VESTIGATING OFFICER'S REPORT

(Of Charges Under Article 32,

UCMJ and R.C.M. 405, Manual Jor Courts-Martial)

invegtigation - Last, 1‘1

)
t
i
T

rst, MI)

Brigade Commander

1a. FROM: (Name oflmfestigating Officer - b. GRADE -} c. ORGANIZATION d. DATE OF REPORT
Las, First, Ml | HHC, 420th Engineer Brigade
APO AE 09391
. 0-4 8 May 2004
2a. TO: (Name on[ﬁcer who directed the b. TITLE c. ORGANIZATION

Headquarters, 16th MP Bde (Airborne) APO AE 09342

3a. NAME OF ACCUSEP (Last, First, MI) b. GRADE c. SSN d. ORGANIZATION e. DATE OF CHARGES|
i HHC, 16th MP Rde (Airborne),
Ambuh}, Megan M. E-4 Victory Base, Irag, APO AE 09342 | 20 March 2004
(Check appropriate answer) YES | NO
4. IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 32, UCMJ, AND R.C.M. 405, MANUAL FOR COURTS- MARTIAL,
| HAVE INVESTIGATEED THE CHARGES APPENDED HERET® (Exhibit 1) X
5. THEJACCUSED WAS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL (If not, $ee 9 below) X
6. COUNSEL WHO REPRESENTED THE ACCUSED WAS QUALIFIED UNDER R.C.M. 405{d}(2), 502(d) X
E OF DEFENSF COUNSEL (Last, First, M1) b. GRADE |8a. NAME OF ASS T DEFENSE COUNSEL (If any) b. GRADE
0-3
c. ORGANIZATION (If apipropriate

Region IX

c. ORGANIZATION (if appropriate)
Trial Defense Counsel, Tikrit Branch Office

(FOB Danger)

d. ADDRESS (if appropridte)
1101 15th ST, NW, Suite 202

Washington, D.C., 2

5

d. ADDRESS (If appropriate)

9. (To bd signed by accused if accused waives counsel. If accused doe

not sign, investigating officer will explain in detail in ltem 21.)

a. PLACH

b. DATE

HAVE BEEN INFORMED OF MY RIGHT TO BE REPRE?

CIVILIAN OR MILITARY COUNSEL OF MY CHOICE IF REA$

GAT|ION,

ONABLY AVAILABLE,

ENTED IN THIS INVESTIGATION BY COUNSEL,

INCLUDING MY RIGHT TO
| WAIVE MY RIGHT TO COUNSEL IN THIS INVESTI-

c. SIGNATURE OF ACCUBED

10. AT THE BEGINNING

OF THE INVESTIGATION } INFORMED]

THE ACCUSED QOF: (Check appropriate answer)

THE CHARGE(S) UNDER INVESTIGATION

THE IDENTITY OF THE ACCUSER

THE BIGHT AGAINST

SELF-INCRIMINATION UNDER ARTICIE 31

THE RURPOSE OF THE INVESTIGATION

<
m
w

NO

ESENT THROUGHOUT THE TAKING OF EVIDENCE

THE WITNESSES AND

OTHER EVIDENCE KNOWN TO ME WHICH | EXPECTED TO PRESENT

THE RIGHT TO CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES

THE HIGHT TO HAVE

AVAILABLE WITNESSES AND EVIDENICE PRESENTED

i THE RIGHT TO PRESENT ANYTHING IN DEFENSE, EXTENU

TION, OR MITIGATION

THE RIGHT TO MAKE

a
b

c

d.

e. THE RIGHT TO BE PR
f

9.

h

)

]

1

A SWORN OR UNSWORN STATEMENT, ORALLY OR IN WRITING

|

Ta. THE|/ACCUSED AND ACCUSED'S COUNSEL WERE PRESEI*T THROUGHOUT THE PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE (if the accused

or cqunsel were absent\during any part of the presentation of evide

nce, complete b below.)

X XXXXX’XXXXX

b. STATH THE CIRCUMS]

TANCES AND DESCRIBE THE PROCEE

PINGS CONDUCTED IN THE ABSENCE OF ACCUSED OR COUNSEL

NOTE:| If additional spa.

. |
cp is required for any item, enter the additionsl material In [tem 21 or on a separate sheet. ldentif:

any additional sheets to the form and add a note

h

'y such material with the proper numerical
in the appropriate item of the form: “See

and, itiappropriate, fetterad heading (£ ple; "7c”.) Securely attac
additional sheet."
JD FORM 457, AUG 84 - EDIT
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€

12a. THE FOLLOWING WITNESSES TESTIFIED «.«OER OATH| (Check appropriate answer)
NAME |(Last, First, MI) GRADE (If any) ORGANIZATION/ADDRESS (Whichever is appropriate) YES NO

{E-5 302nd MI Battalion

CW-2 CITF-7

E-9 418th MP Detachment

XXX | X

E6 CID, Ft. Jackson, S.C.

Please refer{to the attached Enclosure #1 | fo

-

hdditional |witnesses

b. THE[SUBSTANCE OF THE TESTIMONY OF THESE WITNESSES HAS BEEN REDUCED TO WRITING AND IS ATTACHED.

13a. THE FOLLOWING $TATEMENTS, DOCUMENTS, OR MATTERS WERE CONSIDERED; THE ACCUSED WAS PERMITTED TO
EXAMINE EACH.

DESCRIPTION OF {TEM [ LOCATION OF ORIGINAL (If not attached)
tion Exh 1-Sworn statement of SPﬁ

tion Exh 2-Swprn statement of SG”I'

ftion Exh 3-Swhm statement of SPC [

Prosecution Exh 4A thru 4R -20 photos from CID
CD
Prosecytion Exh 5-Sworn statement of PFC
Please refer to the attached Enclosure #2 |for dddmonal Exhibits from the Investigation
b. EACH {TEM CONSIDERED, OR A COPY OR RECITAL OF TI{'E SUBSTANCE OR NATURE THEREOF, IS ATTACHED X
14. THERE ARE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THAT THE ACCUSEL} WAS NOT MENTALLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OFFENSE(S) X
OR|NOT COMPETENT TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DEFENSY. (See R.C.M. 909, 916(k).)
15. THE DEFENSE DID [REQUEST OBJECTIONS TO BE NOTEQ IN THIS REPORT (If Yes, specify in ltem 21 below.) X
16. ALl ESSENTIAL W|TNESSES WILL BE AVAILABLE IN THE EVENT OF TRIAL X
17. THE CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS ARE {IN PROPER FORM X
18, REASONABLE GROUNDS EXIST TO BELIEVE THAT THE ACCUSED COMMITTED THE OFFENSE(S) ALLEGED X
19. | AM NOT AWARE|OF ANY GROUNDS WHICH WOULD QISQUALIFY ME FROM ACTING AS INVESTIGATING OFFICER. X
(See R.C.M. 405(d)(1}. 1
20. | RECOMMEND: ;
a. TRIAL BY ] SUMMARY {1 sPEgIAL B GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
b. OJ QTHER (Specify ig ltem 21 below)
21. REMARKS (Include| as necessary, explanation for any delays if} the investigation, and explanation for any "no" answers above.)
Enclosyre #1 - Continhation of DD Form 457 Block 12a
Enclosire #2 - Continpation of DD Form 457 Block 13a |
Enclosure #3 - Defende Counsel's Objections Prior to and During the ART 32 Investigation.
Enclosyre #4 - Reque}t for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
Enclosure #5 - 10 Concurrence on Request for Delay, UIS. v. SPC Ambuhl
Enclosyre #6 - Articld 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence - United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuht
Enclosyre #7 - Second Request for Delay - United Statesy. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
Enclosyre #8 - I0 Redommendation on 2nd Defense Reqllest for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
Enclosyre #9 - Approyal of of 2nd Request for Delay, Usjited States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
Enclosyre #10 - IO Determination on Trial Counsel's response to Defense Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence
Enclosyre #11 - Appointment as Article 32 Investigating Pfficer
Enclosyre #12 - Transcript of ART 32 Investigation US y} SPC Ambuh!
Enclosyre #13 -ART 32 Inve'stigating Officer's Findings nd Recommendations, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
Block #14 above, Def]did not present any grounds to shogv that the accused was not mentally responsible for the offenses.
22a. TYPED NAME OF INVESTIGATING OFFICER b, (;'!RADE c. ORGANIZATION
' ' HHC, 420th Engineer Brigade
104 APO AE 09391
d. SIGl e. DATE
7y 2ot
) PYEIMPPC V1.00
| 302377
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Enclosure #1 - CONTINUATION

OF DD FORM 457, BLOCK 12a

0-3 |
E-8
E-7

1.

3.

The following witnesses were Avérilable but invoked their rights

372 MP CO - invoked at last 32
372" MP CO - invoked at last 32
372" MP CO - invoked at last 32

CID Agents:

1. SA |
Chain of Command: |
1. 0-3
Additional Witnesses —

1. - 04
2. ' E-4 .
get to ART 32 Inv. but was unable
3. ; E-6
4. E-5 ¢
get to ART 32 Inv. but was unable
5. E-6 |
get tad ART 32 Inv. but was unable
6. E-5 |
get to ART 32 Inv. but was unable
7. E-4 |
get td ART:32 Inv. byt was unable ]
8. ' E-5 |
get ta AR but was unable :
9. " E-5
get to AR Inv. but was unable
10. E-4 |
get to ART 32 Inv. but was unable
11. ' E-6 |

get tof ART 32 Inv. but was unable

Military Intelligence Witnesses:

1. E-4
2. E-4
3. E-4
4. 0-6
Other; Witnesses:

1. 0-3

Enclosure

1, Witngss List for DD457 5 6 04

The following witnesses were Dei ared reasonably unavailable

10™ MP BN - Redeployed to the U.S.
372" MP CO - Redeployed to U.S.

320" MP BN - Kuwait
372" MP CO — LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to

o get to Baghdad.

- LSA Anaconda -invoked at prior 32
372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.
372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to

fo get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to

o get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.

372" MP CO - LSA Anaconda-Unit attempted to
o get to Baghdad.

325" MP BN - Redeployed to U.S.
-325" MP BN - Redeployed to U.S.
325" MP BN - Redeployed to U.S.

| 205" MI BDE - Redeployed to U.S.

Former Interrogation OIC - Redeployed to U.S.

Page 1 of 2
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2. 0-3  205™ MI BDE - Redeployed to U.S.

3. 0O-3  Ft. Sam Houston - Redeployed to U.S.

4, O-5 CJTF-7 - cannot locate

5. 0-4  Member of Australian forces - Redeployed to
Australia

Co-Accused:

1.— E-3 372 MP CO - Fort Bragg, awaiting court-martial

The following witnesses are co-accused, have invoked their rights and are
represented by counsel.

E-5 372" MP CO
E-6 372"'MP CO
E-4 372"MP CO
E-4 372"MP CO
E-4 372“MP CO

DAL

The following witnesses were requested by Defense Counsel and were available.
Defense Counsel decided during the Investigation to not call these witnesses and
they were therefore deemed reasonably unavailable.

Vigilant A, security detainee

- Vigilant A, security detainee

- Hard site, 6-B, criminal
Ganci 5, security detainee

- Ganci 8, security detainee

- Hard site 3-B, criminal

anci -1, security detainee

- Hard site 4-B, criminal
Unknown, released

- Unknown, released

Vigilant C, security detainee

Ganci 5, Unknown

Unknown, released

Ganci 8, security detainee

WA NA LD

Enclosure #1, Witness List for DD457 5 6 04 Page 20f2
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Enclosuré_#z - CONTINUATION OF DD FORM 457, BLOCK 13a

Prosecution Exhibit #6 — Sworn statement of SPCF
Prosecution Exhibit #7 — CD ROM of pictures and video clips
Prosecution Exhibit #8 — Sworn statement of SPC

Prosecution Exhibits #9A thru 90 — Sworn statements o! Eetamees at the Prison

Case File

Defense Exhibit A — ARTICLE 15-6 Investigation of the 800™ MP Brigade
Defense Exhibit B — Rebuttal of AR 15-6 for SF '
Defense Exhibit C — Rebuttal of AR 15-6 for 1S
Defense Exhibit D — Rebuttal of AR 15-6 fi
Defense Exhibit E - Sworn statement o

ENCLoS '60:#5—
Enclosure #2, Continuation of Exhibits Page 1 of 1 $/812004 11:22 mq O 3 8 O

ACLU-RDI 962 p.129
DOD 001280



Enclosure #3 — Defense Counsel’s Objections prior to and during the ART 32
nivestigation.

¢ The Defense objected to consideration by the IO of the following evidence. These
were published in Defense Counsel’s memorandum of 10 April, 2004,

S
o

1) Various Documents (From Detainee Medical Records, 372™ MP CO, Medical
Section, Abu Ghraib). The case file contains approximately 16 pages of assorted medical
décument$ obtained from Abu Ghraib. These documents do not purport to be connected

to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. Further, several of these records are dated
outside ofithe alleged time period of abuse and have no relevance to the charged offenses.

2) Detainee Medical Records (From the 372" MP CO, Medical Section, Abu Ghraib).
The case ﬁile contains approximately 30 pages of medical records that do not pertain to
any of the{alleged victims of the charged offenses. These records do not purport to have
é.ny conne%ction to SPC Ambuhl or the charges she is facing.

: !
3) Hard-cell Medical Log (From the 372" MP CO, Medical Section, Abu Ghraib). The
¢ase file cbntains approximately 48 pages of a medical log. These documents do not

purport toibe connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. These documents do
not go to gny element of any of the charged offenses.

hot purport to be connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. Further, a
significant number of these documents (49 pages) are outside the time period for the
charged offenses and are simply irrelevant to the pending Article 32(b) investigation.

5) Canvas Interview Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 140 canvas
interview worksheets that do not contain any pertinent information relevant to the
ongoing investigation. Consideration of this collective piece of evidence is prejudicial to
SPC Ambuhl. Any potential probative value does not outweigh the prejudice to the
soldier under M.R.E. 403.

6) Investiaéative Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 150 investigative
worksheets that do not contain any pertinent or relevant information regarding the
ongoing investigation, The investigative worksheets are not an exhibit to the CID report
and are irfelevant to the Article 32(b) investigation.

photographs and numerous digital video clips. The defense objects to the consideration
of the images unless the relevant images can be tied specifically to SPC Ambuhl. None
;ol’E the photographs were seized from SPC Ambuhl or from any electronic equipment
bq;longing to her. Consideration of the photographs as a group is highly prejudicial to
SPC Ambuhl. Ata minimum the Government should be required to establish some

"71 Phomjraphs & Video Clips. The case file contains several hundred digital

;1

Enclosure #3, DC Objections during ART 325 6 04 Page 1 of 2 5/6/2004 9:48 PM
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nexus betyveen SPC Ambuhl and the photographs the Government wishes to be
considered.

o DC had the following objections during the investigation.

1) Admittance of photos that do not apply specifically to the charges against SPC
Ambuhl. :
2} Consideration of statements from the detainees that have been released.
3) Consideration of the CD ROM and specifically those items not relative to the case
against SFC Ambuhl.
A

|

l
E #3, DC Objections during ART 32 5 6 04 Page 2 of 2 5/6/2004 9:48 PM 0 0 2 3 8 2
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Article 32 Transcript

U.S. v Ambuhl
The Article 32 Proceedings were called to order at 1002 hours, 1 May 2004, at Victory
Base, Iraq.

PERSONS P

RESENT

Investigating Officer
overnment Counsel

ssistant Government Counsel
jvilian Defense Counsel
ilitary Defense Counsel

Recorder

PERSONS ABSENT

None

The Government Counsel stated that sometime today, he would like for all parties
to review each packet to ensure all contents were the same.

The Defense| Counsel conducted a voire dire of the Investigating Officer, and
made no objgction to the Investigating Officer being detailed to the hearing.

Government Counsel stated that all parties understand that due to witness

location and|different ways testimony would be given, the proceedings may.not
run as normal.

he Investigating officer stated that this was a formal investigation and that he had been
etailed as the Article 32 Investigating Officer by order of Colonel
Commander, [16" Military Police Brigade (Airborne).

he investigating officer informed the accused that his sole function as the Article 32

investigating officer was to determine thoroughly and impartially all of the relevant facts
f the case, to weigh and evaluate those facts, and to determine the truth of the matters
tated in the charges.

He further stated that he would also consider the form of the charges and the type of
isposition that should be made in the case concerning the charges that have been
referred agajnst the accused. He stated that he would impartially evaluate and weigh
Il the evidence, examine all available witnesses, and give the accused and counsel full
pportunity to cross-examine any available witness.

| 10f 19 002383
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The Investiglating Officer advised the accused of her right to counsel.

The Accusej! stated the she would be represented by Mr.—

The Investigating Officer instructed Mr.-t_o fill out items on DD Form 457,
Investigating lOfﬁcer’s Report.

The Defense| Counsel waived the reading of the charges.

The Inve,‘stig'rting Officer notified the accused of her rights during the Article 32
Investigdtion.

The accuﬁ:ed stated that she understood her rights.

The Inve'stigkting Officer stated that the following witnesses would be present:

CW2 IMIR, CJTF-7
418" MP Det, (CLD)

A CO, 302d Mi BN, Germany

HHC, 16" MP BDE(ABN) (REAR), Fort Bragg, NC

The follo!win! exhibits were presented by the Government Counsel and admitted
into evidence as follows:

Prosecution Exhibit 1: Sworn Statements of SPC
Prosecution Exhibit 2: Sworn Statements of SGT
Prbsecution Exhibit 3: Sworn Statements of SPC
Prosecution Exhibit 4A — 4R: 18 photos; with objection; Defense Counsel
objected|to photos not pertaining to SPC Ambuhi

The AssiLta t Government Counsel stated that the witnesses from the 372d MP
CO, IocaTed t LSA Anaconda would probably not be here due to convoy
difficulty
|
The Govérnment Counsel made an Opening Statement.

The Defepse Counsel reserved his Opening Statement.

2 0f 19 002384
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SFC
sworn,

372d Military Police Company, was called as a witness,
and testified in substance as follows:

The witness|was informed of, and invoked his rights under Article 31, UCMJ, and
was excused.

, 372d Military Police Company, was called as a witness,

372d Military Police Company, was called as a witness,
sworn, and testified in substance as follows:

| was de d to Abu Ghraib Prison Iraq at the end of September 2003 until

Febr_ﬁary 2004; | left when my Battalion redeployed. | was the Systems Administrator
and ﬁoj an Spirit Operator for what was called the ICE Intelligence Center for the

Interrogators, | was assigned to a Ml Bn from Camp Victory, and worked with the
interrpgators tthat worked at Abu Ghraib. | worked in the center where the interrogators
prepared thejr reports and collected data and kept information.

The M persannel had to interact with MPs in order to do their interrogations. The MPs
would provide security, or be told by individual interrogators from Mi to alter diets or
sleep|of detajnees. The Interrogation teams were usually made up of a civilian
interrogator griinterpreter. They would give direction to the MPs.

| may know I?C Ambuhl, but | don’t recognize the name right now.

| do not kno i]ow Tier 1A and 1B is set up. | visited it once, and | was told that the real
bad guys|were there in individual cells.

I actuglly|sat in on one interrogation with SPman interrogator from Victory
Base| | was to interrogate a General, and | provided security.

To help with the interrogations, MP guards would play loud music, alter detainees’ diets
when|feeding MRE's and taking out certain items. They would alter detainees'’ sleep,

ACLU-RDI 962 p.134
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j
ruse dogs to i
t drive|around

t

| instryctign lik

ntimidate, pour water over them and put them in the back of HMMWVs and

Physﬁcal Training that was authorized would be push-ups, overhead arm clap,

e from a Drill Sergeant to a Recruit.

i | have not s

!
‘Ihea

en photos of abuse at Abu. My Chain of Command has not asked me if |

haveisegn any photos, nor have they told me to delete photos from hard drives. | have
only heatd of incidents from interrogators.

d of the incident involving SPC‘ I was told that he was too aggressive, and

1 was relieved| | do not know of any UCMJ action. He was placed in a more analytical
| role gt the ICE. SPC- was also relieved because she had a detainee stripped

{ naked and
]This appen:

' My Bde Cdr,
| everything th

;Iwo Id spy t

ade him walk back to his cell naked in the view of all the other prisoners.
a? in November or December 2003.

moved into the ICE; he was a LTC, and seemed pretty involved with
at went on until he was replaced by a MAJ

nat MI was in control of prison operations. The OPTEMPO was high. |

‘was the gystem administrator, and there were many requests for new accounts to be

i added to|the

.1 would spy t}

network. More and more personnel and prisoners would arrive.

hat there was pressure for the interrogators to produce info from the

|detainees. It was an overwhelming amount of detainees in the facility. There was no

dead ineftog

Irec Il my st
sitting at the

et detainees out of |nterrogat|ons

stement to CID when | talked of a convérsation with SPC- | was
DFAC and heard him and his peers talking about what the MPs did to the

‘detainees. Things like beating them up and using them as practice dummies and

' knocKing|the

m out.

11 had|just retyrned from leave, so this discussion was in December 2003.

iSomeong fro
‘stuff that|she
‘her becatise

m the Nevada National Guard, an older female soldier, told me of some
saw going on. She documented it, and her chain of command reprised
of it. She was afraid of her chain of command. She sent the

.documentatian to her relatives.

| spoke with a SPC

‘how ar;EI the detainees were ol the dogs. She described how a MP pretended to be a

'dog to s
witnesse

re

bout the MPs using dogs on the detainees. She said

the detainees. | don’t know what happened Cl ecause she

the incident. She is in the same unit as SPC and SPC They

-are all.in | Reserve Unit. She did take pictures of the facilities, but | do not know of her
.taking pigturgs of any detainees.

4 of 19 302386
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'

| did jot

report the abuse that | heard from others. | knew that some of the stuff was

‘authdrized, and did not need to be reported.

| talked to ong woman about it only being a matter of time before the abuse got out and

'an inyest

gation initiated. | spoke to at least everyone that | knew about how the place

LTC ad that statement after the Red Cross visited the prison
he tonditions. e Red Cross criticized the food, from what | remember. -

iwas poorly run. It was vei unorganized. The response | got that it was a lot worse

oldiers from my BN visiting from Camp Victory being trained on how to
nd secure prisoners. They were also trained on how to better use their

e detainees received blankets and clothing if the interrogators wanted
it. SPC Slagel had mentioned to me that they made them wear women's
f they cooperated, some would get an extra blanket.

s known to bang on the table, yell, scream, and maybe assaulited
ring interrogations in the booth. This was to not be discussed. It was kept
oy the individual interrogators.

zdge, the only thing that happened after the incidents was the team getting
ake reports after the interrogation. Nothing was said about not baniing on

ng was put out about not stripping detainees naked after the SP

Iso told me of two inmates that supposedly raped a child, and the MPs

them by making them get into all sorts of sexual positions.

il am vaguely familiar with interrogation techniques. | know the IROE. Putting inmates

'in sexual
ime to do

The diffe
surprised
‘this way,

‘The MPs
'deprive s

ACLU-RDI 962

posjtions naked would not be appropriate. | wouldn't do it if someone ordered
something like that; not even a CPT.

rent things | was told, | wondered if it was a joke for the guards. | wouldn't be
if the freed innocent prisoners retaliated against the prison after being treated
by helping to pinpoint locations in the prison for the mortar attacks.

were directed by the Ml personnel to play loud music, vary diets, limit MREs,
eep, and PT exhaustion.

p.136
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People got in
‘of the IRQE.

trouble for being too aggressive. Physical violence would be over the limit
It would not be authorized.

‘I would not hit someone to get them to soften up. Others shouldn't either. That would
not be a legal order. Putting a leash around someone’s neck, pretending to drag them
and taking a picture would not be authorized.

‘Taking pictures was forbidden. Personnel were placing pictures on the database, and |
was told to remove the pictures from the database. These were pictures of soldiers
'facmty just walking around. It was totally inappropriate to take pictures of
It|is inappropriate to take pictures of detainees naked in a pyramid. You
would no do his to soften them up. | don’t know of anythlng that would allow MPs to
'have detdinees masturbate to soften up for an.interrogation. This would not be allowed.
[Pictures ¢f this masturbation would be illegal also. Pictures of a detainee with his face
inext to another detainees genital area masturbating would also be unauthorized. This
Is not a technique used to soften someone up. | have never heard of any of these

'techmqu su

QUESTIONS

1 didn't report
authorized.
:using dogs to

Dragglng detai
in pyramids

1t was confus
Reservists wif
a shocking ex
QUESTIONS
1don't kn
counsele

i m)
perf,o_rma

nce.

of ttJ
ethe

‘Tf"e goal
‘piece tog

ortg
act

It was im
of terrori

We would gef
interrogating {

concerne%!. T

A

bw if

ed by MI.
BY THE INVESTIGATING OFFICER (AJ (D

the stuff that | heard, because | thought some of the things | heard was
'he dietary and sleep stuff was common knowledge within the ICE. MPs
scare detainees, | think was approved by our IROE.

nees with at leash, making detainees masturbate, and piling them naked
d taking pictures of it is not authorized.

ng the way the place was run. It was an important mission run by
o did not know what they were doing. They were just on their own. It was
perience.

BY THE DEFENSE COUNSEL (vir. (N

the MI personnel received efficiency reports; | got an NCOER, and |
soldiers. | guess the people above me were counseled on their

e interrogators was to get information, make diagrams of the info and
r theories or hypotheses of terrorist events that was going on.

int to get the information to prevent terrorist activity, and find perpetratdrs
ivity.

attacked at the prison. There was pressure to get results by effectively
he prisoners. If there were no results, then the supervisors would be
he goal was to get results.

002388
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- General Sarchez opened more facilities, and made things better. The place was
getting clearjed up. This was an incentive to get more information from the prisoners.

' QUESTIONS BY THE GOVERNMENT counskL (cPT I

Goals would|not justify committing a crime; it would be definitely possible for maybe the
civilian interrpgators to overlook that. They were not under any authority.

- General Sanchez never ordered anyone to commit crimes to get information. The

- Brigade, |Battalion, Company, and MI Commanders, never told anyone to commit crimes

tion.

to get int[:nrm
The facilfty in general, had no real authority base, other than LTC{JJJllf There were
no clear-cut guidelines. o

. There is no justification to have detainees masturbate, piled in pyramids naked, or be
- pulled by leashes. The conditions might lead some people to act inappropriately. The
' people who act inappropriately should be punished.

-1 know that there is a separate facility for women and children. There are more than
terrorists) and security detainees at the prison. Some people were living there. The
raids woulld round up people that were just in the area and probably innocent. If a
prisoner was being kept for robbing an Iraqi bank, | wouldn’t know about it.

ither side having anything further, the witness was warned not to discuss
imo y with anyone other than the parties present, and permanently

The Article 32 proceeding recessed at 1149, 1 May 2004,

The Article 32 proceeding reconvened at 1203, 1 May 2004, with all parties
present. :

IMIR, CJTF-7, was called as a witness, sworn, and testified
in substance as follows:

| organize and process reporting by Iraqi information collectors. | am a 351E,
Interrogations Technician. Prior to my current job, | was at the JIDC at Abu Ghraib from
September 2003 until January 2004. | was reassigned when my unit left. | was asked

“to stay. '

.1 am famjliar with the layout of the prison. The largest camp is Ganci; it holds security
detainees primarily, next is Vigilant, it holds detainees of informational interest; and then
-there is the Hard Site; it holds detainees of Ml interest, females and juveniles,
_problematic detainees from the other camps, like rioters, or crazy detainees.

002389
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Tier 1A and 1B holds persons of Ml interest. | do not know anything about what type of
training the MP guards would have received at Tier 1A and 1B.

" In January 2004, we ceased to bring problematic detainees into the Hard Site, because

they created|a chaotic environment. The FOB Commander ordered this change. They
- were troyiblemakers. | recall one who would rip up his mattress and relieve himself right
“on the floor of his cell; another would sling their feces at the guards.

-1 don’t knpow 'f:"the MP guards received any special type of training.

-1 worked|in the Operations section of the JIDC. We accounted for the detainees, and
~answered questions from CJTF-7. We tracked requirements and assessments of the
. detainees. Leaders would gather the information from the sections, The ICE NCOIC
-was SF and the OIC was CPﬂ | don’t recall seeing any suspense

. dates. We were short staffed; we requested for more personnel, and we got more
“personnegl.

I think there was interaction with MPs and MI personnel. SPC was a
liaison, and would attend the FOB BUB daily. The personnel from each section would
. disseminate the info obtained from the BUB.

I know SPC Ambuhl; she worked in Tier 1, and she is here today. |don’t remember

i when | fitst met her, but | had a almost daily professional interaction with her. She

- would provide updates on who was present or not. | don’t know how long she worked at
.the prisop. §he observed juvenile and female detainees. She had interaction with
‘them; she helped move them from cell to interrogation wing.

| don’t knjow |s she received any training on how to interrogating prisoners. We did have
~a conversgatign about supplies and Iraqi food for the detainees. We once talked about

‘rewarding detainees that helped clean and do tasks, with cigarettes, because they loved
_to smoke.

.| was the| “old Operations expert”, everyone would just ask me stuff.

I remember a discussion with her about problem detainees; it was about reducing the
-environment that caused them to misbehave. Some of the detainees were cooperative
-and othefs were not.

—

There were d few approved interrogation techniques; for example, prod and go down —
when youy speék down to someone to get them to cooperate.

I do not know of any SPC [ <now SP(Fhe was an analyst that worked in
the ICE shop; | understand that he was removed because of a situation when a
‘detainee was stripped naked.
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was also involved in this same incident and was moved to my section
‘after she was| relieved from her duties. | asked her why she was moved, but | did not
ask her what she did. | do not know if SPC{ifjfjJffor SPC [jijjJilfreceived any ucMJ.

§We had mandatory IROE training and implemented a mandatory sign out procedure.
Al MI pefisonnel attended this training.

I heard about| a riot at Ganci. | do not know of any punishment after they were moved to
ite.| | hope that they were segregated and silenced.

EEmbarra sment of the Arab culture would be contrary to producing results, in my

ome of our most effective means to communicate is to just develop a rapport.
Il do not know if the MPs were trained on the Arab culture.

uhl would help move the prisoners from their cells to the interrogation wing or
picked them up. The interrogator would ask for the prisoners they needed.

uhlwould cross-reference and tell which cell the prisoner was in, and she :
ilitate; the move.

Sleep de rivation would be documented in an interrogation plan. It is a separate book
from other filgs.

!I never had apy problems with SPC Ambuhl.

QUESTIONS|BY THE GOVERNMENT COUNSEL (cPT IIIIF

?The Hard| Site has problematic detainees in 1A and 1B. The rest of the Hard Site
!houses Iragi corrections prisoners, such as robbers, and thieves. The CPA is in charge

‘;)f the rest of the hard site, 2A, 2B, and so on. 1A and 1B contained security detainees
for M|, femalgs, and juveniles.

!Ganci contairled people possibly gathered from raids. There are many camps in Ganci,
INo one from Ganci has any interrogation value. Someone removed from a riot would

not be interrogated. If detainees in Ganci could not be controlled, then they would be
moved.

§Our priority w?s to get information to stop the IED attacks, terrorist activity, and crimes
lgainst the Cpalition.

Every detainee was inprocessed and assessed. After the screening, they were
determined tq be of value or not value to MI. These reports went to CJTF-7.
| am a trajned interrogator. | finished my training in 1990; and | have been an
interrogator fgr 14 years. MPs would do the sleep management plan, it was requested
bf MI. Gegneral Sanchez would have to approve speaking to someone about something
that would make them upset. An MP could not just do this on his own.

00241
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| | am fanjiliar|with the Geneva Conventions. We treated them the same as POWs; we _
| treated them with dignity and respect. Anything outside of that required approval.

| No MPs attehded our training. MPs did not attend our Geneva training. The IROE is
classified and located at the JIDC. ‘

The worst criminals were to be treated with dignity and respect.

| never saw SPC Ambuhl treat anyone without dignity and respect. She would help us
with the female detainees. She was nice and pleasant. She knew the difference
betweeniright and wrong, and what dignity and respect was. | saw her treat people with

nd respect. | assume she was a guard; she took direction from the Shift NCO,
|CPLUE or ssei

1 There is nothing in the IROE that allows stripping detainees naked. There are times
| when they are naked for strip-searching. Detainees being piled in a pyramid naked, or
d|to masturbate has no Ml or military purpose.

I've seer| a handful of photos of the pyramid. That type of interrogation “plan” would not
' have made it to General Sanchez for approval; it would not have made it past me.

‘ Forcing detalnees to masturbate kneeling in front of one another would be outside of the
| bounds. | Placing a leash around a detainee’s neck would be out of bounds.

| All of these gcts would be criminal 6ffenses. If | were ordered to do these acts, | would
' not carry|them out. Embarrassment as a technique would be contradictory to achieving
. results. -

[ Government Counsel shows the witness Prosecution Exhibit 4A.

f This looks like 1A or 1B. | recognize the metal doors. SPC Ambuhl is in this picture. |
have segn the other female around, but | do not know her name. 1 do not recognize the
: detainee|on the “leash”. This scene serves no military purpose; it is inappropriate.

 Interrogators| would not tell MPs to do this. | have never seen SPC Ambuhl do anything
like this. '

| QUESTIONS BY THE INVESTIGATING OFFICER (MAJ [EENIEIN

The rest pf the Hard Site Tiers housed, as | understood it, Iragi criminals; some |
thought were| actually sentenced and serving prison terms. '
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QUESTIONS BY THE DEFENSE COUNSEL (Mr. Volzer)

A “uncla?siﬁead ‘ description of the general requirements would be: who's attacking us-,

some imminent attacks-, where is the WMD-, what do you know about terrorist

vere generated from the information obtained from the detainees interrogated.
eveloped the reporting requirement.

pplel would interview or interrogate a detainee, depends on the detainee.

i nat“fear up” or belittle someone without approval. MI would tell the MPs to
detainees more receptive. It depended on the environment; a detainee may
i to another area, monitored for interaction, told to keep quiet and not interact

with others, with proper documentation, put on dietary management, and possibly be

arettes.

These were effective techniques were used by Mi and required approval. Removing a

r other item required approval.

Saying M| personnel are aggressive is an unfair statement. Some are, and some are
not. | an a former grunt. 11B and 11C grunts are aggressive too.

rogation techniques used are taught.

Mi does ot gwn the detainees. The sleep management procedure was directed by Mi
to the MHs ta supervise and report at the end of the day.

After someorie is interrogated, doesn’t mean they could leave the prison. There may be
more intgrestiin keeping them.

as not authorized. We had a few that were loud with the detainees.

sp cial reaction team at the Vigilant camp once. Sometimes handling a
quietly works better and is more effective. If one technique is working, we
to s¢rutinize that technique. Its not one of those “ not broke don't fix it’

scenarios. \/'Ie do continue to develop rapport.

There was a sign in sheet in the beginning; it is kept with the NCOIC of each tier. The

ntefrogation plans are classified and kept in the ICE log. Detainee files are

QUESTIONS| BY THE INTVESTIGATING OFFICER (VA NN

To prod gnd gé down is a technique, such as getting a captured officer, making therh
tired, and calling them a coward.
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You exploit how they were captured and use it to your advantage. An example of fear

up would be, “okay, as long as you don't cooperate, you will just stay in here”. Approval
is need for these two techniques.

With neither side having anything further, the witness was warned not to discuss

ony with anyone other than the parties present, and permanently

The Article 32 proceeding recessed at 1315, 1 May 2004.

The Article 32 proceeding reconvened at 1412, 1 May 2004, with all parties
present.

SGM

» 418" MP Det (CLD), was called as a witness, sworn, and
testified

in substance as follows:
QUESTI(DN% BY THE DEFENSE COUNSEL (cPT [IIIF

| first arrived to Iraq 1 February 2004. My mission was to work a BLD/CLD versus a
EPW migsion. CLD is Camp Liaison Detachment; BLD is Brigade. The 16" MP BDE
(ABN) gdve us our mission. We replaced the 381% BLD. There were no EPWs, except
for a handfuljat Camp Bucca. We took on the detainee operations role.

The definition of detainee and EPW is in the Geneva Convention, Article 4.

Our missjon falls under the 16™ MP BDE (ABN). | have not aware of allegations of
abuse and mjstreatment of detainees. | have heard of the rumors.

I don’t knjow hat training was given in the past; | am aware that training is going on
now. There are 30 corrections personnel from Fort Knox, Fort Leavenworth here to

train soldjers|at the prison. There is training on the Arab culture, ROE, and the Geneva
Conventipns.

I visit the|pri ! n often. | am aware of the prison breakdown; 1A and 1B houses MI
holds, felma%o’s and juveniles. Juveniles were moved recently. The Hard Site is fairly

secure. Normally, females would be separated. We use the Geneva Convention as a
guideline, |

Changes are:going on in Ganci and Vigilant to make conditions safer for the detainees.
The 16" MP BDE (ABN) is refining policies, and SOPs.

| do not Know of the officer involvement prior; but COL -frequently visits the
prison.
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We have MRs and M personnel in the inprocessing center at the prison. | do not know
of any cross lover training. When we made our assessment, we noted that the nutrition
and sanitatign conditions were not within the Geneva Convention.

I do not know if the Geneva Conventions was followed before the 16" MP BDE (ABN)
arrived.’ It is|being followed now. There are weigh ins, and the meals are nutritional.

The Geneva|Gonvention recommends that female detainees be guarded and searched
by female MPs. '

When a detdinee arrives, they are assessed and inprocessed within 72 hours. | do not
know of any SOPs being left behind or given to the 372d MP CO. '

We at the BLD look at the prison from a Geneva Convention standpoint. We ensure
that prisgners are treated properly, and that environmental conditions are correct.

The 372¢ MP CO was previously at Mosul. | am not aware of anyone else performing
the prisoh mission before them.

We brought our regulations and documentation with us. | have walked throughout the
compour)d and had casual conversations with the soldiers. We have a big switch of
OIF1 and OIF 2 personnel.

With neither side having anything further, the witness was warned not to discuss
his testimony with anyone other than the parties present, and permanently

The Article 32 proceeding recessed at 1435, 1 May 2004.

The Article 32 proceeding reconvened at 1459, 1 May 2004, with all parties
present.

U. S. Army CID, Fort Jackson, SC, was called as a witness,
nd testified telephonically in substance as follows:

sworn,
QUESTIONS BY THE DEFENSE COUNSEL (CPT [N

| first became involved in the detainee abuse case when we received a anonymous
letter ang cd-rom containing pictures. In the preliminary stage of the investigation, | was
the case manager. | left in February 2004. Our CID detachment was located at Abu

Ghraib; we were three agents conducting interviews of prisoners. We also had three
translators. |’

In order tp find out who the detainees were that were abuse, we obtained logs of the

prisoners that were in the isolation wing at the time of 7November and a couple of other
days. !
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Initially, the person who came forward with the letter and cd-rom provided the names of
the mainjpersons involved. This was SPC he went through the pictures with us
and identified the military personnet! involved. He identified the majority of the
personnel, ahd knew who they were. Others, he did not know. We interviewed every
single Mll and military personne! that worked in the prison; we sent numerous requests
istance to other CID offices worldwide to interview all other persons that were

i believe SPC came forward because he knew this stuff was wrong, and that CPL
ould go back to work in the isolation wing and continue the abuse. He wanted
ne abuse to stop. He received the pictures approximately one week before he came
forward. |He was weighing his conscience, and decided to do the right thing.

| think se erél people suspected abuse but did not report it. 1 don’'t know the status of
any UCMJ agalnst anyone. CID does not recommend what action be taken against
subjects four investigations. We just gather facts; the chain of command decides

what to do. We briefed the Company and Battalion commanders about our progress
during th m\Vestlgatlon

| remember my interview with SGT- he was interviewed twice. He lied in his first
statement, and told the truth in his second statement; admitting to stepping, stomping,
and jumpging on the detainees.

the abus were CPL SS and SG The ones taking pictures
were SP Ambuhl PF and another | cannot recall. These names are based
on thein erwews and who was there.

After talkjng with the detainees and iersonnel, the names of the main perpetrators of

| recall the dqtamees mentioning SPC Ambuhl; they would refer to her as Miss Megan.
| can't regall if she helped a detainee by giving him an inhaler.

When | interviewed a detainee, | explained why | was there, and just gave them a pen
and a swprn statement form in Arabic or English; and they would write what they knew
about the mcidents Their statements were later translated. If something wasn't clear,
we had fo|lovy up questions. If they did not know someone’s name, they were told to
just describe that person using as much detail as possible.

| remember SGT (i Jbut not his statement. | remember ssGlllonce being a

suspect; thdught he observed the abuse; he was later cleared of any wrongdoing.
This was|all based on our interviews of the personnel that were there.

SFC*&S | remember was not involved. It became apparent through the course
of the investigation, that the nightshift-- SPC Ambuhl, CPL sseh PFC

14 of 19 002396

1
)

ACLU-RDI 962 p.145
DOD 001296



anJ on occasion SPC- would do these acts after SFC -had left;
and afte the'; chain of command had changed shifts and gone home. It became clear to
me that they knew that SFC would not tolerate these acts. There was one
incident wheh 'SFC as on the upper tier w an incident and ordered them
to stop immediately; | believe he observed SGT tepping on a detainee. They
were shdcked .at how angry he was when he told them to stop. 1 don’t believe that SFC
reported that incident.

I have ng recoliection of SGT{JJilff acain. | spoke with several hundred personnel.

és identified as one of the people in the photos, but | don't recall his
e never came forward to report any misconduct to the CID office.
were MI soldiers identified in one of the photographs.

| am not sure of any UCMJ action pending on anyone, | left Iraq in February 2004, and
until very| recently, | did not know of anyone pending any UCMJ action. | turned the
investigation lover to SA’# | don’t know if he did any follow up interviews.
We gave the!15-6 Investigation Staff a copy of our case file; we also provided the
photos and statements we gathered.

I do not recall a SGT-again, I spoke with hundreds of personnel. Our main -
purpose was,to identify the personnel in the photos; we also wanted to find out if Ml told
the MPs 1o do these acts. If so, we wanted to know who told them: that's why we
interviewgd everyone. No one said do this to that person, or anything specific. Our
second purpose was to have the most thorough investigation that we could. We wanted
to talk with each and every person mentioned in the interviews.

Most of the interrogators did not wear nametags. You knew who they were, if you knew
them. We would figure out who was working, and interview all the handlers,
interrogators| and guards.

| do not recall if there are any civilians involved in the investigation; several people were
interviewed.

| rememk We listed someone as a subject if there was reasonable
belief that they committed a crime. The investigative file is a working document, and the
status of jpersonnel involved may change. Like when SSG-vas listed as a subject,
and later|taken off of the status report.

1 .
There aré humerous things involved when determining if someone is derelict in their
duty; if they inform their chain of command, then they are not derelict in my mind, and
the way the YCMJ puts it, as | know.

No one repoﬂted any abuse up until January 15, 2004, to CID; however, there was one
individua whb reported the abuse to his chain of command—his NCOIC.
|
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The NCOIC then went to SSCYJJJJJfto report the abuse; and because ssG
gs the perpetrator in this incident, it did not go anywhere. The individual that
reported|it did the right thing.

Had SPG Ambuhl reported the abuse to SFC- she woul ubject of the
investigation, It would be different if she had reported it to SS lamnota
hisiwas an ongoing incident. The NCOIC that reported the incident to SSG

| l#elieve, did not report it to anyone else. When he reported to SSG
he did not know that SSG was the perpetrator.

I do not fecall interviewing SPCIJJJifr sPc
and pendingja few requests for assistance. You can a
credible nfof:mation becomes known.

The investigation. is still open,
d and remove subjects as

I worked|at Abu from October 2003 to February 2004; | would visit the Hard Site at leas
once ofr E:lwic a week. We would interview suspects of crimes against U.S. Forces, or
individuals who knew of deaths of U.S. Forces. On occasion, | visited with CPT [l
in tier 1ajand 1B. 1 had no involvement with the Red Cross.

| heard of a 'eceased individual that was being stored at the facility, but | don’t know the
specifics C)I r focus was lIraqis committing crimes against U.S. soldiers.

investigation; There were a lot of people to be interviewed. They were initially
investigating lhostile fire incidents. It was a higher priority to work the logistics of this
case.

Based ovE ou'r proXimity and the amount of time, the 12" CID came over to help with the

I had no jntetaction with SPC Ambubhl; | would see her when | went to the Hard Site. |
did not see her commit any abuse. | only went there during the day in the morning; the
alleged abusF happened in the evening or nighttime.

I never saw t}me detainees do any PT. | believe a SPC qor someone else hung
a detainee in handcuffs for over six hours. | don’t recall SPC Ambuhl letting the -

detainee dovtn.

I don't regall if | interviewed PFC- I read every document when | was there, but
I cannot remember any statements that she made. | do not remember if she changed
her storigs; she may have. There were a lot of people and documents in this case.

|

We do c%i'mirial record checks on our subjects. | believe PF received an
Article 1

forla improper relationship with CPI.— | believe C as
admonished, and they were told to stay away from each other. | don't remember if CPL

as recommended to take anger management by his commander.

When | in
instance,

terviewed the detainees, | did not provide any names. | would not ask, for
“‘Did CP hit you?"—1 would simply ask “Were you in the isolation
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wing-- and what happened when you were there?” We wanted a clear and unbiased

environment|

| don't knjow
were tolq to 1
interviewed

in some

f they wore their BDU Tops while in the isolation wing. | don't know if they
not use their first names; or to even use fake names. The MI personnel |
rever told me they told the MPs what to do to the prisoners.

of the incidents, some of the detainees being abused were not actively

schedulgd for interrogation. They were rioters. This appeared to me as just retaliation

against the r

oters. The riots were in separate camps.

We interviewed all of the M personnel. No one admitted to telling the MPs to soften up

any deta
Convention.

nees; if they had, they would have been violating the UCMJ and the Geneva

No one ever admitted to “good job, keep doing what you are doing”.

very specific interrogation plan. 1t detailed things they could and could not
interviewed said they were abused during an interrogation. | am not
Mt investigation.

There was a?solutely no evidence that the Ml or MP chain of command authorized any

present by s¢

| do not reca

maltreatment. These individuals were acting on their own. The photos |
totality of our interviews, show that certain individuals were just having fun
se of the prisoners. Taking pictures of sexual positions, the assaults, and
that nature were done simply because they could. It all happened after

ar instilled in the prisoners after these incidents may have been a benefit,

pme of the detainees during the abuse.

I her present at the riot incident. Our investigation did not determine her

aﬂny abuse; nor did it determine that she stopped the abuse or reported the

If he described a tall white female with

ernber a statement fromq ]
green eyes named Miss Megan, he would be talking about SPC Ambuhl. | did not give

the detainee

|
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| told them t9 use the names if they knew them, and to describe what happened. “Miss
Mya” wolild also be SPC Ambuhl. In the Arab dialect, they have a hard time
pronouncing|{Megan, and end up saying Mya.

QUESTIONS BY THE DEFENSE COUNSEL (CPT (NN

FOB Commander. We did not collect any of this evidence; none of it pertained to our
investigation| We reviewed cds and media as requested by the chain of command.
The commaryder had access to the amnesty boxes; it entirely a command function. }
The commander would have kept ali the other contraband. We returned the stuff we
reviewed to the chain of command to be destroyed.

There W}S ah amnesty period during the course of our investigation, ordered by the

The detaineg statements were transiated. stated that all the guards were good
except for S$G

CP_and SG , as | specifically recall. He also
said that|despite all the abuse, he realized that the majority of U.S. soldiers did not
abuse detainges. He only pointed out SGTiiiijjJfffand CPL 2busing him.

With neither side having anything further, the witness was warned not to discuss his
testimony with anyone other than the parties present, and permanently excused.

The Article 32 proceeding recessed at 1608, 1 May 2004.

The Arti¢le 32 proceeding reconvened at 1617, 1 May 2004, with all parties
present. ‘ '

HC 16™ MP BDE (ABN) (REAR), Fort Bragg, NC, SC, was
called as a sworn, and testified telephonically in substance as follows:

The witness|was read her Article 31 rights; she acknowledged and understood
them, and stated that she would participate in the proceedings without a lawyer.
Upon digcugsion wit all parties present, the Defense Team decided that they did
not wish to question PF

The Artigle 32 proceeding recessed at 1640, 1 May 2004.
The Artigle 32 proceeding reconvened at 1643, 1 May 2004, with all parties
present.

The follawing exhibits were presented by the Government Counsel and admittéd
into evidence as follows:

Prosecution Exhibit 5: Sworn Statements of PFC
Prpsecution Exhibit 6: Sworn Statement of SP

002400

18 of 19

ACLU-RDI 962 p.149
DOD 001300



The Article 32 proceeding recessed at 1643, 1 May 2004.

The Article 32 proceeding reconvened at 0713, 3 May 2004, with all parties
present pxcept for the Assistant Government Counsel.

The Government Counsel asked that the members of the 372d MP CO be declared
unavailable since they could not make their convoy to Victory Base.

The following exhibits were presented by the Government Counsel and admitted
into evidence as follows:

P osecutlon Exhibit 7: CD Rom containing photos and video clips; with
objection; the Defense objects to photos that do not pertain to SPC Ambuhl’s

Prosecution Exhibit 8: Sworn Statement of SPC_
Prosecution Exhibit 9A - 90(oscar): Sworn Statement of detainees; with

; the Defense objects to the statements of detainees that have been

THE GOVERNMENT RESTS

The foll wmg exhibits were presented by the Defense Counsel and admitted mto
evidenc as follows:

Défense Exhibit A: 15-6 Investigation of 800" MP Bde
Defense Exhibit B: Rebuttal to 15-6, by SFC
D fense Exhibit C: Rebuttal to 15-6 by 1SG
Défense Exhibit D: Rebuttal to 15-6 by CP
Defense Exhibit E: Sworn Statement of CP

THE DERENSE RESTS
The Goverm%nent Counsel made a closing statement.
The Def¢ hsé Counsel made a closing statement.

The Artigle 32 proceeding adjourned at 0814, 3 May 2004.
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HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE
Victory Base, IRAQ
. APO AE 09342

EPLY TO
[TTENTION OF

| DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
|
|

AFRC-CAR'EBA-LG 8§ MAY 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJE(QT: Ai\fticle 32(b) Investigating Officer’s Findings and Recommendations, United States
v. SPC Megdn M. Ambuhl

1. On 24 March 2004, I was appointed as an investigating officer (I0) pursuant to the Uniform
Codg of Military Justice (UCMI), Article 32, to investigate the charges noted below against
Specjalist Megan M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), Victory Base, Iraq APO AE
09342. 'Ifhe charges preferred were:

. Charge I: ART 81 Conspiracy

. Charge II: ART 92 Dereliction of Duty

. Charge III: ART 93 Cruelty and Maltreatment

. Cgharge IV: ART 134 Indecent Acts with Another

2. During tﬁe conduct of the investigation, there were two delays granted. Both were attributed
to the defense. The first was a 15-day request to allow defense adequate time to prepare for
the ART 32 investigation. The second delay was an 1 1-day request to allow for a civilian

se counsel to travel to Victory Base for the ART 32 investigation and to prepare for the

inves tiga:tion.

3. Upo Acorinpletion of the investigation and consideration of all evidence presented during the
investigation (as noted in block 13a of DD Form 457 and Enclosure #2), I have the following
findings fegarding the charges against Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl.

=

C;harge I: Violation of UCMYJ, Atticle 81, Conspiracy
' i. The Specification: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, did; at or
near Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 23

October 2003 conspire and enter into an agreement with SSG SGT
PL PC-SPCi.nd PF commit an
offense under UCMJ, Maltreatment of subordinates, and did effect the object

of the conspiracy when she participated in a photograph with PFC
who tied a leash around the neck of a detainee and led the detainee down the
corridor with the leash around his neck. (See PE 4A thru 4D, PE 5)

ii.  Ibelieve that the evidence presented shows that reasonable grounds exist to
believe that the accused committed this offense.

N Cosure 3
T U02402
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SUBJECT: Article 32(b) Investigating Officer’s Findings and Recommendatlons, United States

v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

iii. Strengths-The Trial Counsel presented evidence to show that SPC Ambuhl
entered into an agreement with the co-accused to maltreat a detainee and then
performed the overt act by proceeding downstairs with the co accused to pull
the detainee from the cell, place a tie down strap around his neck and then
participate in a picture with PFC-as she held the leash.

. Charge II: Violation of UCMI, Article 92, Dereliction of Duty
T i. The Specification: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, who
knew of her duties as a Military Police soldier at or near Baghdad Central
Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, from on or about 20 October 2003 to
on or about 1 December 2003, was derelict in the performance of those duties
in that she willfully failed to protect Iraqi detainees from abuse, cruelty and
maltreatment, as it was her duty to do. (See PE 3, PE 4A thru 4D, PE 5)

ii. Ibelieve that the evidence presented shows that reasonable grounds exist to
believe that the accused committed this offense.

iii. Strengths-Trial counsel presented compelling evidence to show that SPC
Ambuhl had a duty as an MP and as the NCOIC of 1B to oversee and protect
those housed at BCCF. It is reasonable to expect that SPC Ambuhl would
have known those duties by virtue of her MOS and of being a U.S. Soldier.
Finally, she was willfully derelict in those duties when she did not protect
those detainees under her control.

¢. Charge III: Violation of UCMIJ, Article 93, Cruelty and Maltreatment

i. The Specification: In that SPC Megan Ambuhl, U.S. Army, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8
November 2003, did maltreat several Iraqi detainees, persons subject to her
orders, by watching naked detainees in a pyramid of human bodies.

ii. Ido not believe that the evidence presented shows reasonable grounds exist to
believe that the accused committed this offense.

iii. Weaknesses-There is no contention that element 1 of this charge has been met.
I do believe that Trial Counsel failed to present adequate evidence to meet the
second element of this charge. SPC Ambuhl was present as the pyramid was
built but aside from showing that she was present, Trial Counsel did not
present evidence that SPC Ambuhl carried out any act of cruelty or
maltreatment other than being present at the building of the pyramid.

d. Charge IV: Violation of UCM]J, Article 134, Indecent Acts with Another

i. The Specification: In that SPC Megan Ambuhl, U.S. Army, did, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8
November 2003, wrongfully commit an indecent act with Iragi detainees, SSG

F CPL SPCt- PF(- by observing a group of
etainees masturbating, or attempting to masturbate, while they were located

" i I3
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SUBJECT: Article 32(b) Investigating Officer’s Findings and Recommendations, United States
v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
in a public corridor of the Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, with other
soldiers who photographed or watched the detainees’ actions.

ii. Ido not believe that the evidence presented shows reasonable grounds exist to
believe that the accused commitied this offense.

ili. Weaknesses-Of the three elements of this charge, I believe that Trial counsel
failed to provide adequate evidence to show that elements #1 and #2 were met.
SPC Ambuhl was present when the detainees were forced to masturbate but
Trial counsel failed to provide evidence that she played any role, other than
being present, in the perpetuation of the act itself. I do feel that element #3
was proven adequately as SPC Ambuhl being present was prejudice to good
order and discipline and certainly brings discredit upon the armed forces.

4. After review of all evidence presented and completion of the Article 32 Investigation, it is my
recommendation that Charges I and II against Specialist Megan Ambuhl be referred to a
General Court Martial. I further recommend that Trial Counsel provide additional evidence
to show that the elements listed above as not met, were indeed met if they intend to proceed
with charges ITl and IV.

5. POC for this memorandum is MAJ— at- _ ' " or by

phone at DNVT/DSN 559l
MAJ, EN
Article 32 Investigating Officer
#13 Inveatigating Officers Memorandum of Findings § 8 04 pege 3 Of 3 5/872004 11:19 AM
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE

APO AE 00302
REPLY 70
ATTENTION OF:
AETV-BGJA-TDS 29 March 2004
MEMORANDUM FOR MAJ mcle 32 Investigating Officer, Headquarters, 420"
Engineer Brigade, Victory Bas&, " 9342

SUBJECT: Request for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuh!

1. The defense requests a delay in the Article 32(b) hearing currently scheduled for 5 April 2004, The earliest
available date for the defense to go forward with the Article 32 will be 20 April 2004. The defense requires
this delay for th_e following reasons.

a. Defense counsel received the preferral packet on 26 March 2004. The packet contains several hundred
pages of evidence and statements. The packet also contains a CD Rom with over 1,000 visual depictions.
Counsel and SPC Ambuh! both must have ample time to conduct an even preliminary review of the evidence.

b. Defense counsel is located at FOB Danger in Tikrit and is reliant on military convoys or MILAIR to get
to Victory Base. Defense counsel met with SPC Ambuhl on 26 March 2004 but requires at least two
additional meetings with the client simply to prepare for the Article 32. These trips require significant
advanced planning and coordination due to travel limitation in the Iraqi Theater.

¢. The defense cannot reasonably be prepared to represent SPC Ambuh! at the Article 32 hearing by 5
April 2004. An unprepared counsel is tantamount to no counsel at all. U,S, v, Miro, 22 M.J. 509 (USACMR
1986). The delay is necessary for the defense counsel to reasonably prepare for the Article 32 hearing.
Counsel needs time to interview witnesses, coordinate with civilian defense counsel, if any, and otherwise

prepare for the hearing which includes 5 charged co-accused, several uncharged potential co-accused,
voluminous documents and alleged victim statements in Farsi or Arabic.

d. SPC Ambuhl has considered hiring a civilian attorney. Granting the requested delay will allow the
soldier to exercise her right to counsel and to explore avenues to hire a civilian attorney and ensure his or her
presence for the Article 32(b) hearing,

e. Granting the reduesled delay will allow the government and the defense to explore a possible alternate
disposition of this case.

f. Defense counsel is one of only two defense attorneys deployed to serve the entire 1* Infantry Division.
In addition to representation of courts-martial clients, counsel is responsible for serving the needs of clients
throughout a dozen geographically diverse FOBs in Iraq. Granting the requested delay will allow counsel to
schisdule coverage for these areas and to prioritize trial defense counsel requirements.

2. The requested delay is attributable to the defense. If I may be of further assistance in this matter, please
contact me via email at . r by phone at DNVT: 55-

CPT, JA
Trial Defense Counsel
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MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, 16 Military Police Brigade (Airborne),
Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Request for Delay

1. In the case of U.S. vs SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), the
Defense has submitted the attached request for delay until 20 April 2004.

2. The Article 32 was initially scheduled for 5 April 2004. Defense counsel
received the case file on 26 March 2004, and is based FOB Danger in Tikrit.
Defense needs more time to meet with its client and go over the entire case file.

3. SPC Ambuhl is also considering hiring a civilian attorney.

4. The Trial Counsel recommends approval of the delay as requested by
defense.

5. | concur with both counsel and recommend that the request for delay be
approved.

6. The POC for this memo is the undersigned at 559-

Encl -

as MAJ, EN
' Investigating Officer
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE
APO AE 09392

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF:

AETV-BGJA-TDS 10 April 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR MAJ Charles Ransome, Article 32 Investigating Officer, Headquarters,
420" Engineer Brigade, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence ~ United States v. SPC
Megan M. Ambuhl

1. The Defense requests that the following witnesses be produced at the Article 32 investigative
hearing scheduled for 20 April 2004, IAW with Rules for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 405(£)(9) and
405(g):

a. CID Agents

i._Special Agent [} 10" MP BN, Baghdad, fraq, APO AE 09335,
Agent* testimony is relevant because he interviewed numerous alleged victims and made
several visits to the Abu Ghraib prison facility during the period of the alleged offenses. Agent
also interviewed several alleged co-conspirators. :

ii. Special Agent 10" MP BN, Baghdad, Iraq, APO AE 09335.
Agent testimony is relevant because she interviewed several of the alleged victims and
actively investigated the allegations in this case.

b. Iraqi Detainees

The Defense requests a certified interpreter to translate the testimony of the Iraqi detainee
witnesses. The testimony of these witnesses is extremely relevant. These individuals may have
potentially exculpatory information. The Defense has limited if any access to them based on
their current status. For that reason, the Defense requests that the government produce the listed
detainees to testify at the Article 32(b) Investigation. IAW R.C.M. 405(g)(4)(A) the Defense
objects to consideration of the Sworn Statements of the listed alleged victims and Iraqi detainees.
Such statements may not be considered by the IO over the objection of the Defense. All alleged
victims and detainees reside at Abu Ghraib Prison in Abu Ghraib, Iraq. They are as follows:
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AETV-BGJA-TDS
SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuh!

¢. Chain of Command — 372" MP Company

i. CPT former Company Commander

6 ) CPT can testify as to the training provided to his unit,
qpemﬁcally any trammg regarding detention facilities, CPT an testify as to his
knowledge of the alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If necessary, the defense requests

immunity for this witness to testify.

ii. CPT _former Platoon Leader
(G ~ ) CPT -can testify as to the training given to reserve
MPs, s eclﬁcally the tralnlng regarding detention facilities and control of detainees. CPT
can testify as to his knowledge of the alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If
necessary, the defense requests immunity for this witness to testify.

iii. MSG -former Company 1SG

) ) As the senior enlisted member of the 372" MP Company, 1SG
can testify as to the training given to his MPs. He can testify as to his knowledge of the
alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If necessary, the defense requests immunity for this
witness to testify.

"~ iv. SFC . former Platoon Sergeant
(.upervised many of the co-accused at Abu Ghraib.,
e conducted spot-checks of the facility, specifically cell blocks la and 1b. SFC-

witnessed at least one of the charges to which SPC Ambuhl is facing court-martial. He can
provide exculpatory testimony for SPC Ambuhl. His testimony is highly relevant and critical to
this case. If necessary, the defense requests immunity for this witness to testify.

d. Co-Accused — 372" MP Company

i. SGT
ii. PFC
iii. SSG
iv. CPL
v. SPC
vi. SP
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AETV-BGJA-TDS ’ .
SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

e. Additional Witnesses — 372" MP Company

i. MAJ [ forme: S-3 for the 320" MP Battalion
a7 . )Asthe S-3MAJ -vas responsible for drafting and
disseminating ROE guidance. The ROE and any training received by the 372nd MPs are
extremely relevant to Charge I

ii. SPC

") SPC -irst reported the alleied offenses to CID. His

E;édii)ility and motivation afe highly relevant. Further, SPC ay provided exculpatory
testimony regarding SPC Ambuhl. ‘

i sso

iv, SGT
was the operations NCOIC of Abu Ghraib
during the time frame of the charged offenses. He will testify that he never witnessed any abuse

taking place at the prison.

. v. SSG
was the Force Protection NCO of Abu Ghraib
uring the time frame ol he charged offenses. He can testify as to the day-to-day operations of

Abu Ghraib and what procedures were in place on cell blocks 1b for interacting with detainees.

vi. SGT , ,
: T ) SGT pent time at blocks 1a and 1b during October,

Nbverhber, and December 2003. SGT orked at 1a on evenings when CPL as

not working, He can provided testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and to
training that he and his unit received.

vii. SPC .
) Schvorked on the same block as SPC
mbuhl. She can testify as to the nature of detainees that were held on 1b and as to the types of

training received by her reserved unit. She can testify as to the interaction between the MI
representatives and the MP guards.

viii. SGT
worked at block 1a during October, November,
and December 2003. He worked at 1a on evenings when CPL Graner was not working. He can
provided testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and to training that he and his

unit received. He can testify as to the general nature of detainees that were held on block 1a and
the procedures that MI used for interrogation.
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

. soT I

_ . ) SGT orked at block 1a during October, November, and

December 2003, He can provided testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and to
training that he and his unit received. He can testify as to the general nature of detainees that
were held on block 1a and the procedures that MI used for interrogation. He will also testify to
the lack of any standard procedure or accountability at Abu Ghraib.

X. SPC|

v

) SPC -vorked at block 1a during October, November,

and December 2003 He can provided testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and

to training that he and his unit received. He can testify as to the general nature of detainees that
were held on block 1a and the procedures that MI used for interrogation.

~xi. 88G
B ) SSG. can testify as to the procedures used on the cell blocks
and to training that he and his unit received. He will also testify to the lack of any standard
procedure or accountability at Abu Ghraib.

f. Military Intelligence Witnesses

25" MI Battalion
25" MI Battalion
25™ MI Battalion

i. SPC
ii. SP
iii. SPC

02" MI Battalion

. ill testify that members of his chain of
‘commanditold him to delete Abu Ghraib photos off of his computer hard drive prior to the CID
investigatl on.

iv. SG

v. |[CW2 formerly assigned to 325" MI Battalion

i ) 1) cw2 as an MI Interrogator that worked daily at Abu
Ghraib at plocks 1a and 1b. CW testify about authorized MI interrogation
techniques. CW2 can testify as to the interaction and coordination between the MI

interrogators and the MP guards. CW. as been transferred to the CPA in Baghdad.

vif por — 205" MI Brigade
- COL-wﬂl testify as to his knowledge of allegations of

abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Sep 03 and 22 Dec 03. In command during
the time of the alleged offenses, COL -knowledge of misconduct at Abu Ghraib and the
chain-of-commands response to such allegations is highly relevant.

ACLU-RDI 962 p.159

002410

DOD 001310



AETV-BGJA-TDS
SUBJ ITCI‘ : Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

g| Other Witnesses ‘ !

i. CPT —former Intcrrogatwn OIC, DNVT: 559
) CPT b a Mxluarr Intelligence officer, is familiar with the

Camp Vigilant SOP and can testify as to CJTF-7 policies regarding Interrogation Rules of
Engagement for detainees at Abu Ghraib.

ii. CPT 205™ MI Brigade Operational Law, DNVT: 559-{ P

. CPT -was the legal ladvisor for the MI Group who ran Abu
Ghraib prison. CPT can testify to the procedurgs put mto place for dealing with detainees
and the training that was taught to the members of the 372" MP Company for their work at the
facility. CPTPvisited Abu Ghraib during the relevant time period and can testify to the

conditions at the facility.

|
) Ft. Sam Houston

PT -was one of several attorneys who provided
advice on detainee operatlons and ROE at Abu Ghranb

iv. SGM- 418" MP Detachm}mt

' !
N - . - .

, CJTF-7, BIAP, B{ghdad Iraq

i LTC -111 testify as to his knowledge of allegations of
abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Eiep 03 and 22 Dec 03.

il CPT

iii. LTC

iv. MAJ CITF-7
LTC masked MAJ o respond to mqulltxles by the ICRC during the fall of 2003.

When called to tesufy he can explain the ICRC inquiries and testify as to his response on behalf
of CJTF-7.

2. If the Eovemment contends that any Defense rcqucsted witness is not reasonably available
under R.C.M. 405(g), the Defense requests that you make a determination under R.C.M.
405(g)(2). Your determination should be made after'the Government explains on the record the
specific efforts made to locate and contact the witnesses and after consultation with your legal
advisor as to whether or not the witness is reasonably available. If deemed reasonably
unavailable, the Defense requests that a specific factual reason be stated on the record.

l
3. The DefenSe requests that the following documenxs and evidence be produced to the Defense
at the Article 32 hearihg, IAW with R.C.M. 405(ﬂ(1?) and 405(g)(1)(B)

made by a law enforcgment agency relevant to this investigation to include the Agent Activity

a. All copies of (ID reports (including 28s), mi‘ytary police reports, or any other reports
Reports and the Agent Activity Summaries compiled by the following investigators:

5
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SUBJECT: rArticle 32 Re

uest for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

i. SA
ii. SA
iti. SA
iv, SA
v. SA
vi, SA
vii. SA
viii. SA
ix. SA
X. SA

xi. SA
xii. SA
xiii. S
xiv. SA
“Xv. SA
xvi. SAl
xvii. S
xviii, S
Xix. SA
xx. SA

I
b. All evidence seized from the crime scene or any related evidence be present or made
available for inspection by the Defense and the Investigating Officer including but not limited to
any evidence seized as a result of the CID searches conducted throughout this investigation;

¢. Any and all ROE/RUF guidance established by 372" MP Company from October 2003 to
the present; '

d. Any and all OPORDs that pertain to the Abu Ghraib mission to include the ROE/RUF
card then in effect;

e. Training records for SPC Megan Ambul and the co-accused;

f. Complete medical records for the Iraqi detainees listed in paragraph 1b of this
Memorandum,;

g. Any and all unit level and/or IG complaints regarding the treatment of Abu Ghraib
detainees lodged against any solider assigned to the 372™ MP Company, the 800™ MP Brigade,
the 205" MI Company, the 325™ MI Battalion, or the 20™ MI Brigade;

h. A complete copy of the unit counseling files to include any records of nonjudicial
punishment or administrative action for the following soldiers:

i. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl viii. SSG!

ii. SGT ix. CPL
iii. SP x. SPC
iv. SPC xi. SPC

v. SGT
vi. SSG
vii. PFC

xii. SG
xiii. SPC
xiv, SPC

i. Copies of any relief-in-place (RIP) schedules or training schedules between the 72™¢ MP
Company(Las Vegas, Nevada) and the 372™ MP Company, to include any OPORDERs;

6
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AETV-BGJA-TDS
SUBJECT: Article 32 Re({uest for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M, Ambuhl

j- A copy of the final CID case file with exhibits, of case number 0005-04-CID149, as
referenced in the AIR of SA -dated 22 Jan 04, regarding a K-9 incident at Abu Ghraib;

. k. Copies of the two Working Papers referenced by BG Karpinski in her 24" Dec 03 letter to
Ms. -ICRC Protection Coordinator;

1. Copies of the ICRC reports dated Oct 03 and Dec 03 obtained by CID from CW4 -
ias referenced in SA -AIR, dated 5 Feb 04;

m. Copies of the official detainee file (as referenced in para. 3-4 of the Camp Vigilant
Operations Procedures SOP (draft)) of the detainees listed in para. 1b of this Memoradum. Ata
minimum, the defense requests the name, detainee sequence number, capture number, capture
date and crime charged with or suspected of for the detainees listed in para. 1b of this
Memorandum;

n A bcopy of the “Behavior Modification Plan” as referenced in para. 3-12 of the SOP;
0. A copy of the draft of Chapter 4 as referenced on pages 9-10 of the SOP;,

p- A copy of the parallel AR 15-6 Investigation concerning the charged offenses and the
actions and conduct of the leadership of the 372° MP Company and the 800" MP Brigade (to
include, any documents maintained by the AR 15-6 Officer to include his or her appointment
memorandum);

q. Copies of any Press Releases or PAO information disseminated by the command
regarding the charges faced by SPC Ambuhl and her co-accused, to include documents drafted by
the Office of the Staff Judge Advocate for release;

r. Copies of any administrative action, relief-for-cause documents, letters of reprimand, and
OERs/NCOER:s for the members of the commands of 372" MP Company and 800" MP
Battalion who were in command from October 2003 through March 2004;

s. Copies of any SIGACTS, FRAGOs, OPORDERsS, or other similar documents related to
the ICRC visits to Abu Ghraib from October to December 2003; '

t. Copies of any documents obtained or produced by MAJ- as a result of his response
by CJTF-7 to allegations of abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Sep 03 and 22
Dec 03; ‘

u. Copies of all documents, including documents of UCMYJ or administrative action,
regarding 3 soldiers from the 519" who ordered a female detainee to strip as referenced by CPT
n the preferral packet;
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

v. Copies of all documents, including documents of UCMYJ or administrative action,
regarding the ‘Spence Incident,’ as referenced by CW?2 —n the preferral
packet;

w. Copiesiof all documents, including documents of UCMYJ or admigistrative action, from
the August 2003 incident where 2 or 3 soldiers were disciplined by LTC fier a CID
investigation into abuse, as referenced by MA- JIDC, MI, Operations Officer, as
referenced in tihc preferral packet;

x. Copies pf all negative counselings, UCMJ records, and records of administrative action
regarding the following soldiers from 4" Platoon, 372" MP Company: SPC (P SPC

seCEP 5°C (DS R S> O 55

y. Copies pf all work schedules maintained by the 372" MP Company or higher
headquarters showing which soldiers were scheduled to work which shifts at cell blocks 1a arid
1b during October, November and December 2003;

2. The Defense reserves the right to ask for additional evidence, as it becomes known during
the Article 32 jnvestigation.

4. If the Government contends that any Defense requested evidence relevant to this case is not
reasonably avdilable under R.C.M. 405(g), the Defense requests that you make a determination
under R.C.M 405(g)(2). This determination should be made after the Government counsel
explains on th¢ record the specific efforts made to locate and produce the evidence and
consultation with your legal advisor as to whether the evidence is reasonably available.

5. The Defense objects to consideration by the IO of the following evidence:

a. Various Documents (From Detainee Medical Records, 372" Mp CO, Medical Section,

Abu Ghraib). The case file contains approximately 16 pages of assorted medical documents
obtained from Abu Ghraib. These documents do not purport to be connected to any alleged
victims or to SPC Ambuhl. Further, several of these records are dated outside of the alleged time
period of abuse and have no relevance to the charged offenses.

b. Detainee Medical Records (From the 372" MP CO, Medical Section. Abu Ghraib). The
case file contains approximately 30 pages of medical records that do not pertain to any of the
alleged victims of the charged offenses. These records do not purport to have any connection to
SPC Ambuhl or the charges she is facing.

¢. Hard-cell Medical Log (From the 372™ MP CO, Medical Section, Abu Ghraib). The case
file contains approximately 48 pages of a medical log. These documents do not purport to be
connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. These documents do not £0 to any element
of any of the charged offenses.

8
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

d. TrLatment Logs (From B Company, 109" Area Support Medical Battalion, BIAP). The
case file contains approximately 61 pages of treatment logs. These documents do not purport to
be connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl, Further, a significant number of these
documents (49 pages) are outside the time period for the charged offenses and are simply
irrelevant to the pending Article 32(b) investigation.

e. Canvas Interview Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 140 canvas interview
worksheets that do not contain any pertinent information relevant to the ongoing investigation.
Consideration of this collective piece of evidence is prejudicial to SPC Ambuhl. Any potential
probative value does not outweigh the prejudice to the soldier under M.R E. 403,

f. Investigative Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 150 investigative
worksheets that do not contain any pertinent or relevant information regarding the ongoing
investigation. The investigative worksheets are not an exhibit to the CID report and are
irrelevant to the Article 32(b) investigation.

g. Photographs & Video Clips. The case file contains several hundred digital photographs
and numerous digital video clips. The defense objects to the consideration of the images unless
the relevant images can be tied specifically to SPC Ambuhl. None of the photographs were
seized from SPC Ambuhl or from any electronic equipment belonging to her. Consideration of
the photographs as a group is highly prejudicial to SPC Ambuhl. At a minimum the Government
should be required to establish some nexus between SPC Ambuhl and the photographs the
Government wishes to be considered.

6. The Defenisc expresses the following additional concerns regarding the Article 32 pretrial
investigation in this case:

a. Receiptiof Legal Advice. The defense specifically requests that the 10 make all
determinations on questions of law after referring to R.C.M. 405, DA Pam 27-17, and based on
" advice from yfour legal advisor. As per DA Pam 27-17, para.1-2e, SPC Ambuhl and defense
counsel are entitled to be informed of any legal advice received by the IO and the opportunity to
reply to that legal advice. The Defense proposes that both parties be present during receipt of
legal advice, t'hat you restate the legal advice on the record, and that both parties be given the
opportunity td fespond to that advice before you make a determination on a question of law.

|
b. Marking Evidence. For record purposes, the Defense requests that you have the reporter
mark each piece of evidence received and catalog the evidence. Please do not admit the “packet”

as part of the tecord. This will prevent the parties and you from determining which evidence has
been objected‘to and ruled upon.

¢. Delivery of Report to Defense Counsel. The Defense requests that the convening authority
direct delivery of your report to the Defense Counsel instead of SPC Ambuhl. See, R.CM.
405(j)(3). Toleffect this delivery, I ask that you state my request in your report, and request that
f 9
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v AETV-BGJA-TDS : '
SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

the report be delivered with a personal certification and date annotation so that the Defense may
comment on the report within five (5) days allocated UP R.C.M. 405 (j)(4). Defense counsel and
SPC Ambuhl are located in different physical jurisdictions and service upon SPC Ambuhl can
not be considered the same as service on Defense Counsel.

d. Verbatim Testimony. The Defense requests a verbatim transcript of the testimony presented
during the Article 32 hearing. Alternatively, and IAW R.C.M. 405(h) and its applicable
discussion, the Defense requests that each witness swear to the truth of his or her testimony, after
it is reduced to writing.

7. If1 may be of further assistance in this matter, please contact me via email at

__ iorby DNVT phone at: 553- or 55 3-

//original signed//

CPT,
Trial Defense Counsel

10
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VOL II of III
* ... ORIGINAL COPY
V'EIRBA'I'ZI:M1 o '

RECORD OF TRIAL?

! (and accompanying papers)

OF
. AMBUHL, Megan M. , - (U i Specialist
(NAME: Last, First Middle Initial) (Social Security Number) 7 ' (Rank)
HHC, 16th MP Bde (ABN) . ‘
IIT CO£2 US Army Victory Base, Iraq
(unit’Commsnd Name) ’ (Branch of Service)

(Station or Ship)

BY :
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL

CONVENED BY COMMANDING GENERAIL
(Title of Convening Authority)

- Headquarters, III Corxps
(Unit/Command of Convening Authority)

TRIED AT

Victory Base, Irag/Mannheim ON
- (Place’or Places of Trial)

11, 23 and 25 August 2004
(Date or Dates of Trial)

COMPANION CASES:

SGT
SSG
SPC
SPC
SPC
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R 2B
PFC ’ m
B & =n®
X = =M
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" Insert "verbatim" or summarized" as appropriate. (This form will be used by thc Army and Navy for verbatim records of trial only.)
* See inside back cover for instructions as to preparation and arrangement.

DD FORM 490, OCT 84 Previous editions are obsolete.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY i HTEN I a® N
HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE ‘ )
LSA ANACONDA R Il Al
CEPLy o APO AE 09302-1344 coql et e
ATTENTION OF BUlIders in Battle!
AFRC-CAR-EBA-LG 20 APR 04
MEMORANDUM FOR—Trial,,:Defense Counsel, Tikrit Branch
Office, Region IX ¥ :

' SUBJECT: 2" Request for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
1. Ihave reviewed Defense Counsel’s 2™ request for a delay in the Article 32(b) investigation-
scheduled for 20 April 2004 with as agreed to a delay from
- the scheduled date of 20 April 2004 to 1 May, 200

2. The Article 32(b) session in the case of U.S. vs Ambuhl will be rescheduled for 1 May 2004
at a time to be determined.

3. This delay is attributable to the defense.

4, POC for this m i idum 1s—a ~ o y.mil or by phone at

DNVT 302 55

Article 32 Invesﬁigating Oﬁcer
X . " »

i Ld
L %

*\; e AR ¢

'3%_ R 'L |
i‘g
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE
LSA ANACONDA :
APO AE 09302-1344

REPLY TO

AFRC-CAR-EBA-LG -~ 19APR 04

MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, 16 Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Victory Base, Iraq
APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: 2™ Defense Request for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

1.

ATTENTION OF ' BUIIderS in Batﬂe’

In the case of U.S. vs SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), the Defense has |

submitted the attached 2™ request for delay in the ART 32 investigation to 20 May, 2004.

The Article 32 was initially scheduled for 5 Apnl 2004. Defense Counsel was granted a
request for delay to 20 April 2004,

SPC Ambuhl has retained a civilian attorney and is requesting this second delay to allow him
to travel to Iraq to attend and prepare for the investigation.

Trial counsel recommends approval of a 7-10 day delay from 20 April or no later than 1 May
2004,

As the investigating officer, 1 recommend al0 day delay as a reasonable delay and ask that
you approve Defense Counsel’s request for a 2™ delay for a period of 10 days.

POC for this memorandum is at ¢ L .______.orbyphone at
DNVT 537 '

Article 32 Investigating Officer
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE
APO AE 09392

REPLYTO
ATTENTION OF:

AETV-BGJA-TDS _ ' 19 April 2004

. MEMORANDUM FORGISMENE, Articlc 32 Investigating Officer, Headquarters, 420"
Engineer Brigade, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342
SUBJECT: Second Request for Delay -- United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
1. As previously requested by e-mail on 18 April 2004, the defense requests a delay in the Article 32(b)
hearing currently scheduled for 20 April 2004, The defense requests a delay until approximately 20-May

2004, for the following reasons:

a. On 18 April 2004, .Tria] Defense Counsel was notified formally that SPC Ambuhl obtained civilian

counse g SN,

b. unes not have a copy of the preferral packet or copies of any evidence in this case.

c- maintains a law practice in Washington, D.C. and has not yet finalized the extensive
coordination to travel to Iraq to represent SPC Ambuhl.

2. Further, the goverhment has indicated that the majority of witnesses the defense has requested to testify-at
the Article 32 hearing are physically unavailable. Granting a delay will allow for continued efforts to produce
the requested defense witnesses at the Article 32 hearing.

3. The requested delay is attributable to the defense. If I may be of further assistance in this matter, please
contact me via email at ’ >t by phone at DNVT;: 553G

/foriginal signed//

Trial Defense Counsel
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Enclosure #10 - 10 Determination on Trial Counsel’s Response to Defense Request

for Witnesses and Production of Evidence

Please review my comments noted below in Underlined, italicized font. These are
based upon my determinations after consultation with the 10 legal advisor, LTC Black,

ART 32 Investigating Officer

Black, non-italicized font is Trial Counsel’s response to the Defense Request for
Witnesses and Production of Evidence.

Available

1.- invoked at last 32 If the government contends they do not intend to grant

this witness immunity, then it is the government’s prerogative. A letter or telephone
cor, ndence from the DC o# should suffice as tod:vailabilitv.
E&- invoked at last 32 If the government contends they do not intend to grant

this witness immunity, then it is the government's prerogative. A letter or telephone

correspondence from the DC o Ishould suffice as t availability.
5_* invoked at last 32 _If the government contends they do not intend to grant

this witness immunity, then it is the government’s prerogative. A letter or telephone
correspondence from the DC o should suffice as to availability.
4.*

s -

Declare unavailable outside 100 miles This language applies to all witnesses outside
of the 100 mile situs of the investigation: RCM 405 provides that a witness is
“reasonably available” if they are within 100 miles of the situs of the investigation and
their testimony_and personal appearance of the witness outweighs the difficulty,
expense, delay and effect on military operations of obtaining the witness.

CID Agents:

1. - Redeployed to the U.S. I feel that this individual may provide valuable

input to the investigation and as such, TC should take all means possible to contact this
individual and have them present for the investigation.

2. -- Redeployed to the U.S. 1 feel that this individual may provide valuable input

to the investigation and as such, TC should take all means possible to contact this
individual and have them present for the investigation.
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Chain of Command:

1, Redeployed to U.S. If the government contends they do not intend to grant
this witness immunity, then it is the government’s prerogative. A letter or telephone
correspondence from the DC oishould suffice as tgjvailabili_ty.

Additional Witnesses:

1 N — Kuwait It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

2. QW Kuwait/ Tallil DC stated that ay provide exculpatory testimon

regarding SPC Ambuhl. Please identify what is the nature of this exculpatory
evidence. .

3. @ Kuwait/Tallil -invoked at prior 32

4. - - Kuwait/Tallil It is my determination that this witness Is not reasonably
available.

5.~- Kuwait/ Tallil 1t is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

6. - Kuwait/ Tallil It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably

available.
7.- Kuwait/ Tallil It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

8. QI - Kuwait/ Tallil It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available. '

9.'Kuwait / Tallil It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

10. P Kuwait /Tallil 1t is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

11, P Kuwait / Tallil It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

Military Intelligence Witnesses:

o

1. Pﬁedep]oyed to U.S. No reason has been given why these witnesses are
critical to the investigation.
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2.- Redeployed to U.S. No reason has been given why these witnesses are critical
fo the investigation,

3.- Redeployed to U.S. No reason has been given why these witnesses are critical
Lo the investigation.

4. - cannot locate, will continue to check

5. -Redeployed to U.S. It is my determination that this witness is not
reasonably available.

Other Witnesses:

1. - Redeployed to U.S. It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available,

2, - Redeployed to U.S. It is my determination that this witness is not reasonably
available.

3. — - Redeployed to U.S. It is my determination that this witness is not
reasonably available,

4, - cannot locate, will continue to check

5. -f Redeployed to Australia
Co-Accused:

, 1—- Fort Bragg, awaiting court-martial I feel that this individual may provide
valuable input to the investigation and as such, TC should take all means possible to

contact this individual an_d have them present for the investigation.

Unavailable, co-accused, invoked rights and represented

1. letter or telephone correspondence from the DC o-lmuld suffice as
to availability. .

2. -kA letter or telephone correspondence from the DC o should
suffice as to availability.

3. letter or telephone correspondence from the DC of -MJ[@
as lo availability.

4, A letter or telephone correspondence from the DC o hould
suffice as to vailability.
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5. A letter or telephone correspondence from the DC o-should suffice as
to availability.

Detainee victims

For security reasons Detainees will not be brought to Victory Base. The government
requests that they be declared unavailable. If the IO deems them necessary, we will have
to arrange a portion of the hearing to take place at BCCF G lcase make
arrangements to either have the witnesses (Detainees 1-14 noted below) available to
testify vig phone conference or have a portion of the investigation at BCCF in order
that we can here their testimony.
wants this done in lieu of use of their sworn statements?

1._ Vigilant A, security detainee

2. — Vigilant A, security detainee

3. “Hard site, 6-B, criminal
4, —- Ganci 5, security detainee

5. — Ganﬁi 8, security detainee
6.— Hard site 3-B, criminal
7.— Ganci -1, secuﬁty detainee

8 "- Hard site 4-B, criminal

9 ~ Unknown, released
10.—}nknown, released

11. —- Vigilant C, security detainee

2. Y - G- 5. Unknown

13. —- Unknown, released

14, —-’ Ganci 8, security detainee

Documents

1. CID Reports - Already provided. Any further documents available at CID BCCF.
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2. Crime Scene Evidence - Already provided. Not aware of anything else at this time.

3. ROE RUF - Not aware of any.

4. OPORD:s - Not sure what she is requesting or what time frame. Not aware of any
Company OPORDS. CJTF-7 has thousands in total. They are classified and available on
the SIPR / Tacweb.

5. Training Records - Not aware of any at this time. We will provide records as soon as
they become available.

6. Detainegs Medical Records - Already provided in CID file. Not aware of any others.
If any they are available at BCCF,

7. 1G Complaints - Not aware of any.

8. Counseling Files - Already provided Graner's and England's file. We will provide
further records as they become available.

9. RIP Schedules - Not aware of any.

10. CID File 0005-04-CID149 - Available at CID BCCF.

11. Working Paper—- Will provide when available._-,_Ms_e

clarify what “when qvailable” means.

12. ICRC Reports - Already provided.

13. Official Detainee File - Not aware of any. If they exist, they will be available at
BCCF.

14. Behavior Modification Plan - If not classified, will provide when available.-
- please clarify what “when available” means.

15. Chapter 4 - If not classified, will provide when available.

16. AR 15-6 - Already provided.

17. PAO - Not aware of any press releases or written PAO dissemination for release.
18. Admin': Actions - None complete at this time.

19. SIGACTS - Not aware of any.
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20. - Docs - Not aware of any.

21. UCMJ, 3 soldiers 519th - Not aware of this action. (We will check.)

22. UCMJ (IR - Not aware of this action. (We will check.)

23. UCM]J Abuse - Not aware of this action. (We will check.)

24, Neiative Counseling - Not aware of any at this time. Will provide if available.-

lease clarify what “when available” means.

25. Work Schedules - Not aware of any at this time. Will provide if available.-
MM clarify what “when available” means.

Very respectfully,

F6th MP BDE (ABN)

Trial Counsel
302-588
AIRBORNE!
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REPLY 7O

AYTENTION OF:
AFZA-AP-GO » 24 March 2004
MEMORANDU I 420 Enginer Brigade, Victory Base,

Iraq, AP AE 003
SUBJECT: Appointrient as Artible 32 Investigating Offioer

1. You have been apmrrﬁad as £ mvestigat:ng efﬁcer (IO) pumuant to the Uniform

Code of.Mﬂfbary Justice (L Article 32,10 in investigate the sttached charges againist
i jei 1 M), Victory Base, Irag APO AE

fatival for Court-Maritsl: {2002),

you ara to

a ' Canducta 1homug
allegation(s) ‘

b. Com&ide‘f- the »‘rre'efﬁeﬁs of the ':féﬁﬁﬁf-!hé‘«chérgés* and

c. Make: recamenﬂaﬂans LRy tha dispoeitzan of the charges in the iriterest of
justice-and disciplme ‘

RIS

investigation. '

3. Yowr duties as an Arwicle sa imvastrgaﬁng officer takes Precedence over-any ef-your
other assigned: duﬂes 'Fhe faﬂmwing gwdanoe pertains 6 delays :

the defenge orthe. govemment cannot pmﬁe .' on the selesfed dafte, obiain a request
for delay, Inwriting, Fror the ¢ questing the'délay. Requests for delay should be

attaohed to the: repart of |ﬂVesi|gaf__ .
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ot S : Blhg
€ wiﬁh' ther panyauts:de formal sessions

§ 5. You should beuome_ -farn,iliarwﬁth-.the fmﬂewingréf’emnca materials/documents:

; a. Article-32, UCMJ. and R.C.M. 405, Manual for Courts-Martial, 2002 Edition
. b. DAPAM 2717, Pl

! {espetial '

! investigation.and the tight'

} accused)

¢. DD Form 458 m@e-smeb and-alied -aébumén‘w

6. The Article 32 Investigating Officar Promedural Gafde discusses in detail procedural
aspects from appointment to submission of the final repoit, Included in Appendix B is a
sample format for- noﬂﬂcatlon of the accused. A oopyof tha notiﬁcation should be sent
to theaoausedsunft'e imgpder to

) lﬁa 3hau Id be

sentto thatioo

1oy e,.appmpnate
trial- c_ounsel '
7. Youar e , atis not -
already re 6 & writien- sta , by appointed as
your adrninistrative ar Hlegs it Tor this case and will act as the reporter.
You can contact him:at DNV However, the Article 32 Investigation will be a

summarized transcript and riot verbatim,
2
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AFZA-AP»GO
SUBJECT: Appointment of Arti@la 32 lnvesugating Officer

8. Thewmp!at rep" rt_of'
with enciosiy

nvesti atmg ?fﬁcer’s Repart,
“ v .

"2 Encls. :
1. DD Form 458
2. Case Fite
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7. NANIE OF ACCUSED fLost, First, 7

' P 3. GAADE OR RANK | 4. PAY GRADE
i AMBUHL, K %g-an M. . e { _8PC E-4
= IE. DNIT OR ORGANIZATION i T 8 CURRENT SERVICE

Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade | & NTALDATE [ & Temw
(Aitbomne), Il Corps, Victory Base, iraq APO-AE 09342 '

28 Jan 02 8 years

7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF REBTRAINT OF ACCUSED | 5. DATE(S) INFOSED

3 BASIC b. SENFOREIGN DUTY | & TOTAL

1$1,638.30 | - $100.00  |$173830 |

T : S B CHARS:

10, CHARGE | VIDLATION OF THE UeN), ARTICLE. 8

THE SPECIFICATION: " In that Specialist Megan M. Ambubl, U.S. Army, did, at or near Baghdad
Central Correctional Facility,

u Ghraib, Irag, on or atiout 23 October 2003 conspire with Staff
Sergeant - Sergeant

Nope - _ NIA

1288

'O dustice, to wit: maltreatment of subordinates,
iracy the said Specialist Ambuhi did participate in a
ho tied a leash around the neck of a detainee and led
the leash around his neck.

Comumn arn . t IO ‘
and in order to effect the object of the
photograph with PFC

the detainee down the co

oda

cong

CHARGE II; VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 92

“ 1 THE SPECIFICATION: In that Speclalist Megan M. Ambuht, U.S.

at or near-Baghdad Central Corréctional Fadility, Abu Ghralb, Iraq, from.on or about 20 Ogtober
2003 to.on or about 1 December 2003, was derefict in the parformance of those duties in that she
willfully failed to protect iraqi detainees from abuse, cruelty and maltreatment, as it was her duty to
do.

Army, who knew, of her duties

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET)
1, PREFERRAL
h. GRADE < ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER

0-3 HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abnj APQ AE 09342
é. DATE
l D0 AAR T Y

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigried, authorized by {aw to administer oaths in cases of this character, -
personaily appsared the above: named:-accuserthis_ D% day of __yWimih L 200
and signed the faregoing charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a person subject to the Unfform
Code of Military Justice aind that he/she sither has personal kriowledge of or has investigated the matters set

forth thereln and-that the same are tiue to.the best of histher knowledge and belief.

HHC, XVilt Abn Corps
ma o Ce Orgasuzation of Officer
Q-3 Tnal Counsel
Grade

Offictal Capaeity to Adminjater Oath
{See RC.M. 307(%) - must be a commissionad officer)

. N\ . Stonefdre
DD FORM 458, MAY 2000

PREVIOUS EDITION 18 OBSOLETE.
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SN

12.

-On :10 MG\H’LI\ Q;Q“ »
the nams(s) of The. awuser(s) khmm me: (899 s

d

‘the: amused was informed of the:charges against him/her and of
.M. 308:(a)). (See R.C.:M, 308 notification cannot be made.)

__HHG, 18th MP Bidg (Abn) APQ AE 09342

“Organization of fmmed‘iafq'Cammandbr

13.

i goa at Hbadquaﬁers 16" Wilitary
' ﬁﬁnofccmmandor

Orficer Exerctaing Summaty Court-ieritet Junselition Bae FL.CM, 403
FOR THE !

Commanding
O?oial Cepacly oer 319.,’""’9”’
X J f

? e ol iy

1

T DATE [PVVYMMDD)

| Referred for tial o the " Gourd-martial convened by

, , silbject to the follawing Instructions: 2

. ) of
command o OIS
Typsd Narie of GMGeF ' Offfciar Capacily of Ofoer Sgning
Skinature
5.
On . 41 (caused to be) served a copy hisreof on {each of) the above named accused.
Typed Name ol Triat Counsel Grade or-Rank of Trial Counsel

: der slgns,persjp;mﬂy, ﬁwappmm words are stridken,
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CONTINUATION SHEET DD Forri 458, AMBUHL; Megan M., SPC,
HHC, 16th MP Bde (Abn), Ill Corps, Victory Base, iraq APC AE 09342

ltem 10 (continued)

CHARGE IM: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTIGLE 93 |
THE $PECJF!CAT|0N In. that Speccahst Megan M Ambuhi U.8. Army, ator near
Baghdad Ceritrat Correctional: Facility, Abu Ghraib, Irag, on or about 8 November. 2003,
did maltreat severatiragl detalneés, persons subject 6 her orders, by watching naked
detamees ina pyramid of human badies.

CHARGE IV: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 134

THE SPECIFICATION: n that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhi, U.S. Army, did, at or near
Baghdad Cervtral Corractional Facifity, A ib, Irag, ob. ot abaut 8 Navermiber 2003

wrongfully commit an indecent act with qxdewmﬁas Staff Serge ,ntm
5S¢ a‘.nd -)-nva ‘Firs!

Y GDSeving a grol ‘masturbating, or

bt lethey were | _ted ina pubhc corridor of the Baghdad
Central Correcnonal Facmfty with other soldiers who photographed or watched the
detainees’ actions.
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AFZA-AP-HHC

MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD

SUBJECT Service of Preferral of Charges inthe case of United States
M. Ambuh

. | hereby g’iknowiedge that the charges against.me were read and preferred
on this _ 297" day of __MaRCH cat el hours. Further, |
hereby: ackno_wledge receipt of said charge s‘heet(s) and allied papers,

2. Iurther un nd that | have an appeintment at Trial Defense Services,
ph: (302) 838 trailer B12, Camp Victory, lraq, at

» y - MEGAN M. AMBUHL
SF’C, usa

ey
w.
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OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF COURT
US ARMY JUDICIARY
ARLINGTON, VIRGINIA 22203-1837

THE RECORD OF TRIAL HAS BEEN REVIEWED FOR RELEASE UNDER THE
PROVISIONS OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT. THE DOCUMENTI[S]
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS HAVE BEEN REMOVED FROM THIS COPY OF

THE RECORD BECAUSE THE RELEASE WOULD BE IN VIOLATION OF THE DOD
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROGRAM, DOD 5400.7-R, EXEMPTION

(7)(C), 5 U.s.C. 552(b) (7)(C):

Criminal Investigation Report

Contents cannot be released outside the Department of the Army
without the approval of the Commander, United States Army
Criminal Investigation Command, Fort Belvoir, VA.
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OFFICE OF THE CLERK OF COURT
US ARMY JUDICIARY
ARLINGTON, VIRGINIA 22203-1837

THE RECORD OF TRIAL HAS BEEN REVIEWED FOR RELEASE UNDER THE
PROVISTIONS OF THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT. THE DOCUMENT[S]
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS HAS [HAVE] BEEN REMOVED FROM THIS COPY OF
THE RECORD BECAUSE THE RELEASE WOULD BE IN VIOLATION OF THE DOD
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROGRAM, DOD 5400.7-R, EXEMPTION 6 and
7(C) :

Article 15-6 Investigation of the 800" Military Police Brigade
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AFZA-AP-CO

MEMORANDUM FOR Investig

pting Officer, U.S. v SPC Ambuhl

SUBJECT: Dec%ision on Second Request for Delay

1. I have reviewed the enclose

d Defense Second Request for Delay in the case

of U.S. vs SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN).

2. ‘The request for delay

OR/‘% i
3. This sq’cond request fi

s disapproved.

or delay is approved, and the Article 32(b) session

in the case of U.S. vs Ambuhl will be rescheduled for 1 May 2004.

Encl
as

ACLU-RDI 962 p.187

Commanding

21 Ap 04
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REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF

AFRC-CAR-IBA-L

MEMORANIJUM §
Office, Regionf IX.
SUBJECT: 2" Requ

scheduled ffor 20

1. Thave rev‘}weid
the sched

2. The Articlg 32(b

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY

HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE
LSA ANACONDA

APO AE 09302-1344 L

XX
)

]

G 20 APR 04

oR (. :io! Defense Counsel, Tikrit Branch

est for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

Defense Counsel’s 2" request for a delay in the Article 32(b) investigation
April 2004 wi _ as agreed to a delay from

ed &;iare of 20 April 2004 to 1 May, 2004,

session in the case of U.S. vs Ambuhl will be rescheduled for 1 May 2004

at a time tq be determined.

3. This delaylis aﬁr butable to the defense.

4, POC for thJisn%aeiorﬁdum is_ at: L mil or by phone at

DNVT 302 55

//On'iinal Siﬁed//

Article 32 Investigating Officer

ACLU-RDI 962 p.188

Builders in Battle!
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AFRC-CAR-EBA-I]
MEMORAN
Office, Regio
SUBJECT: D

1.

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF

X

fense

I have reviewed
(TC), Defgnse C
21 April 2004 at
requested fhat S}
the meetinjg be h
CITF7. This mg

ueste;
, {SP(
rcfor

DC hasre
and as su
802 and

DC has re
prepared t
record of
taken and
surfaced.

ujeste
hold
e me
will {

Please rep
to DC. If fhis is
Investigatipn sch
POC for tljis me
DNVT 53}

i S

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE
LSA ANACONDA
APO AE 09302-1344

Bu:lders in 'l'3attlel

G 20 APR 04

uM foR NP T:io! Defense Counsel, Tikrit Branch

Request for Informal Meeting, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

Defense Counsel’s request for an informal meeting between Trial Counsel
ounsel (DC) and the Investigating Officer (I0). We have all agreed to meet
1400 hours at the Camp Victory Courthouse. Additionally, DC has

*C Ambuhl participate in the informal meeting and has also requested that
eld “On the Record”. I have discussed each request wit of
morandum serves to provide my decision upon these two requests.

d that SPC Ambuhl attend the informal meeting. This is an informal meeting
Ambuhl is not entitled to attend. This meeting will be similar to an R CM.
o only DC, TC and the IO are to be present.

i that the informal meeting be transcribed or placed “On the Record”. 1 am
this informal meeting as requested by DC although there will be no verbatim
eting published and no transcription taken. It is acceptable for notes to be
publish my decisions formally in writing for the record on issues that are

y to my attention by 1200 hours on 21 April 2004 whether or not this is acceptable

not acceptable, we will postpone this meeting until the ART 32(b)
eduled for 1 May, 2004.

. or by phone at

//Original Signed//

Article 32 Investigating Officer
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}
|
i

S r 7 -15th MP BDE SJA NCOIC

From:
Sent:
To:
Cc:
. ) BOSIIC,
CJTF7-OPLAW
Subject:

l

E= | |
[

Card for ' ]
@us W

I just got off the phone with
1 MAY 2004 for the ART 32 investigati
defense. I will follow up with a mem

MAJ, EN

$-4, 420th EN Brigade
DNVT .

"Let's Roll" 9-11-01

He has agreed to a delay to
n. This is attributable to the
stating this.

!
I
i
i
i
|
"The only thing necessary for the Triqmph of evil is for good men to do
nothing" - Edmund Burke (1729-1797) i

I

|

|

~~~~~ Original Message ---—-

From: W\lcmain .hq.c5.army.mil>
Date: Tuesday, April 20, 2004 20 am

!

Subject: RE: RE: Request for Delay '
]

1

Sir: i

Are you available at 1500 today;at the courthouse?

wants to go over some preliminaries las to availability of witnesses.
t

VR

16th MP BDE (ABN)

Trial Cogpus
302-588-
ATIRBORNE?

i
i
]
:
}
|
|
i
i
)
I
I
i
1
|
i

@us.army.mil [
Sent: Monday, April 19, 2004 7:31 PM

To: _ .mil
cc: QRN CUTi/-0PS OSJA;
M CPT CJTF7 1eMP; CJTF7-16th MP BDE SJA NCOIC;

R LTC CJTF7-OPLAW
Subject: Re: RE: Request for Delay

please forward the attached memos to Qi tfor his
review/approval.If we cannot gain his approval in time for
tomorrow's investigation, we must

be prepared to proceed as originally scheduled.

VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVVVVVYVVVVVY
m
H
o
3
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S-4, 420th EN Br
DNVT '
"Let's Roll" 9-1
"The only thing

to do

nothing" - Edmun
----- Original M
From: =~

Date: monday, Ap
Subject: Re: RE:

Sir,

Thank you for
Again, I have

this request.

V/R,

Trial Defense
Tikrit Branch
Region IX

E-mail:

VVVVVVVVVVVYVVVYVVYV

————— Original

Date: Monday,
Subject: Re: R

{

> 1 will keep

MAJ, EN
S-4, 420th E
DNVT 302 559

VvV VV VYV

1:49 pm
Subject: RE:

> Sir,

>

> I just spo
accessing

> her email
> and she is

VVVVYVVVVVNVYV

> notify you
> that she w
hin
the
> > > next hour.

1

VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVVVVYVVVYVVVVVVVVVVYVYVYVVVYVVVVVYVVVYVVVVVVVVVVVYVVVYVVYVVVYVYVYVYVYVYVYVYYVYVY
Vet VvV

long

!!!, JA

DNVT: 553-or 553- )

'V

VEVVHVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVVVVVVVVVYVVY

\4
|
[ I
o !
=
P
a O
~
-
Q
-
. =]
B

= .
=
1]
0
. w
o}
) o

igade
1-01
necessary for the Triumph of evil is for good men
d Burke (1729-1797)
essage e . i

il 19, 2004 2:53 pn
Request for Delay

your patience. A fonmal request is attached.
not yet heard from *but will inform the

government as |soon as I do. Thank you for your consideration of

Counsel
Pffice (FOB Danger)

Message ~—~---

ppril 19, 2004 5:34 pm
: Request for DTlay

ny eyes open. ‘

i
i
',
|

Y Bri?ade ,

M 1LT CJTF7-OPS OSJA"
O © ‘1>Date: Monday, April 19,

Request for Delay

e to (MNP shc is having difficulty
currently meeting with her client. She requested

111 be submitting a formal request for delay

> > > The governmjent does not object to a reasonable delay, so

2

ACLU-RDI 962 p.191
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Cc: (MG svg-law. com; ENMINIERNEE® CITE? 16MP;

>|CJTF7—OPS OSJA; ;m CJTF7-16th MP BDE SJA

please forward a formal request for delay by 1700 hours today

> detailing the requested length of delay and the specific

delay. 1In the dbsence of a formal request, we will proceed

> 32 hearing tomorrow, 20 April, here at Camp Victory.

> prepare to have SPC Ambuhl |brought to Camp Victory for the

nd can be reached at 537-

4 9:4% am
lay

> I have e—mailedﬁbut have not heard back from

f the packet and apparently, was

ut of the TDS Victory office but

mail.

002443

> > as

> > > > the delay

> > > > is credited to the defense.
> > > >

> > > > v/r

> > > > Uy

> > > >

> > > > —mee- Original Message-----~
> > > > From: . C

> > us.army.mil}

> > > > Sent: Monday, Aprilvl9, 2004 07:54 .
> > > > To : ,
> > > >

> ;

> > > ;

> > >

> > > > NCOIC; ) ;
> > > > CJITF7-OPLAW

> > > > Subject: Re: Request for Delay
> > > > :

> > > > 4

> > >

E

> » reasons

> > > > for the

> > > >

> > with

> > > > the ART

> > >

> > > >

> > > > (P, please

> > >

> ART 32

> > > > Investigation tomorrow, 20 |April,
> > > >

> > > > 1 am currently at Victory
> > D> >

> > > >

> > > > N

> > > > S5-4, 420th EN Brjigade

> > > > DNVT 302 559“

> > > > .

> > > > --z-- Oriqinal Message --—4-
> > > > Fre ' -
> > > > Date: Monday, April 19, 20(
> > > > Subject: Re: Request for D¢
> > > >

> > > > > 8ir,

> > > > >

> > > >

> him

> > > yet

> > > >

> > > > > He does not have a copy ¢
> > jus

> > > > > retained last week.

> > > > >

> > > > > Currently, I am working @
> 1

> > do

> > > > > have limited access to e-
> > > > >

>>>>>V/R

> > > >

> > > > >

> > > > > Trial Defense Counsel

» > > > > Tikrit Branch Office (FOH

Danger)

ACLU-RDI 962 p.192
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Region IX

> > > > > ;

> > > > > DNVT: 5353 or 553

> > > > > E~-mail: f

> > > > > T

> > > > > m-—m- OriqinAﬂ Message ---t-

> > > > > Fror o v

> > > > > Date: Monday,iAprii’lH, 2004 v:zL am

> > > > > Subject: Re: Request for Delay

> > > > > '

> > > > > how much of a delay are you requesting?
> > > > > > Additionally, please provide a memorandum
> (as

> > > > > opposed

> > > > > > to an email) requesting the delay. Please forward the
> > > > > memorandum ;

> > > > > > ASAP so thaf we can work!this immediately.

> > > > > > J

> > > > >:1IIIIII"I...II.I'

> > > > > >

> > > > > > 5-4, 420th EN Brigade

>>>>>>DNVT302559‘ P

> > > > > > i

> > > > > > .

> > > > > > —-m—- Origipal Message ——---

> > > > > > From ' o

> > > > > > Date: Sunday, April 18, 2004 2:57 pm

> > > > > > Subject: Request for Delay

>>> > > > :

> > > > > > > Sir, ;

>S5 > > > > > :

> > > > > > > Good evenlng. Pleas% accept my personal apologies for
> > the

> > > > > > > lateness ¢f this request.

> > > > > > >

> > > > > > > The defenge requestsja delay in the Art. 32 hearing
> > > > scheduled

> > > > > > for i

>>>>>>> 20 April P004 in the'!case of U.S. v. Ambuhl.

>> > > > > > i

>>>>>>>1 just regeived notice today that SPC Ambuhl has hired
> >

> > S > > > GEEE !

> > > > > > >-, alcivilian agtorney from Washington, D.C., to
> > > > > represent : I

>> > > >>> her in th}? pending case. Both SPC Ambuhl anc-

> Q— - !

> > > > > desire

»> > > > >> > his presence at the Article 32 hearing.

>> > > > > > g

>> > > > > > s e-mail address is in the "cc" line of

> this

> > e-

> > > > > mail.

> > > > > > > His further contact information is as follows: (NN
> > !

> > > > > > v

>5> > > > > > ) , 1101 15th Street, NW,
> > Suite

> > > > 202,

> > > > > > > Washington, D.C., 20905. His phone number is: (202)
> 828~ :

> Qs > > > :

> > > > > > > Thank you| for your ansideration of this request.

> > > > > > >

> > > > > > > V/R, '

> > > > > > >

> > > > > > > 002444

ACLU-RDI 962 p.193
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|

> > > > > > > CPT, JA

> > > > > > > Trial Defg

> > > > > > > Tikrit Brd

> > > > > > > Region IX

> > > > > > > DNVT: 55

>>> > > > > E-mail: ! L, owmil
>>> > > >
>>> > > > > )
>> > > > >

> > > > >

> > > > > !

> > > > i

> > > !

> > !

: .

002445
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AFZA-AP-I1O

MEMORANDUM FOR Comrna}nder, 16" Military Police Brigade (Airborne),
Victory Base, Iraqg APO AE Q9342

SUBJECT: Request for Del$y

1. In the case of U.S. vs SPJ: Megan M. Ambuhi, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), the
Defense has submitted the ‘ttached request for delay until 20 April 2004.

2. The Article 32 was initiallb scheduled for 5 April 2004. Defense counsel
received the case file on 26 tjrch 2004, and is based FOB Danger in Tikrit.
Defense needs more time to| meet with its client and go over the entire case file.

|
3. SPC Ambuhl is also conéideering hiring a civilian attorney.

4. The Triél Counsel recomﬂndnds approval of the delay as requested by
defense.

5. | concur with both counse%l gnd recommend that the request for delay be
approved. ‘

6. The POC for this memo i% the undersigned at 559-

Encl
as

( Investigating Officer

002446
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
HEADQUARTERS, 420th ENGINEER BRIGADE
LSA ANACONDA
APO AE 09302-1344

‘.
1.

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF

AFRC-CAR-EBA-LG 19 APR 04
MEMORANDUM FOR Commander, 16" Military Police Brigade (Airborne), Victory Base, Iraq
APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: 2™ Defense Request for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuh]

1. Inthe case of U.S. vs SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), the Defense has
submitted the attached 2" request for delay in the ART 32 investigation to 20 May, 2004.

2. The Article 32 was initially scheduled for 5 April 2004. Defense Counsel was granted a
request for delay to 20 April 2004.

3. SPC Ambuhl has retained a civilian attorney and is requesting this second delay to allow him
to travel to Iraq to attend and prepare for the investigation.

4. Trial counsel recommends approval of a 7-10 day delay from 20 April or no later than 1 May
2004.

5. As the investigating officer, I recommend a 10 day delay as a reasonable delay and ask that
you approve Defense Counsel’s request for a 2™ delay for a period of 10 days.

6. POC for this memorandum is (N NNy~ = _ 1 or by phone at

DNVT 537
//oriiinal siined//

Article 32 Investigating Officer

002447
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE
APO AE 09392

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF:

AETV-BGJA-TDS -~ 19 April 2004

. MEMORANDUM FOR—Article 32 Investigating Officer, Headquarters, 420"
Engineer Brigade, Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Second Request for Delay -- United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

1. As previously requested by e-mail on 18 April 2004, the defense requests a delay in the Article 32(b)
hearing currently scheduled for 20 April 2004. The defense requests a delay until approximately 20 May
2004, for the following reasons:

a. On 18 Airil 2004I Trial Defense Counsel was notified formally that SPC Ambuhl obtained civilian

counsel,

b. -:Ioes not have a copy of the preferral packe’t or copies of any evidence in this case.

c. -mamtams a law practice in Washington, D.C. and has not yet finalized the extensive
coordination to travel to Iraq to represent SPC Ambuhl.

2. Further, the government has indicated that the majority of witnesses the defense has requested to testify at
the Article 32 hearing are physically unavailable. Granting a delay will allow for continued efforts to produce
the requested defense witnesses at the Article 32 hearing,

3. The requested delay is atiributable to the defense. If I may be of further assistance in this matter, please
contact me via email at . . ’phone at DNVT: 55

Trial Defense Counsel

o
oS
Q8
%
a8
1+ 7]
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G- cJF7 1emP

From: .
Sent: 40 F : y :
To: _ ' _ ,
Cc: msvg—law.com;
JTF7 16MP ) JTF7-16th MP BDE SJA Nm
JTF7-OPLAW '
Subject: RE: RE: Request for Delay
Sir:

The government will not object to a ¢lelay of 7-10 days and no later than
1 May 2004. The first request forjaldelay from 5 April until 20 April
was requested to review the file apd|seek civilian counsel. That date
was not met. 26 days, approximately|l month, total delay should be
adequate to review the file and obtain civilian counsel. If civilian
counsel was retained on the 18th of April, 13 days should be sufficient
time to get to Baghdad.

VR

!!!! MP BDE !!!!I

Trial Counsel
302-588
AIRBORNE!

From:
[mailto:3j. _
Sent: Monday, April 19, 2004 5:53 FM
To: us.army.mil
Cc: CJTF7-0PS

CJTF7 16MP; CJTF7-16th MP BDE SJA’NCOIC;

CJITF7-OPLAW
RE: Request for Delay

ubject: Re:

Sir,

Thank you for your'patience. A formdl request is attached. Again, I
"have not yet heard from (NN bt will inform the government as
soon as I do. Thank you for your condideration of this request.

V/R,

e —

Trial Defense Counsel
Tikrit Branch Office (FOB Danger)
Region IX

pwvr: 553 Y er 553N

E-mail
————— Original Message ---—-—

Date: Monday, April 19, 2004 5:34 pm |
Subject: Re: RE: Request for Delay

>

> I will keep my eyes open. G02449

>

ACLU-RDI 962 p.198
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MAJ,

[ad

EN

5-4, 420th EN Brigade
DNVT 302 559-‘

VV VYV VYV

>
> CJITF7-(
>
> 1:49 pm
> Subject: RE: Request for Delay
>
> > Sir,
> >
> > I just spoke to — Sh
> accessing
> > her email
> > and she is currently meeting with
> > notify you
> > that she will be submitting a foxy
> the
> > next hour. .
> » The government does not object td
> > the delay

> is credited to the defense.

>

> v/r

. —

>

> m———— Original Message—--—--

From: _
Sent: Monday, April 19, 2004 07:5

PS OSJA"

Monday, April 19, 2004

e 1s having difficulty

her client. She requested I

mal request for delay within

a reasonable delay, so long as

(=%

To:

ubject: Request for Delay

VVVVVVVVVYVVVYVVYVY

please forward a formal request f
detailing the requested length of
for the
delay.

the ART
32 hearing tomorrow,

U -

prepare to have SPC Ambuhl broug}
Investigation tomorrow, 20 April|

VvV V VYV

VVVVWVVVVVVVWWVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYV

In the absence of a formg

20 April, hg

I am currently at Victory and car

!-4, 420th EN Briide

DNVT 302 559

Oriainal Messaage

> Date: Monday, April 19, 2004 9:44
> Subject: Re: Request for Delay
>

> > S8ir,

> >

> > I have e-mailed Mr.- but

VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVYVY

Vv V Vv

v

CJTF7-16th MP BDE SJA

or delay by 1700 hours today
delay and the specific reasons

1 request, we will proceed with

re at Camp Victory.

t to Camp Victory for the ART 32

am

002450

have not heard back from him
2
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;
|
!
\
i

(%S
]
+

' :

retained last week.

have limited access to e-mail.;

ViRl
' -

i

i

I

}

Trial Defense Counsel i

Tikrit Branch Office (FOB Danggr)
i

Region IX
DNVT: 553 or 553/
E-mai ) ' ’

————— Original Message -——--

From L
Date: Monday, April 19, 2004 9:21 am
Subject: Re: Request for Delay

>F how much of a delay are you requesting?
> 1tionally, _lease provide a memorandum

opposed

> to an email) requesting the delay. Please forward the
memorandum

> ASAP so that we can work this immediately.

>

S-4, 420th EN Brigade
DNVT 302 55%9-

————— Oriainal Messaage -~—-=-.

From: _

Date: Sunday, April 18, 12004 2: 57 pm
Subject: Request for Delay

VVVVVVIOVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVVYV

> > his presence at the Article 32 hearing.
> >

mail®

0

’

‘\/\/‘\/\/V\/VVVVVVVVV\/\/VVV‘v’".’VVV\/VVVVVVV\/VVVVVVVV\/\/\/VVVVVV\/V\/\/V\/VVVVVVV\/VV
VVUVUVVVYVVVYVVYVYVVVVVYVVVVVVVVYVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVYVYVYV
VVVMvVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV\/{IJVV\/VVVVVVVVVVVVVVV\/\/VVV\/VV\/VV\/\/V\/\/V\/VVV\/VVV\/

>
2
> >
> >
> >

Thank you for your consideration of this request.
3

ACLU-RDI 962 p.200

He does not have a copy of the,paoket and apparently, was just

Currently, I am working out ofithe TDS Victory office but I do

> Sir,

>

> Good evening. Please accept my perscnal apologies for the

> lateness of this request.

>

> The defense requests a delay in the Art. 32 hearing
cheduled

for

> 20 April 2004 in the case of U.S. v. Ambuhl.

>

> iyst received notice today that SPC Ambuhl has hired Mr.

a civilian attorney from Washington, D.C., to

represent

> > her in the pending case. Both SPC Ambuhl and_
desire

> > s e-mail address is in the "cc" line of this e-

> > His further contact information is as follows: —
>

> 1101 15th Street, NW, Suite

Washington, D.C., 20005. His phone number is: (202) 828—-

DOD 001351



> > > > ,

> > > > V/R,

> > > >

> > > > CPT, JA

> > > > Trial Defense Counsel )

> > > > Tikrit Branch Office (FOB Danger)
> > > > Region IX

> > > > owr: 553 (P 553-
> > > > BE-mail:

> > > > '

> > > >

> > >

> >

> >

>

VVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVY

(02452
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
372" MILITARY POLICE COMPANY
APO AE 09432

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF

12 April 04

MEMORANDUM THRU S, s::if judee Advocate, T Corp

FOR LTG Thomas Metz, CG, Il Corps

SUBJECT: Rebuttal of AR 15-6 for \| NN 372 v Company

1. Inreading the AR 15-6 Investigative Report, I found it very thorough, involving subject
matter experts in the field of Detention Operations and numerous references to AR’s or
supporting Documents. It would hdve been nice to have such a library of resources available

when the 372 Military Police was tasked to conduct Detention Operations at the Abu Ghriab
Prison Facility. '

2. The 372™ MP Company was assigned to the Abu Ghriab Prison in October 2003. The Unit
assumed responsibility on‘17 October 03 after a RIP with the 72" MP Company. Prior to this
Mission the Unit had been doing a Law and Order Mission in the city of Al Hillah, TACON to

the ¥4 Marines. The Unit was commended for the outstanding achievements while conducting
those operations.

3. During the short 2 week period before Prison Task assumption, a multitude of activities were
undertaken, from developing an urumproved living area, service support, force protection,
convoy route reconnaissance, learning detention / prison operations, and establishing support and
logistics in the area.  Abu Ghraib was not just an EPW Operation, but a vague composite of

civilian criminals, military detainees, other government detainees, and a host of civilian contract
help. ’

4. These vanables complicated by the list of ever increasing numbers of Detainees, CPA, Iraqi
Correctional Guards, Prison Reconstruction, limited resources, reduction in our personnel, 12
hour work shifts, and limited basic life support systems. Least of which was the decision to use a
Military Police Combat Support Company to conduct these Detention Operations. Who was
responsible for making that decision? Was it beyond the 800™ MP BDE? Our unit had no
METL on IR training or from the mob station prior to our arrival at the prison. Our unit was
validated on Combat Support Operations.

5. MG Ryder conducted an assessment of Prison and Detention operations in Iraq, during 13 Oct
through 6 Nov 2003. A thorough assessment was conducted at Abu Ghraib. Unfortunately that

document or report was never shared with the company or BN working the facility. What could
have been corrected if we had the insight of the November Report? Who was the report release

too”? Is it available to the Prison now? P
002453
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6. Theodore Roosevelt said “do what you can, with what you have, the best you can.” An
operational plan was set out to accomplish the mission. The resources of the Company and
Battalion were limited, but that could not stop conducting operations at Abu Ghraib. -

7. Our unit followed the guidelines for training set forth by BN. We pull our soldiers with

civilian correction experience, trained on non lethal weapons, 800™ ROE, Detainee feeding at
Ganci, and pnson ‘civil disturbance and extraction. The Reéport fails to mention any successfil
aspects of the mission. Those successes were possible because 95% of the company’s soldiers.

“did the right thing.”. Camp Vigilant stood as a model for efﬁcmnt Detention Operations with
minimal resources, no disturbances and no escapes.

8. Every soldier is trained annually on the Geneva Convention and the Laws of War and another
class was given by instructors at Ft Lee during mobilization. It was part of the Validation. What
they retained or what was accepted varies with individuals. Reflect on the Army Doctoral policy
and training of Sexual Harassment; far less complex than the Geneva Convention as it applies to
Detainee Operations. Yet why have there been so many reported or unreported incidents of
sexual harassment? A “Zero Tolerance” is in place and yet the Army is “evaluating” its policy.
Why are thére continued problems? '

9. Nearly every day [ spent time with my soldiers at the Hard site and Camp Vigilant, various
times and varying shifts. A greater emphasis was placed on Camp Vigilant as they were more
vulnerable, with fewer assets, fewer constraints, and they had no assigned QIC. Other duties

included establishment of the basic life support for the company and integration of the sections
into the Battalion.

10. How does this command view the 9/11 hearings? Does it feel the current Administration
had the ability to forecast and predict the tragedy? Could or would anything been avoided if the
Adminustration had been better trained or informed? Are they making excuses or is it Monday
morning quarterbacking by the hearing committee.

11. What of the Cleric—’ Who was monitoring him and his movement? What of

the city of Fallujah? Would a more restrictive Course of Action result in a change of recent
events?

12, What 15 the status of the Abu Ghraib complex now? Are all the corective measures from
MG Ryder and this AR 15-6 in place tor a smooth operation? {t's difficult to be at all places at
all imes. To accomplish multiple tasks, others must be put in responsible positions. We were
let down by the soldiers placed in those position of responsibility.

13. This was by no means a pertect deploviment. The 372" conducted operations through the
fraq1 summer under some of the harshest and poorest conditions while working under the

marines in Al Hillah. The Army Logistical and Support assets were not even available until the
unit arrived at the prison. The Report refers to the psychological pressures. Yes, these pressures
were recognized and mediated by allowing soldiers more comforts while inside their Living '
Support Areas. Civilian clothing was allowed there but there was an enforced uniform code
while on duty or outside the LSA's.
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15. The Unit Conducted 15 Company grade Article 15 proceedings, numerous other situations
were handled by First Line Leader Counseling’s. Several NCO’s were removed from their
positions for inappropriate behavior. Standards were enforced.

16. [agree as “leaders” we all have room for improvement. That’s why the Army’s Doctrine for
corrective action is corrective in nature, administered fairly, without prejudice, administered for
the development of soldiers. The Soldier’s Creed states “leave no fallen comrade behind.” These
administrative remedies are leaving good soldiers. Yes, there have been documented short
comihgs but lets not loose site of any gains or benefits from this experience.

17. I agree with the findings of the report; more could have been done to increase the level of
awareness. The 372" is a Military Police Combat Support Company. Our history and
background is not in the Internment / Resettlement, or EPW areas. After being tasked with this
“mission the BN mandatory training was conducted, experienced civilian correctional soldiers
were aligned with critical positions within the Hard site and Camp Vigilant. The Unit had less.
than two weeks to prepare for the Operation. The Plan mostly worked. A few individuals,

conducting criminal activity, left the boundaries of good training and judgment. Recogmze their
shortcomings and take the appropriate action.

18. Take into consideration the 1solation of the past 82 days waiting for this conclusion. I
request any reprimand be filed locally, as an effort to salvage any benefit from this hard and

painful experience. I would request you reconsider the administrative remedies recommended
and evaluate the future potential, contributions of a soldier.

372" Military Police Company
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
372" MILITARY POLICE COMPANY
APO AE 09432

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF

12 April 04
MEMORANDUM THRU Y s:-i udge Advocate, I Corp

FOR LTG Thomas Metz, CG, Il Corps

SUBJECT: Rebuttal of AR 15-6 for \ RN 372 MP Company

1. After reading the AR 15-6 Investigative Report, I found that it was very thorough and
contained many subject matter experts in the field of Detention Operations and numerous
references to AR’s, FM’s and many other supporting documents. Unfortunately none of these
were made available to the immediate chain of command nor to the soldiers about to operate the
Abu Ghraib Prison. We also have never seen any of the other findings of the prison that were
mentioned in the 15-6, MG Ryder’s report, for example. Also we were never given a copy of the
ICRC reports to take corrective actign, we were simply briefed. Had these and other reports
been made available corrective action would have been taken, possibly making the duties of the
MP’s safer and easier, and in turn doing the same for the detainees.

2. The Soldiers of the platoon and company received a briefing of cultural awareness and
basics of the Geneva Convention at the mobilization site. However I did not have access to the
Geneva Convention relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War to post at locations throughout
the hard site of Abu Ghraib. I did ask, on several occasions, to be provided with some form of
what w ected bythe MP’s and what they were and were not to do. This request was made
to and -3oth of whoin were with the M1 BDE. qwas with the SJA.
We did have a copy ot the 800" MP BDE ROE and a copy of this was posted at every tier in the
hard site as well as the IV[P's office. If not posted on the wall it was posted on the MP’s
clipboard which also contained the inmate numbers of those housed on that tier.

3. I was the NCOIC of the hard site, I worked directly for the OIC of the hard site]
[ took a managerial role within the prison. There were two shitt NCOIC’s One for day

shift (0400-1600) the other for night shift (1600-0400). I worked an over lapping shift of 1000-
0100 so that I was able to work with all of the soldiers in my platoon. [ also did this to make it
easier for the soldier of the platoon to see me 1f there were any concerns that needed to be
addressed. I made checks of the prison routinely, to include the towers, tiers and the health
clinic. T worked extensively for the first several weeks after we took over operations from the
72" MP Company working on a data base where we could effectively track inmates. This data
base included the names of the inmates, their Inmate Number and their cell assignment. It also
noted any specific information that was pertinent, such as TB patients, sentenced inmates, etc.
This kind of information was not easily obtained from the BN and allot of times their
information was incorrect. This data base was developed to make tracking of prisoners and head
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counts easier for the guards, and we were then able to give the BN a correct roster digitally when
requested. [ also made regularly checks on the water tank and generator room, to ensure that
there was enough water for the detainees and to ensure that power went uninterrupted when ever
possible. Talso tred to keep track of maintenance concerns and tried by best to have these fixed
in a timely manner. [relied on the shift NCOIC’s and the shift SOG to take the supervisory role

- of the guards working the site for their specific shift, After ad gone home in
December for -REFRAD, I was instructed by to-more closely supervise the
operations at the hard site to include tier 1, in which I did. But as always to accomplish multiple
tasks, others must be put in responsible positions. Most of those soldiers did an outstanding job,

. however we were let down by a few soldiers placed in those position of responsibility. A few
individuals, conducting criminal activity, left the boundaries-of good training and Judgment
Recognize their shortcomings and deal with them.

4. The soldiers of the 372" MP Com: dpany were trained on the common tasks of EPW
procedure, but not IR operations. The 372" MP Company is a combat support element of the
Military Police Corps, therefore at the mob site we trained specifically on combat support”
operations, to include battlefield circulation control, convoy escorts, close quarters combat, and
some law enforcement. We carried out allot of these duties during the first part of our mission in
Al Hillah Iraq where we were OPCON to the ¥ Marine BN. We were unaware that our mission
would eventually be Internment and Resettlement Operations. Had we know this long in
advance of starting the mission we would have been able to adequately retrain ourselves for this
type of mission. Because of the lack of knowledge and in turn the lack of training we had to rely
on the civilian experience of a few members of the company to train the rest of the company in
the two weeks prior to assuming the operations at the prison and then an ongoing OJT. Prior to

taking this mission we made it very clear to the chain of command that we were inexperienced in
this type of operation.

5. The soldier who allegedly stomped on a detainee’s hands and feet was not reported by
me because [ did not witness any physical contact. Ientered the B side of wing 1, walked up the
steps to retrieve some paper work, I had noticed that some detainees had been brought in and
looked down at the A side and saw on of the guards stomp his foot once, but could not by my
vantage point see why he was stomping. Judging by the reaction of the detainee, or lack there of,
['had no reason to believe that any contact had been made. The detainee did not flinch nor did he
cry out in pain as it he had been struck. [ then called for the soldier to leaye the tier and return
back to his station, the shift NCOIC, |l «nd the tier NcoIC | v e vots
present, and both are corrections officers as civilians they seemed to have control of the
detainees. This statement was given by me to CID during their investigation. The soldier was
later counseled and removed from the hard site for allegations of verbally abusive activity
against detainees in tier 3A. This counseling was given to lim on 16 November.2003 and he
was moved into a position within force protection which limited his contact with the detainees. I
would have and never will condone any abusive activity, verbal or physical, towards anyone, be
it friend or foe. [ and other soldiers willingly donated items from our care packages for use be
the inmates in the prison. ltems such as shampoo, soap, toothpaste, etc, these supplies were
difficult to Uet through the CPA supply system. Many of the detainees did not have shoes, the
company supply SGT allowed me to sign out 2 boxes of socks to hand out to the inmates with no
shoes. For the juveniles we brought in gum and candy to reward them for good behavior or for a
work detail of cleaning. The care and welfare of the detainees were priorily to me, the Iraqi
people were taught by Saddam to hate the Americans, [ wanted to prove to them that we were
not the bad guys that he made us out to be. Ur)%é:’,?
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6. Since we have been suspended from the operations at the prison and the company, we
have been treated as guilty. We have not until this point been given a chance to defend
ourselves. We were initially told that we would be suspended for 7-10 days and to pack for a
week, this was three months ago. The actions of a few individuals have broken the moral of
the soldiers and the leaders of the company. Statements were made that the chain of command
had no knowledge of the acts of abuse, in which we did not. These acts were carried out at
times when the chain was not around, our fault lines in the fact that we trusted an experienced
E-6 and civilian corrections officer in the shift supervisory role and an experienced corrections
officer as the tier NCOIC. In an effort to gain any benefit and knowledge from this painful and
difficult experience, I request that you reconsider the administrative remedies recommended
and evaluate the future potential of a soldier and NCO.

-PLATOON SERGEANT

372" Military Police Company -
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'DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
320nd MILITARY POLICE C,QMPANY

APO AE 09432
REPLY 7O
ATTENTION OF

12 April 04

MEMORANDUM THRU \ R . 5t judge Advocate, T Corp

- FOR LTG Thomas Metz, CG, I Corps

' SUBJECT: Rebuttal of AR 15-6 for\J NN, 37214 MP Company

1. This is my rebuttal of the 15-6 investigation for the incidents at Abu-Ghurayb Prison. After
reading through the entire packet several times, I can easily defend all the allegations against me
and my soldiers. However, I am quit certain that the outcomes have been decided and a response
is only a formality at this point. The first thing [ want to say is” I accept full responsibility for the
actions of the soldiers of the 372 MP CO.” I fully agree that I should have 3 better _]Ob at-
supervising them Thad assigned an OIC and a NCOIC to
oversee operations during this period. We are a Combat Support Company so I concur with the
fact that we are not trained in UR functions. We completed the mandatory training required by
the 320™ BN and a two week RIP with the 72" MP CO. We did everything as they were and

improved on all areas of accountability and training of the IP’s. At the MOB station we trained
- according to our METL which is consistent with a CS mission.

2.-5 statement in the investigation 1s inaccurate. He was not present during the
escapes and was assigned the escort missions at the BN. His platoon did a great job but the
gscapes are noted in the report. Also, because he was doing an escort mission during the abuses, I

believe he is mistaken for— and should be excluded from being held accountable
in this 13-6. '

3. Anytime the command was made aware of any situations we were extremely proactive. I have -
documentation to support the disciplinary measures and all the counseling that was administered
during this deployment. I strongly disagree with any reference of an undisciplined atmosphere.. -

4. The first half of this mission we were TACOM to the ¥ Marines and we performed a L&O,
Police Training Academy, Police Force Mission in the city of Al-Hila ,Jrag. We performed
extremely well and this company recelved high praise from the Marines. All the extra training
that we focused on at Ft.Lee probably saved a few of my soldier’s lives. [ am extremely glad we
had the opportunity and would not change anything we did there. It would have been nice to
know out mission so. we could have focused training toward a specific mission.

5. The only thing to decide here is where do you put the letter of reprimand? I guess if you go

from what CNIN said we will all receive letters that will effectively end our careers. [ had dreams
before this deployment started to someday lead a BN. The important thing here is my company

0062459
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knows that the leadership did there absolute best and we will continue to hold our heads high. I
would hope you will consider the past three months we have been 1solated and confined from my
company as part of the punishment afforded to us. Unlike the General Officer appointed above
me, I take the responsibility of what my soldiers did. It's easy sitting back as the Monday

 morning quarterback and second guessing everything. We had numerous visits by Gen Sanchez
and many other dignitaries and experts from CPA and ICRC. In all those visits, no one
mentioned that we should post the Geneva Convention or why isn’t there an SOP from the
Brigade: I wasn’t aware the Geneva Convention had to be posted or I would have asked someone
to get us a copy. This company was undermanned and under trained for this mission. Regardless

. of that, they still performed well and it’s only the actions of a few ignorant people that caused
this entire event. As I told the General during the 15-6, It would not of mattered if the policies
were posted or not, it would not of stopped these particular soldiers from performing there
actions. There was an SOP for Bucca and they had a similar incident. I hope that I can continue
to stay in-the military, before this incident I was once very proud and actually volunteered to be
here. This company accomplished and affected the lives of many Iraqi citizens in a very positive
way. It’s amazing that the entire chain-of-command could be so incompetent

372" Military Police Company
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SWORN STATEMENT
For use of this form, see AR 190-45; the proponent agency is QDCSOPS

PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT

AUTHORITY: Title 10 USC Section 301; Titde 5 USC Section 2961; £.0. 9397 dated November 22, 1943 (SSN).
i

PRINCIPAL PURPQSE:

To provide commanders and law enforcement officials with means by which information may be accurately
ROUTINE USES:

Your sacial security number is used as an additional/aliernate means of identification ta facilitate filing and retrieval,

DISCLOSURE: Disclosure of your sacial security number is voluhtary. .

1. LOCATION ‘ , 2. DATE (YYYymmoo) |3, TME ~ XYU] 4. FiLE NUMBER

ABU GHRAIB PRISON, ABU GHRAIB, IRAQ . 18 TAN 04 150 0003-04-CID149-83130
IDOLE NAME 8. SSN ‘ 7. GRADE/STATUS

8. ORGANIZATION OR ADORESS :
372ND MILITARY POLICE COMPANY, CUMBERLAND, MD (DEPLOYED TO ABU GHRAIB, IRAQ)

3. . . - ‘
. — ' . WANT TO MAKE THE FOLLOWING STATEMENT UNDER OATH:

[ am the current warden of the Hard Site at Abu-Ghuraub. I have additional responsibilities of the Vigilant Yard along with escorts,
a PSD mission and-company respousibilities. Onl5 Oct 03, we accepted the mission from the 72ad Military Police Company. I
divided all my cesponsibilities among my platoons to evenly distribute as much of the work load as possible. [ assigned one platodn
to Vigilant the two others split duries at Hard Site. The third platoon is currently still at AL-Hilla performing the PSD Mission.

Wing one at the Hard Site is used exclusively by MI and OGA and other government agencies. Wing one was supervised mostly by
-das very involved with the interrogation process and the day to day activity that occurred. I speat
appeoximately 70% of my time supervising and coordinating the construction activity at the Hard Site. 1 also worked closely with
the CPA to ensure all aspects of the current contract were fulfilled. Ttie rest of my time was spent assisting and mentoring the -
current Iraqi Warden, operating Camp Vigilant, and perfocming company comunander tasks. Because I knew it was impossible to

accomplish all these missions at once, [ assigned! ] as OIC of the Hard Site. worked closely with
and they understood the daily routine of tuer one. isa

-superb officer of outstanding morale aad ethical
values and | am convinced he had absolutely no knowledge of any misconcluct.b

L . L 2dge would often stay later into the aight, on
many occasions [ can recall him returmning well after midnight. I am oot sure of the exact date, but in November of 2003

heard thece was a 13-6 investigation on a possible situation which involved interrogator abuse to certair female detainees )
Ppcarhcadcd the investigation. [ was told nothing was founded and everything retumned as usual. It was not uncommon to see
( people without clothing, [ only ever saw males, I was'told the" whole nudity thing" was an interrogation procedure used by MI,

. and never thought much of it. We then had a visit by the ICRC and one of there main concemns were the inmates not having
clothing or proper bedding. Another major issue was the prison itself was cold. In December, [ heard some stories abo

ut possible
abuse but [ was never able to confirm or gather sufficient evidence to sustain anything concrete, [ immediately assigned h

(the PLT SGT) to the wing just o ensure all was well. often worked late iuto the evening and itted to

ensuring the proper care was given to all inmate returned to the States in Dec as a refrad anrmcontinued
did see something minor he made immediate corrections. | was awoken

the mocning of the 13th of Jan by my operations ser|

to wock the wing. On a tew occasions whenl
i eant, She i ed me that the BN Commander wished to speak with me. I+
reported to the 320th TOC area and was greeted by w He proceeded to explain the allegations and he -
immediately started to interview my soldiers and confiscate computers and pictures. Whea [ initially saw the pictures, I was
absolutely appalted at what [ saw. | specifically ass e soldiers to certain missions based on there civilian corrections, .

e
backgrounds. vlagy of the pictures contained audF in them. I have since seen and heard many other
stoties that absolutely sadden me and [ cdn't belteve these two soldiers whom [ trusted wece mainly responsible for these. actions:
Some of the pictuces contained other people observing or participating in eveats. I will not defend the actins of my soldiecs but
know they were others who had knowledge to illegal activity. In the beginning of our missioa, it appeared that the M tactics were
very aggressive and then appeared to taper in intensity as time went along. One of my accused soldiecs approached me aad said” .
He was upclear of the cules and didn'tknow what he could or couldn’t do” I ceplied” You ace a correctional otticer back home, .
that is the sorriest excuse [ have ever heard.” [ know [ am responsible for the site and coatinue to question myself tor not detecting
thece behavior earlier. { thought { had assigned responsible soldiers with the right knowledge and was totally unaware of any
alleged tlegal activity taking place. As [ sated earliec, [ did cot spead a lot of time in wing 1 because [ was and coalinue (o be |
axuemely busy with many other duties. | feel that I made reasonable decisions aad { took the appropriate steps in assigning work
duties. vy company and the U.S Army will probably not recover from this for a long time. [ am ashamed of what my soldiecs did
and embarrassed as well. This company deserves better, we have worked extremely hard only to have a few soldiers tear down the
morale and all our accomplishmeats. [ only hope these two soldiecs can live with there choices because it will likely atfect many

people tor a long time. : .
0 Who was* -
A. He was the ommander toc the Bawalion, which has departed the atea.

Q. Do you know whe e is cov?

10. EXHIBIT 11, INITIALS OF PE\HSQ?ILM‘AKlBIG STATEMENT T
. _ \wt PAGE } OF } PAGES
ADDITIONAL PAGES MUST CONTAIN THE HEADING "STATEMENT TAKEN AT DATED '

THE 8OTTOM OF EACH ADDITIONAL PAGE MUST BEAR THE INITIALS OF THE PERSON MAKING THE STATEMENT, AND PAGE NUMBER
MUST 8€ 3E INDICATED.

DA FORM 2823, DEC 1998 . DAFOSM 2823, JUL 72, 1S OBSOLETE CO'ngQG
wiist

— Ulr\f‘"A‘Jl,l.)C
or g 1
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Statement of- taken on 18 Jan 04, at the Abu Ghraib Prison, Abu Ghraib, Iraq

A. He was my 4" Platoon Leader. He was the OIC for the Hardsite.
Q. Have you witnessed any interrogations conducted by MI? .
@ Partial. [saw detainees in their rcoms without clothing. The interrogators were
within therooms talking to the detainees. It was cemmon pracnce to walk the tier .
and see detainees without clothing and bedding.

Q. During this time period did any of your soldxer inform you of the abuse going on
in the tiers? -

A No. .-

Q. Who was assigned to work the tiers during the Midnight shift? e

A. CPL —ESG PC ) SPC -which
“worked wing he other tiers had soldier working them but was controlled by

the, platoons. They handled their relief and days off. SSG and CPL

were initially assigned o a separate platoon, but because of their
expenence they were brought into the hard site.

Q. What was the investigation conducted by )

A. It was my understanding it dealt with an interrogator had a fernale detainee in the
nude being interrogated in a closcd room. .

Q. What was the result of the investigation?

A.“handlcd the investigatiod and Lt was unfounded.

Q. At the time was their any MP’s involved?

A. No.

Q. ‘Have you had any disciplinary issue w1th the MIP's in the hard site and the
detainees? ) ,

A. Tpulled out— as the Platoon Sergeant’s approached me as he was
becoming a little aggressive with the detainees. I pulled him out as a preventive
measure,

Q. When did this occur?

A. Towards the end of Nov'03.

Q. Describe how he was being apgressive?

A. I was informed about excessive yelling, and being very agitated. The Chain of
Command was concerned for his well being and had him pulled.

Q. Was “returned to the hard site after a cooling off period?

A. No, he is still working wnh—’\

Q. Is it common to have Admin Specialist and Mechanics in the hard site?

A. Absolutely not.

Q. Did you authorize them in the hard site?

A.

The mechanic yes, as he was assigned to a 24 hour duty for generator mech’xmcal
urpose. The Admin did not have and reasoa o be there.
@' Is there an SOP for the hard site operation? '

Yes.
Q. Are all soldiers require to read and understand the SOP?
‘A, Yes.

Is there any documentation showing everyone read and understood the SOP?
I do not think so.

Q. Are the MP's in the site authorized to coaduct their own form of mterrocamoni\}L‘J.A‘_

Initials Uyl Page 9\ of L‘i Pages
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Statement Ol ,taken on 18 Jan 04, at the Abu Ghral  rison, Abu Ghraib, lraq

A, No.

Q. Do you know who authorized them to conduct these types of acts deplcted on the
pictures previously shown to you?
A. No. ’
Q. Was the Chain of Cornrnand aware of these types of acts bemo conducted in the
hard site?
~A. No.

Q. What happened when the ICRC walked throuoh the hard site?
A The first time they were upset with what they saw. They were concerned w1th the
arhount of nudity and the area was cold and damp. The detainees did not have
appropriate clothing and bedding. The second visit occurred two weeks ago, and
things were much better. There nudity has stopped and they seemed happy with what
they saw. .
Q. Have you heard of your soldiers bemg told to DJ.VQ detam%es the spe&nal treatment
or something to this affect?

~ A No.
Q. How fong has CPL-been assigned to your unit?

" A. He just came on board when we mobilized. He was an insert.
Q. Have you had any problems with his work performance?
A. Yes, he constantly challenges orders and requests from the leadership. . He would
put stuff on his uniform that he was not authorized..
Q. How long has SSG—been asmgnecl to your unit?

" A. 1 believe he was assigned to the unit prior to the mobilization. I was just coming
' on board when we got our orders. There are several assigned that was inserts to the -
) unit for the deployment. :

Q. Was there any dxsmphnary lssue concerning SSG-

A. No. : : )

Q. As far as the other soldiers involved were there any disciplinary issues concerning.

them? ' ‘

. AL PEC -had an issue of disobeying a direct order to stay away‘ from CPL
GRANIER.

Q. When you viewed the plctures did you recognize any other soldiers prcvxously not
identified?

A, I believe two of the soldiers arew an| 4
4" Plt, 372" 1 caanot be 100% sure on Duthis

What actions have you taken to correct the issue regarding this investigation?

We immediately moved all suspects out of the hard site and reassigned them. We
reassured everyone under he SOP and LTG SANCHEZ's guidance. Everyone
will sign a roster. ﬂ will now work the evenings to ensure nothing
further occurs. The Command 1s making more unannounced visits to the hard site.
All soldiers were informed no interrogations were to be conducted by them.

Q. Do you wish to add anything else to your statement?
A. No.

/’“:

-

TCRC(2nd wised) T Feut
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE
APO AE 09392

Lo
.
9 op

25y REPLY TO

ATTENTION OF:

AETV-BGJA-TDS ' 10 April 2004

MEMORANDUM FORH Article 32 Invesngatmg Officer, Headquaners
420" Engineer Brigade, Victory Base, Irag, APO AR 09342

SUBJECT: Aurticle 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence - Umted States v. SPC
Megan M. Ambuhl

1. The Defense requests that the following witnesses be produced at the Article 32 investigative
hearing scheduled for 20 April 2004, IAW with Rules for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 405(f)(9) and
405(g):

X

\\' a. CID Agents : '
“ ———
b\\’ i, Special Agent (M1 0" MP BN, Baghdad, Irag, APO AE 09335,

Agent-testlmony is relevant,because he iggerviewed numerous alleged victims and made
several visits to the Abu Ghraib prison facility dufing the period of the alleged offenses. Agent
\ -a.lso interviewed several alleged co-conspirators.

*

ii. spe'cial Agem_m“’ MP BN, Baghdad, Irag, APO AE 09335.
Agen testimony is-relevant because she interviewed several of the alleged victims and -
actively investigated the allegations in this case.

'_b._hagl Detamees? ? |
The Defense requests a certified interpreter to translate the testimony of the Iraqi detainee
witnesses. The testimony of these witnesses is extremely relevant. These individuals may have
potentially exculpatory information. The Defense has limited if any access to them based on
their current status. For that reason, the Defense requests that the government produce the listed
detainees to testify at the Article 32(b) Investigation. IAW R.C.M. 405(g)(4)(A) the Defense
objects to consideration of the Sworn Statements of the listed alleged victims and Iraqi detainees.
Such statements may not be considered by the IO over the objection of the Defense. All alleged
victims and detainees reside at Abu Ghraib Prison in Abu Ghraib, Iraq. They are as follows:

02464
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" AETV-BGJA-TDS
SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

¢. Chain of Command — 372" MP Company

§
i &, former Company Commander

_ ~ 2se can testify as to the training provided to his unit,
specifically any training regarding detention facilities. can testify as to his :

knowledge of the alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If necessary, the defense requests '
immunity for this witness to testify.

M rmer Platoon Leader

RO can testify as to the training given to reserve
MPs, s ecxﬁcally the tramlng regardmg detention facilities and control of detainees.
ican testify as to his knowledge of the alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If
necessary, the defense requests immunity for this witness to testify.

1il. % former Company 1SG

he senior enlisted member of the 372" MP Company-
can testlfy as to the trammg given to his MPs. He can testify as to his knowledge of the
alleged abuses that occurred at Abu Ghraib. If necessary, the defense requests immunity for this
witness to testify. '

L
iv.“ former Platoon Sergeant

C- supervised many of the co- accused at Abu Ghraib.
He conducted spot checks of the facility, specifically cell blocks 1a and 1b.
wiinessed at least one of the charges to which SPC Ambuhl is facing court-martial. He can
provide exculpatory testimony for SPC Ambuhl. His testimony is highly relevant and critical to
this case. If necessary, the defense requests immunity for this witness to testify.

d. Co-Accused 372" MP Company

1. SGT
it. PFC
iit. SSG
iv. CPL
v. SPC
vi. SPC
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SUBIJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

e. Additional Wltnesses 372" MP Company

% former 8-3 for the 320" MP Battalion

. sthe S- 3-vas responsible for drafting and
dlssemmatmg ROE gu1dance The ROE and any training received by the 372nd MPs are
extremely relevant to Charge 11

o

- first reported the alleged offenses to CID. His
credibility and motxvatlon are highly relevant. Further iy may provided exculpatory
testimony regarding SPC Ambuhl. :

Vit

.

iv. : .
o T ’ as the operations NCOIC of Abu Ghraib

during the time frame of thefharged offenses. He will testify that he never witnessed any abuse
taking place at the p ison.

. ii—
' Fwas the Force Protcctlon NCO of Abu Ghraib

dunng the time frame of the cha.rge offenses. He can testify as to the day-to-day operations of
Abu Ghraib and what procedures were in place on cell blocks 1b for interacting with detainees.

 —
L, i) spent time at blocks la and 1b during October,
November and December 2003 orked at 1a on evenings when CPL Graner was
not working. He can provided testimony as to the procedures used on the ceil biocks and to
training that he and his unit received.

;. .
: - worked on the same block as|iiije

Ambuhl. She can tcstlfy as to the nature of detainees that were held on 1b and as to the types of
training received by her reserved unit. She can testify as to the interaction between the MI
representatives and the MP guards.

viil. r
U R - W v o:kcd at block 1a during October, November,
and December 2003 {He worked at la on evenings when CPL (il was not working. He can

provided testimgny aé to the procedures used on the cell blocks and to training that he and his
unit received. Tle'can testify as'to the general nature of detainees that were held on block laand -
the procedures { f«hat I\/M used- fordnterrogation. '
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SUBJECT: Article 32 RLquest for Witnesses and Productlon of Evidence — Umted States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

|
ix.
r worked at block 1a during October, November, and

December 2003. He can prov1ded testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and to
training that he and his unit received. He can testify as to the general nature of detainees that
were held on block la and the procedures that MI used for interrogation. He will also testify to
the lack of any standard procedure or accountability at Abu Ghraib.

k
X. g
worked at block 1a during October, November,

and December 2003 He can prov1ded testimony as to the procedures used on the cell blocks and
to training that he and his unit received. He can testify as to the general nature of detainees that
were held on block 1a and the procedures that MI used for interrogation.

can testify as to the procedures used on the cell blocks
and to training that he and his unit received. He will also testify to the lack of any standard
procedure or accountability at Abu Ghraib.

. f. Military Intelligence Witnesses

«Q, i 325" MI Battalion
i 325" MI Battalion
Woo /i 25" MI Battalion

iv. 2" MI Battalion
@us.army.mil) ill testify that members of his chain of
command told him to delete Abu Ghraib photos off of his computer hard drive prior to the CID

investigation.

formerly assigned to 325" MI Battalion 9] - 300 - F
'was an MI Interrogator that worked daily at A

Ghraib at blocks 1 will testify about authorized MI interrogation

teclmlques can testify as to the interaction and coordination between the MI

interrogators and the MP guards. has been transferred to the CPA in Baghdad.

el i 05" i rice

will testify as to his knowledge of allegations of
abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Sep 03 and 22*®ec 03. In command during

the time of the alleged offenses, mowledge of misconduct at Abu Ghraib and the
chain-of-commands response to such allegations is highly relevant.
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — Unzted States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

g. Other Witnesses
1768 40 ﬁ:
",Q/ _ former Interrogation OIC, DNVT: 559- (il 8

. _ O = Military Intelligence officer, is familiar with the
V’ Camp Vlgxlant SOP and can tesufy as to CJTF-7 policies regarding Interrogation Rules of
Engagement for detainees at Abu Ghraib.

0 ii. SN 205" MI Brigade Operational Law, DNVT: 559-
.. . oot WP 25 the legal advisor for the MI Group who ran Abu
(& - Ghraib prison. — can festify to the procedures put into place for dealing with detainees
and the training that was taught to the members of the 372 MP Company for their work at the

facility. (G, visited Abu Ghraib during the relevant time period and can testify to the
conditions at the facility.

- Ft Sam Houston
«&c ——

as one of several attorneys who provided
advice on detainee operatlons and ROE at Abu Ghraib.

: iv. OUUENENEERRY 418" MP Detachment
W

will testlfy as to his knowledge of allegations of
abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Sep 03 and 22 Dec 03.

Q K M 'K
KOJ iv. , CJTF-7 ORmve '
‘taske to respond to inquiries by the ICRC during the fall of 2003.

When called to testify he can explain the ICRC inquiries and testify as to his response on behalf
of CITF-7.

2. If the Government contends that any Defense requested witness is not reasonably available
under R.C.M. 405(g), the Defense requests that you make a determination under R.C.M.
405(g)(2). Your determination should be made after the Government explains on the record the
specific efforts made to locate and contact the witnesses and after consultation with your legal
advisor as to whether or not the witness is reasonably available. If deemed reasonably
unavailable, the Defense requests that a specific factual reason be stated on the record.

3. The Defense requests that the following documents and evidence be produced to the Defense
at the Article 32 hearing, IAW with R.C.M. 405(f)(10) and 405(g)(1)(B):

a. All copies of CID reports (including 28s), military police reports, or any other reports
made by a law enforcement agency relevant to this investigation to include the Agent Activity

Reports and the Agent Activity Summaries compiled by the following investigators:

5
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SUBIJECT: Article'32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

i. S

xi. SA SN
xii. SA

i A —

iv. SA Y xiv. SA
v. SA N Xv. SA

vi. SA xvi. SA
vii. SA ) xvil. SA
viii. SA xviii. SA
ix. SA Xix. SA
X. SA xX. SA

b. All eyidence seized from the crime scene or any related evidence be present or made

available for inspection by the Defense and the Investigating Officer including but not limited to . .

any evidence seized as a result of the CID searches conducted throughout this investigation;

¢. Any and all ROE/RUF guidance established by 372" MP Company from October 2003 to
the present;

d. Any and all OPORDs that pertain to the Abu Ghraib mission to include the ROE/RUF
card then in effect; , ' :

e. Training records for SPC Megan Ambul and the co-accused;

f. Complete medical records for the Iraqi detainees listed in paragraph 1b of this
Memorandum,; ’

g. Any and all unit level and/or IG complaints regarding the treatment of Abu Ghraib
detainees lodged against any solider assigned to the 372™ MP Company, the 800" MP Brigade,
the 205" MI Company, the 325" MI Battalion, or the 20" MI Brigade;

h. A complete copy of the unit counseling files to include any records of nonjudicial
punishment or administrative action for the following soldiers:

i. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl
ii.
1.
iv.
V.
Vi,
Vii.

viii.
1X.
X.
XI.
xil.
xiii.
Xiv.

1. Copies of any relief-in-place (RIP) schedules or training schedules between the 72"¢ MP
Company (Las Vegas, Nevada) and the 372" MP Company, to include any OPORDERs;

6
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

j- A copy of the final CID case file with exhibits, of case number 0005-04-CID149, as
referenced in the AIR of\NMNNSENND dated 22 Jan 04, regarding a K-9 incident at Abu Ghraib;

k. Copies of the two Working Papers referenced by BG Karpinski in her 24™ Dec 03 letter to

BB [CR C Protection Coordinator;

1. Copies of the ICRC reports dated Oct 03 and Dec 03 obtained by CID from NN
S - rcferenced inuNNNINNRERNN s AR, dated S Feb 04;

m. Copies of the official detainee file (as referenced in para. 3-4 of the Camp Vigilant
Operations Procedures SOP (draft)) of the detainees listed in para. 1b of this Memoradum, Ata
minimum, the defense requests the name, detainee sequence number, capture number, capture
date and crime charged with or suspected of for the detainees listed in para. 1b of this
Memorandum,;

n. A copy of the “Behavior Modification Plan” as referenced in para. 3-12 of the SOP;
0. A copy of the draft of Chapter 4 as referenced on pages 9-10 of the SOP;

p. A copy of the parallel AR 15-6 Investigation concerning the charged offenses and the
actions and conduct of the leadership of the 372" MP Company and the 800" MP Brigade (to
include, any documents maintained by the AR 15-6 Officer to include his or her appointment
memorandum)';

q. Copies of any Press Releases or PAO information disseminated by the command
regarding the charges faced by SPC Ambuhl and her co-accused, to mclude documents drafted by
the Office of the Staff Judge Advocate for release;

r. Copies of any administrative action, relief-for-canse documents, letters of reprimand, and
OERs/NCOERs for the members of the commands of 372 MP Company and 800" MP
Battalion who were in command from October 2003 through March 2004; -

s. Copies of any SIGACTS, FRAGOs, OPORDERs, or other similar documents related to
the ICRC visits to Abu Ghraib from October to December 20?)3;

t. Copies of any documents obtained or produced by— as a result of his response
by CJTF-7 to allegations of abuse and/or mistreatment of detainees between 16 Sep 03 and 22
Dec 03; '

u. Copies of all documents, including documents of UCMJ or administrative action,
regarding 3 soldiers from the 519" who ordered a female detainee to strip as referenced by CPT
Tyler Craner in the preferral packet;
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

v. Copies of all documents, including documents of UCMYJ or administrative action,
regarding the ‘Spence Incident,” as referenced by— in the preferral
packet; ' '

w. Copies of all documents, including documents of UCMJ or administrative action, from
the August 2003 incident where 2 or 3 soldiers were disciplined by-fter aCID

investigation into abuse, as referenced by ~ JIDC, M1, Operations Officer, as
referenced in the preferral packet;

x. Copies of all negative counselings, UCMIJ records, and records of administrative action
regarding the following soldiers from 4" Platoon, 372" MP Company: ,‘
w—, | anSY

y. Copies of all work schedules maintained by the 372" MP Company or higher
headquarters showing which soldiers were scheduled to work which shifts at cell blocks 1a and
1b during October, November and December 2003;

» z. The Defense reserves the right to ask for additional evidence, as it becomes known dﬁring
the Article 32 investigation.

4. If the Government contends that any Defense requested evidence relevant to this case is not
reasonably available under R.C.M. 405(g), the Defense requests that you make a determination
under R.C.M 405(g)(2). This determination should be made after the Government counsel
explains on the record the specific efforts made to locate and produce the evidence and
consultation with your legal advisor as to whether the evidence is reasonably available.

5. The Defense objects to consideration by the 10 of the following evidence;

a. Various Documents (From Detainee Medical Records, 372" MP CQ, Medical Section.
Abu Ghraib). The case file contains approximately 16 pages of assorted medical documents
obtained from Abu Ghraib. These documents do not purport to be connected to any alleged
victims or to SPC Ambuhl. Further, several of these records are dated outside of the alleged time
period of abuse and have no relevance to the charged offenses.

b. Detainee Medical Records (From the 372" MP CO, Medical Section, Abu Ghraib). The
case file contains approximately 30 pages of medical records that do not pertain to any of the
alleged victims of the charged offenses. These records do not purport to have any connection to
SPC Ambuhl or the charges she is facing.

c. Hard-cell Medical Log (From the 372" MP CO, Medical Section, Abu Ghraib). The case
file contains approximately 48 pages of a medical log. These documents do not purport to be
connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. These documents do not go to any element
of any of the charged offenses.

8
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SUBJECT: Article 32 Request for Witnesses and Production of Evidence — United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

d. Treatment Logs (From B Company, 109 Area Support Medical Batialion. BIAP). The
case file contains approximately 61 pages of treatment logs. These documents do not purport to
be connected to any alleged victims or to SPC Ambuhl. Further, a significant number of these
documents (49 pages) are outside the time period for the charged offenses and are simply
irrelevant to the pending Article 32(b) investigation. :

e. Canvas Interview Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 140 canvas interview - -
worksheets that do not contain any pertinent information relevant to the ongoing investigation.
Consideration of this collective piece of evidence is prejudicial to SPC Ambuhl. Any potential
probative value does not outweigh the prejudice to the soldier under M.R.E. 403.

f. Investigative Worksheets. The case file contains approximately 150 investigative
worksheets that do not contain any pertinent or relevant information regarding the ongoing
investigation. The investigative worksheets are not an exhibit to the CID report and are
irrelevant to the Article 32(b) investigation.

g. Photographs & Video Clips. The case file contains several hundred digital photographs
- and numerous digital video clips. The defense objects to the consideration of the images unless
the relevant images can be tied specifically to SPC Ambuhl. None of the photographs were
seized from SPC Ambuhl or from any electronic equipment belonging to her. Consideration of
the photographs as a group is highly prejudicial to SPC Ambuhl. At a minimum the Government
should be required to establish some nexus between SPC Ambuhl and the photographs the
Government wishes to be considered.

6. The Defense expresses the following additional concerns regarding the Article 32 pretrial
investigation in this case:

a. Receipt of Legal Advice. The defense specifically requests that the 10 make all
determinations on questions of law after referring to R.CM. 405, DA Pam 27-17, and based on
advice from your legal advisor. As per DA Pam 27-17, para.1-2e, SPC Ambuhl and defense
counsel are entitled to be informed of any legal advice received by the IO and the opportunity to
reply to that legal advice. The Defense proposes that both parties be present during receipt of
legal advice, that you restate the legal advice on the record, and that both parties be given the
opportunity to respond to that advice before you make a determination on a question of law.

b. Marking Evidence. For record purposes, the Defense requests that you have the reporter
mark each piece of evidence received and catalog the evidence. Please do not admit the “packet”
as part of the record. This will prevent the parties and-you from determining which evidence has
been’objected to and ruled upon.

¢. Delivery of Report to Defense Counsel. The Defense requests that the convening authority
direct delivery of your report to the Defense Counsel instead of SPC Ambuhl. See, R.C.M.
405(3)(3). To effect this delivery, I ask that you state my request in your report, and request that
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. the report be delivered with a personal certification and date annotation so that the Defense may

o comment on the report within five (5) days allocated UP R.C.M. 405 ()(4). Defense counsel and
SPC Ambuhl are located in different physical jurisdictions and service upon SPC Ambuhl can
not be considered the same as service on Defense Counsel. -

d. Verbatim Testimony. The Defense requests a verbatim transcript of the testimony presented
during the Article 32 hearing. Alternatively, and IAW R.C.M. 405(h) and its applicable
discussion, the Defense requests that each witness swear to the truth of his or her testimony, after
it is reduced to writing. '

7. If I may be of further assistance in this matter, please contact me via email at ,
us.army.mil or by DNVT phone at: 553§l or 553-‘

/loriginal signed//

JA
Trial Defense Counsel
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MEMORANDUM FOR Investig:

ating Officer, U.S. v SPC Ambuhl

SUBJECT: Decision on Request for Delay

1. I have reviewed the encloséd Defense Request for Delay in the case of U.S.

vs SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, HH

2. ____The request for delay

OR
3. /@/ The request for delay
case of U.S. vs Ambubhl will be

Encl
as

C, 16™ MP BDE (ABN).

s disapproved.

s approved, and the Article 32(b) session in the

rescheduled for ,20_%2004.

, MP
Comman_ding
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
UNITED STATES, ARMY TRIAL DEFENSE SERVICE
: REGION IX, FOB DANGER BRANCH OFFICE
! APO AE 09392

REPLY TO
ATTENTION OF:

AETV-BGJA-TDS 29 March 2004
MEMORANDUM FOR‘P Article 32 Investigating Officer, Headquarters, 420"
Engineer Brigade, [Victory Base, Iraq, APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Request for Delay, United States v. SPC Megan M. Ambuhl

1. The defense i‘cq ucs'ns; a delay in the Article 32(b) hearing currently scheduled for 5 April 2004. The earliest
available date for the defense to go forward with the Article 32 will be 20 April 2004. The defense requires
this delay for the follo ;ing reasons,

a. Defense counsel received the preferral packet on 26 March 2004, The packet contains several hundred
pages of evidenge and statements. The packet also contains a CD Rom with over 1,000 visual depictions.
Counsel and SPC Ambuhl both must have ample time to conduct an even preliminary review of the evidence.

b. Defense dounsel is located at FOB Danger in Tikrit and is reliant on military convoys or MILAIR to get
to Victory Base,| efenlke counsel met with SPC Ambuhl on 26 March 2004 but requires at least two
additional meetings with the client simply to prepare for the Article 32. These trips require significant
advanced planningjand toordination due to travel limitation in the Iraqi Theater.

¢. The deferjse canriot reasonably be prepared to represent SPC Ambuhl at the Article 32 hearing by 5
April 2004. Anpunprepared counsel is tantamount to no counsel at all. U.S, v. Miro, 22 M.J. 509 (USACMR
1986). The delay is necessary for the defense counsel to reasonably prepare for the Article 32 hearing.
Counsel needs to interview witnesses, coordinate with civilian defense counsel, if any, and otherwise
prepare for the Hearing Which includes 5 charged co-accused, several uncharged potential co-accused,
voluminous docfiments and alleged victim statements in Farsi or Arabic.

d. SPC Ambuhl has considered hiring a civilian attorney. Granting the requested delay will allow the
soldier to exercige her right to counsel and to explore avenues to hire a civilian attorney and ensure his or her
presence for the{Article!32(b) hearing,

e. Granting the requ;ested delay will allow the government and the defense to explore a possible alternate
disposition of thjs ¢ase. !

f. Defense cpunsel is one of only two defense attorneys deployed to serve the entire 1% Infantry Division.
In addition to representdtion of courts-martial clients, counsel is responsible for serving the needs of clients
throughout a doqzci& geographically diverse FOBs in Iraq. Granting the requested delav will allow counsel to
schedule coverape ffor these areas and to prioritize trial defense counsel requirements.

2. The requested delay is attributable to the defense. If I may be of further assistance in this matter, please
contact me via email at : y phone at DNVT: 5534

CPT,JA
Trial Defense Counsel
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY
Headquarters
420™ Engineer Brigade
Victory Base, Irag APO AE 09342

AFZA-AP-10 25 March 2004

MEMORANDUM FOR SPC Megan M. Ambuhl, ; HHC, 16™ MP Bde (Abn),
Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

SUBJECT: Notification of Article 32 Investigation

1. On 5 April 2004, at 1000 hours in the Victory Base Courtroom, Building 94, 1 will
conduct an inyestigation pursuant to Article 32(b), UCMJ to investigate the facts and
oncerning charges preferred against you byh

circumstanceg

The charges drg:

Chargell; C:nspiracy

Chargelll: Dereliction of Duty

Charge|lll: Maltreatment

ChargejlV: Assault

Charge \: Indecent Acts
2. You have the right to be present during the entire investigation. Additionally, you
have the right ta be represented at all times during investigation by legally qualified

counsel. Counsel may be a civilian lawyer of your choice, provided at no expense to
the United States; a qualified military lawyer of you selection, if reasonably available; or
a qualified military cbunsel detailed by the Trial Defense Service. There is no cost to
you for milita Eoun sel. You also have the right to waive representation by counsel.
Send your dec*i ion to me by 1200 hours, 2 April 2004.

3. The names of witness known to me, who will be asked to testify at the hearing, are:

CID Agent, DNVT 302-55Q-

Additionally, if i$ my intention to examine and consider all evidence.

4. As investigtt ng officer, | will try to arrange for the appearance of any witnesses that
you want to testify af the hearing. Send names and addresses of such witnesses to me
by 1200 hours} 2 April 2004. If, at a later time, you identify additional witnesses, inform
me of their names, phone numbers and/or addresses.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY

| \ Headquarters

| ! 16" Military Police Brigade (Airborne)
' Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

REPLY TL .
AnENﬂ¢N bRt

!
AFZA-AP-CO! ; ' 24 March 2004

@ Y
A of D

| ,
MEMORANDTlJ/I FOR — 420 Engineer Brigade, Victory Base,

Iraq, APO AE {09342

SUBJECT: A];Jp ointment as Atticle 32 Investigating Officer

1. You have heen appointed as an investigating officer (I0) pursuant to the Uniform

Justice (UCMJ), Article 32, to investigate the attached charges against
n‘M. Ambuhl, HHC, 16" MP BDE (ABN), Victory Base, Iraq APO AE

fing to Article 32, UCMJ, and Rule 405, Manual for Court-Martial (2002),
you are to: _

a. Condygt a thorough and impartial investigation into the truth of the

allegation(s); !

b. Consjder the correctness of the form of the charges; and

4 :
¢. Makejrecommendations as to the disposition of the charges in the interest of
justice and disgci line.

2. Prior to the|c mmencement of the investigation, you must contact

at the Ad ;inistrative Law Division, Combined Joint Task Force Seven, Victory
ase, Iraq, at DSN 318-822- i) and advise him that you have been detailed to
conduct this irjvestigation. He, or a Staff Judge Advocate designee, will brief you on
your responsi i}}ilesf and provide you with advice throughout the investigation. You will

not contact th¢ government representative or defense counsel for assistance in
matters, otherjthan routine administrative or clerical matters, regarding this
investigation. :

3. Your dutied as’ an Article 32 investigating officer takes precedence over any of your
other assigned ddties. The following guidance pertains to delays:

a. Schei.ule' the hearing as soon as you receive notice of this appointment. The
hearing date should be within seventy-two hours of receipt of this appointment letter. If
the defense of the government cannot proceed on the selected date, obtain a request
for delay, in wiiting, from the party requesting the delay. Requests for delay should be
attached to th¢ report of investigation.
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AFZA-AP-CO| |
SUBJECT: Appoain
b
b. You lave the authority to approve one reasonable delay requested by the
overnment, up to a total of seven days. Any delays in excess of seven
appraved by me. Requests for delay should be in writing and clearly
state the supporting reasons and the dates covering the delay. Before granting a delay
you must also|cpnsider matters submitted by the opposing counsel. Your decision to

grant a delay should be in writing. It should state your reasons and the dates of the
delay.

lment of Article 32 Investigating Officer

t

4, ‘ Trial Counsel, 16™ Mp Bde (Abn) DNVT 588- is
appointed as the gavernment representative and is authorized to participate in this
investigation. You can contact Trial Defense Service at DNVT 838 pto confirm the
name of the detailed defense counsel. While these officers or their designees will
attend the hearing and will question witnesses, it is your responsibility to conduct the
investigation, notthe government’s representatives. Further, both of these parties play
an adversarial role in the proceedings. You should therefore avoid discussing
substantive m tFers pertaining to the case with either party outside formal sessions
where all partis have opportunity to be present.

I
1
5. You shoul l}chme familiar with the following reference materials/documents:

a. Aticl £2 UCMJ and R.C.M. 405, Manual for Courts-Martial, 2002 Edition

b. DAP ltl;2 7-17, Procedural Guide for Article 32 Investigating Officer,
(especially patagraphs 1-2, General Instructions, 2-3, informing the accused of the
investigation n@ the right to counsel, and 2-4, consultation with counsel for the
accused) |

L
c. DD Form 4E8 (Charge Sheet) and allied documents

P .
6. The Article|32 Investigating Officer Procedural Guide discusses in detail procedural
aspects from poir;t:tment to submission of the final report. Included in Appendix B is a
sample formaf for notification of the accused. A copy of the notification should be sent
to the accuseq’ un(t commander to ensure that the unit commander is aware of the
time and locatjoh ofithe hearing, thereby ensuring the presence of the accused at the
hearing. If the accused is already represented by counsel, the written notice should be

sent to that cohrrsel-{ An information copy should also be provided to the appropriate
trial counsel. | ‘

|
|

7. You are pe s{ona‘lly responsible for summarizing relevant testimony that is not
already reduced to a written statement. *has been appointed as
your administrative and paralegal assistant for this case and will act as the reporter.
You can cont cihinij at DNVT 587-. However, the Article 32 Investigation will be a
summarized t al script and not verbatim.

P 2
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AFZA-AP-CO| || |
SUBJECT.: Appointment of Article 32 Investigating Officer
H

8. The complete refport of investigation, DD Form 457, Investigating Officer's Report,
with enclosures, anfl a chronology of the investigation from receipt of file to submission
of the report, will be forwarded with one (1) copy to this headquarters no later than
seventy-two hours% er completion of the investigation.

3

2 Encls _ l
1.DD Form 458 |
2. Case File
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AFZA-AP-O | | | |
SUBJECT: Notification of Article 32 Investigation
! _

5. You may do 1tadt me at

llforiginal siined///

Investigating Officer

|
Received by: | | 5 90 WW ' Date: L@ 4K Y

MEGAN M. AMIBUHL, SPC
B -
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Errata Sheet, United States v. A&/#7 20 {7

Tried at
This errata submitted by: Ae /771 :
Page Line- From To ' _
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/
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/
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/
/
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/
/

Page 1. of k Pages
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~§*+r MILITARY JUDGES’ ERRATA SHEET **+*+

UNITED STATES V.

"ECIALIST MEGAN M. AMBUHL,

MILITARY JUDGE: (Pages 1-13) ,
PAGE JUDGE’S PAGE JUDGE’S PAGE JUDGE’S
NUMBER NUMBER INITIALS {| NUMBER INITIALS NUMBER INITIALS
g
1]
10

NOTICE: The above pge(s) (has) (have) correction(s). A copy of each corrected page must be inserted into

all copies of the record gf trial.

Signature of Military Juq}ge;

Date:

FHT Form 27-X22 (SJA) 1 NOV 94

Appendix G, 3d Judicia|‘ ’élircuit Rules of Court (Military Judges’ Errata Sheet)
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RECORD OF TRIAL

AMBUHL, Megan M.

_SpC

(Name: Last, First, Middle Initial) (SWtyNumber) (Rank)
HHC, 16th MP Bde (ABN)
III Corps _ Victory Base, Iraq
(Unit/Command Name) (Branch of Service) (Station or Ship)
GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL
Convened by: Commander
(Title of Convening Authority)
Headgquarters, III Corps
(Unit/Command of Convening Authority)

Victory Base, Iraq and Mannheim, Germany 11,23 and 25 August 2004 .
(Place or Places of Trial) ° (Date or Dates of Trial)
INDEX RECORD
Article 39(a) Sessmns - R-2
Introduction of Counsel _R:2
Challenges ’ . R-N/A
Arraignment R-8

- Motions R-9
Pleas “R-14
Prosecution Ev1dence - R-16
Defensc Evidence: - R-N/A
Instructions on Findings " R-N/A
Charge(s) dismissed _ ___R-N/A
Findings " R-49
Prosecution vadence R-50
Defense Evidence . R-62
Sentence R-79
Appellate Rights Advnsement - R-81
Proceedings i in Revnsngn R-NA
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TESTIMONY

- DIRECT/ CROSS/ COURT
NAME OF WITNESS REDIRECT RECROSS
PROSECUTION:
None.
DEFENSE: |
None.
COURT:
None.
EXHIBITS ADMITTED IN EVIDENCE
NUMBEROR . __PAGE WHERE
LETTER . DESCRIPTION . OFFERED _ADMITTED
None. |
APPELLATE EXHIBITS
I Mof@n ‘to dismiss . 16
1I Government’s response to defense motion to dismiss _16
III Statements - 21
IV _Motion for expert assistance ‘ _40
Yy _Response to defense motion for expert assistance _40
Vi Motion to_ compel discovery n
v _Motion of nonparty Titan Corporation for a protective order 93
VIII Motion of nonparty SOS International LTD for a protective order 93

i 002485

ACLU-RDI 962 p.234
DOD 001385



RECEIPT FOR COPY OF RECORD OF TRIAL

I hereby acknowledge receipt of a copy of the record of trial in the case
of the United States versus SPC Megan M. Ambuhl delivered to me wvia U.S.
mail, this | ' day of November 2004.

Ja
Defense Counsel

iii
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1 PROCEEDINGS OF A GENERAL COURT-MARTIAL

2 The military judge called the Article 39(a) session to order at 1300,
3 11 August 2004, at Victory Base, Iraq, pursuant to the following

4 order:

6 Court-Martial Convening Order Number 1, Headquarters, III Corps,
7 Victory Base, Iraq, dated 14 January 2004 as amended by Court-Martial
8 Convening Order Number 3, séme headquarters, dated 8 March 2004.

9 [END OF PAGE]

10
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1 MJ: This Article 39(a) session is called to order.

2 TC: This court-martial is convened by Court Martial Convening
3 Order Number 1, Headquarters, III Corps, dated 14 January 2004, as

4 amended by Court-Martial Convening Order Number 3, same headquarters,
5 dated 8 March 2004, copies of which have been furnished to>the

6 military judge, counsel, and the accused, and which will be inserted
7 at this point intc the record.

8 The charges have been properly referred to this court for
9 'trial and were served on the accused on 23 July 2004.

10 The prosecution is ready to proceed in the arraignment of

11 The United States versus Ambuhl.

12 The accused and the following persons detailed to this

13 court are present:

14 ounneE | ILITARY JUDGE;
15 W TRIAL COUNSEL; and
16 <ERS, D:rENSE COUNSEL.

17 The members are absent.
18 W o5 been detailed reporter
19 for this court and has been previously sworn.

20 I have been detailed to this Court-martial by N

21 — Chief of Military Justice, III Corps. I am qualified

22 and certified under Article 27(b) and sworn under Article 42(a),

23  Uniform Code of Military Justice. I have not acted in any manner
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1
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

which might tend to disqualify me in this court-martial.

MJ: Thank you. Good afternoon, Specialist Ambuhl.

ACC: Good afternoon, ma'am.

MJ: You are currently represented _, she is
your detailed military defense counsel, and she is provided to
represent you free of charge. You also have the right to request
another military lawyer to represent you and if that person were
reasonably available, then he or she would also be detailed to your
case to represent you free of charge. If your request for another
military lawyer were granted, however, you would not have the right
to keep the services of —because you’re normally
entitled to only one military attorney. You could ask (———
— superiors to let you keep her on the case, but your
request would not have to be granted. Now finally, you also have the

right to hire a civilian attorney. It's my understanding that you

have hired~ who practices law in the Washington,

D.C. area. Is that right?
ACC: Yes, ma'am.
MJ: Right. Civilian counsel does have to be provided by you

at no expense to the government and if you hire (il to

represent you, then you can keep (i SN on your case to
assist him or you could excuse Wi =nd be represented

solely by your civilian counsel.

2002489
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1 Now those are your rights to counsel. Do you understand

2 everything I’ve told you?

3 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

4 MJ: All right. I note today, well first of all, do you want
5 to be represented by both YRR -d (NN

6 ACC: Yes, ma'am. ’

7 MJ:  All right. Today of course, (NP 21one is in
8 court and_ is not here. The purpose of today's hearing is
9 merely to set dates and to initiate the court-martial process. Do
10 you understand that?

11 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

12 MJ: Is it okay with you if we proceed to this arraignment

13 solely for the purposes of the arraignment just with (@i
14 and without —’

15 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

16 MJ: All right. Have you discussed this with —
17 before today?

18 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

19 MJ: So you are ready to waive his appearance for today only?
20 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

21 MJ: Roger. Okay. oD oo ahcad state your

22 detailing and qualifications for the record please.

23 DC: Your Honor. I have been detailed to this

502480
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court-martial by m, Regional Defense

Counsel, U.S. Army Trial Defense Service, Region IX. I am qualified
and certified under Article 27 (b) and sworn under Article 42(a),
Uniform Code of Military Justice. I have not acted in any manner,
which might tend to disqualify me in this court-martial.

MJ: Thank you. I too have been properly certified, sworn, and
detailed to this court-martial. Counsel for both sides appear to
have the requisite qualifications énd all personnel required to be
sworn have been sworn.

Trial counsel, please indicate the general nature of
thé charges in this case.

TC: Yes, ma'am. The general nature of the charges in this
éase is two specifications of conspiracy in violation of Article 81;
one specification of willful dereliction of duty in violation of
Article 92, three specifications of maltreatment of subord‘:’.)x;lates in
violation of Article 93, and one specification of indept acts in
violation of Article 134. The charges were preferred by GENEER
w and forwarded with recommendations as to
dispositio;l by Lieutenant \niliIUNENNNEEN :nd investigated by
o dditional charges were preferred by (g
O - @ forwarded, investigated U - d

forwarded with recommendation as to disposition by Snunuiiiiiiias

v
5 002491
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11
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15
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19

20
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23

Your Honor, are you aware of any matter which might be a
ground for challenge against you?

MJ: I am not. Does either side desire either to question me
or challenge me?

TC: No, ma'am.

DC: No, Your Honor.

MJ: - I did not receive a copy of the additional
charges and that may clear it up. Is the additional charge another
specification of maltreatment?

TC: Ma'am, the additional charges are one specification of
conspiracy and two specifications of maltreatment and we will make
that copy for you.

MJ: All right. After trial please give me a copy of the
additional chargevsheet and the referral, okay.

TC: Yes, ma'am.

MJ: Thanks. Specialist Ambuhl, now we are going to go over
your rights to forum that is your choices to how you can be tried at
this court-martial. You have the right to be tried by a court
consisting of at least five officer members, they would be
commissioned and/or warrant officers. Also, if you request it, your
court or you could be tried by a court consisting of at least one-
third enlisted soldiers, but none of those enlisted soldiers would

come from your company and none of them would be junior in rank to
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23

you.
Do you understand what I've said so far?

ACC: Yes, ma'am.

MJ: If you are tried by a court with members, the members will‘
vote by secret, written ballot and two-thirds of the members must
agree before you could be found guilty of any offense. If you were
found guilty, then two-thirds must also agree in voting on a
sentence. If your sentence included confinement for more than

10 years then three-fourth would have to agree. Now you also have

the right to request a trial by a military judge alone, and if your

request is approved, there will be no court members and the judge
alone will decide whether you are guilty or not guilty, and if the
judge finds you guilty, then the judge will determine an appropriate
sentence in your case.
Do you understand the difference between trial before
members and trial before military judge alone?
ACC: Yes, ma'am.

MJ: —, are you prepared to enter a choice of

forum today?

DC: No, Your Honor. We request to defer choice of forum and

plea, Your Honor.
MJ: All right. We'll get to that in a moment. Your request

to defer entry of choice of forum is granted. What that means,

002493
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12

13

Specialist -Ambuhl, is, I'll let you continue
and (uuENEEEENS :bout your options. At
date of trial, however you'll be required to
and the court of your choice of how you want

ACC: Yes, ma'am.

MJ: The accused will now be arraigned.

to talk with S

sometime prior to the
notify the government

to be tried, all right.

TC: All parties to the trial have been furnished with a copy

of the charges. Does the accused want them read?

DC: The accused waives reading of the

MJ: The reading may be omitted.

charges, Your Honor.

[THE CHARGE SHEET FOLLOWS AND IS NOT A NUMBERED PAGE.]

[END OF PAGE]
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CHARGE SHEET

. PERSONAL DATA
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, M) ! 2. 8SN

AMBUHL, Megan M.
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION

3. GRADE OR RANK | 4. PAY GRADE

- SPC E-4

6. CURRENT SERVICE
Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM
(Airborne), lll Corps, Victory Base, Iraq APO AE 09342

28Jan 02 8 years
7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED | 9. DATE(S) IMPOSED
= BASIC b. SEA/FOREIGN DUTY c. TOTAL
$1,638.30 $100.00 $1,738.30 None N/A
IIl._CHARGES AND SPECIFICATIONS
10. CHARGE | VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 81

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, did, at or near Baghdad
Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 23 October.2003 conspire with Staff
Sergeant Sergeant Corporal ) Specialist
and Private First Class to
commit an offense under the Uniform Code of Military Justice, to wit: maltreatment of subordinates,
and.in order to effect the object of the conspiracy the said Specialist Ambuhl did participate in a

photograph with PFC mho tied a leash around the neck of a detainee and led
the detainee down the corridor wi e leash around his neck.

CHARGE II: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 92

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, who knew, of her duties
at or near Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, from on or about 20 October
2003 to on or about 1 December 2003, was derelict in the performance of those duties in that she
willfully failed to protect Iraqi detainees from abuse, cruelty and maltreatment, as it was her duty to

do.
(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET)
"~ iil. PREFERRAL
11‘a. NAME OF ACCUSER (Last, First, Mi) b. GRADE c. QRGANIZATION OF ACCUSER
0-3 HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abn) APO AE 09342
d. sl

le. DATE ;
20 MAR vy

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigned, authorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this character,
personally appeared the above named accuser this _ 6" day of __yV\areh ,2otM
and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a person subject to the Uniform
Code of Military Justice and that he/she either has personal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set
forth therein and that the same are true to the best of his/her knowledge and belief.

S HHC, XVill Abn Corps
Yped Name of Officer

Organization of Officer

0-3 Trial Counsel
Grade Official Capacity to Administer Oath
(See R.C.M. 307(b) — must be a commissioned officer)

re )
PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE.

DD FORM 458, MAY 2000
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on_L0 March o004 _ the accused was informed of the charges against him/her and of
the name(s) of The accuser(s) known to me (See R.C. M 308 (a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.)

HHC, 16" MP Bde (Abn) APO AE 09342

lame of Immedlate Commander Organization of Immediate Commander

IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY

13.
The sworn charges were received at / ?‘/5 hours, 3/ M QLC/I‘\ ._J_Q_O_L at Headquarters, 16m Military

. Deslignation of Command or
Police Brigade (Airborne) APO AE 09342
Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M. 403)

FOR THE '

Commanding
Typed Name of Officer Official Capagity of Officer Signing
b

0-6

Lo . ¥

V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES -
T4a, DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY | b. PLACE Victory Bese, Z e 7" [ o DAY 04

//Md#g ters, T Lorps M p7792- 1450
Referred for trial to the AL court-ijartial convened by //‘é[ ”méz/l

dattd W Tansery 2004 &5 ety L

A‘dlll/ g /”M/".. . 200% ',.’subject-to the following instructions: 2 AW E

oy (ommyad of _Lieutenent Aencca (W72
Command or Order .
Chicl, oim ) Lew Divisisn

Typed Name 7" Official Capacify of Officer Signing

/'n//&' 3

%

Signature

15.
n 233 ' @oﬂ .| (caused tnbe) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused.

‘ Typed Name o! Trial #unsel - Grade or Rank of Trial Counsel

an
FOOTNOTES: 1— When an appropriate comimander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken.
2-— See R.C.M. 601(e) conceming instructions. If none, so state.

DD FORM 458 (BACK), MAY 2000 ~. - , !
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12.

On , , the accused was informed of the charges against him/her and of the
name(s) of The accuser(s) known to me (See R.C.M. 308 (a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.)

Typed Name of Immediate Commander ' Organization of Immediate Commander
Grade
Signature
IV. RECEIPT BY SUMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY
13.
The sworn charges were received at hours, . at

Designation of Command or

. Officer Exercising Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M. 403)

Typed Name of Officer Officlsl Capacity of Officer Signing

Grade
Signature
: V. REFERRAL; SERVICE OF CHARGES
14a. DESIGNATION OF COMMAND OF CONVENING AUTHORITY ] b, PLACE c. DATE (YYYYMMDD)
Victory Base, lraq
1l Corps _ APO AE 09342-1400 20041028

Referred for trial tothe  Summary  court-martial convened by  this detail o
QR < summary court-martial officer on

28 Qctober . 2004 , subject to the following instructions: None
By Command of Lieutenant General Metz
Command or Order

Chief, Criminal Law Division
Typed Name of Officer Official Capacity of Officer Signing

_— 03

Signature

16.
On 29 aCToBER ' _ 2004 . | (caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused,

I ||yped Name of Trial Counsel Grade om Counsel

gnature
FOOTNOTES: 1— When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken.
2 — See R.C.M. 601(e) conceming instructions. If none, so state.

DD FORM 458 (BACK), MAY 2000

00249
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CONTINUATION SHEET DD Form 458, AMBUHL, Megan M., SPC,
HHC, 16th MP Bde (Abn), IIl Corps, Victory Base, Iraqg APO AE 09342

tem 10 (conﬁnued)
CHARGE Iil: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 93

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhi, U.S. Army, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8 November 2003,
did maltreat several Iraqi detainees, persons subject to her orders, by watching naked
detainees in a pyramid of human bodies.

CHARGE IV: VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 134

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhi, U.S. Army, did, at or near
Baghdad Central Correctional Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8 November 2003,

wrongfully commit an indecent act with Iraqi detainees, Staff Sergeant *

il, Corporal Specialist m and Private First
Class by observing a group of detainees masturbating, or
attempting to masturbate, while they were located in a public corridor of the Baghdad

Central Correctional Facility, with other soldiers who photographed or watched the
detainees’ actions. ‘
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CHARGE SHEET

1. PERSONAL DATA
1. NAME OF ACCUSED (Last, First, M) 2. SSN 3. GRADE OR RANK | 4. PAY GRADE"
AMBUHL, Megan M. SPC E-4
5. UNIT OR ORGANIZATION 6. CURRENT SERVICE

Headquarters and Headquarters Company, 16th Military Police Brigade a. INITIAL DATE b. TERM
(Airborne), 11l Corps, Victory Base, Irag APO AE 09342

28 Jan 02 8 years
7. PAY PER MONTH 8. NATURE OF RESTRAINT OF ACCUSED [ 9. DATE(S) IMPOSED
@, BASIC b. SEAJFOREIGN DUTY ©. TOTAL :
$1,638.30 $100.00 $1,738.30 None N/A
ADDITIONAL il. CHARGES AND SPECGIFICATIONS
10. CHARGE ' | VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ, ARTICLE 81 ’

THE SPECIFICATION: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army,-did, at or near Baghdad
Central Confinement Facnllti Abu Ghraib, Irag, on or about 8 November 2003, conspire with Staff

‘Sergeant Corporal — Specialist [ -

First Class (i NP 2nd others to commit an offense under the Uniform Code of
Military Justice, to wit:. maltreatment of subordinates, and in order to effect the abject of the
cohspiracy, the said Corporal Graner did place naked detainees in a human pyramid.

CHARGE lI VIOLATION OF THE UCMJ '7-\RTICLE 93

SPECIFICATION 1: In that Spemal‘ st Megan M. Ambuhl U S. Army, at or near Baghdad Central
Confinement Fdcility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 8 November 2003, did maltreat several Iragi -

_ detainees, persons subject to her orders, by watchlng naked detainees being forced to masturbate
in front of other detainees and soldiers.

(SEE CONTINUATION SHEET)

_Ill. PREFERRAL
b. GRADE ¢. ORGANIZATION OF ACCUSER

0-3 HHC,16™ MP BDE(ABN) APO AE 09342

uaf [ "TRowc of

AFFIDAVIT: Before me, the undersigned, #uthorized by law to administer oaths in cases of this character,
personally appeared the above named accuser this l day of RYA N

and signed the foregoing charges and specifications under oath that he/she is a/person subject to the Unlform
Code of Military Justice and that he/she eith ersonal knowledge of or has investigated the matters set
forth therein and that the saine are true to t f hisitier knowledge and belief.

11a. NAME OF ACCUSER (Last, First, M)

16™ MP BDE (ABN)

Organization of Officer

Trial Counsel
Official Capacity to Administer Oath
(See R.C.M. 307(b} — must be a commissioned officer)

"DD FORM 458, MA 'PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE.
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12,

On "3 ;Wk)-‘l % the accused was informed of the charges against him/her and of

the name(s) of The accuser(s) known to me (See R.C.M. 308 (a)). (See R.C.M. 308 if notification cannot be made.)

____% HHC, 16™ MP Bde (Abn) APO AE 09342
Typed Name of Immed/ate Comfhander Organization of Immediate Commander
Y o

UMMARY COURT-MARTIAL CONVENING AUTHORITY
13. / V30104

The sworn charges were received at_( 900 _hours, M_ZM —at Headquarters, 16" Military
\

; Designation of Command or
Police Brigade (Airborne) APO AE 09342
Officer Exerclsing Summary Court-Martial Jurisdiction (See R.C.M. 403)

FOR THE *

Commanding
Official Capacity of Officer Signing

Typed Name of Officer

. e -

0-6

o V. REFERRAL SERVICE OF CHARGES . ]
148 DESIGNATION BF COMMAND OF CONVENIﬁG AUTHORITY b. PLACE / &f(‘ _z’;- C'.‘HDATE M, p 1
fa/ggéaé«s ZZZ—/mo: App AE 095/ 2- /Vool (jmi 91 2004

Referred for trial to the ?‘ﬂﬁ@‘ / court-martial convened by ML@“!M‘L”/”?/‘ amber /,
A@k/ /4 ery 2064 aS qmended éa Gurt Mardea) (3 m/amgicgf/ ﬂm&c 3, dateed

W&ﬁ 2004, subject to the following instructions: 2
Zs be ried in ('dmancﬁon with the oregagl l’/ilnfe's.
By (7 ommam{ of _Litutenant Gencral Motz .

Command or Order

LRy Chit Lomial b Briissin
Typed Name of Officer Official C Capacily of Officer Signing

[]dﬁ'/@m /A -3

ignature

15.
On 23% 50 D 00'—" . | (caused to be) served a copy hereof on (each of) the above named accused.

Typed Name of TQ Counsel : . !rade or Rank of Trial Counsel

FOOTNOTES: 1— When an appropriate commander signs personally, inapplicable words are stricken.
2 — See R.C.M. 601(e) concerning instructions. If none, so state,

DD FORM 458 (BACK), MAY 2000~ ' AYASAYY |
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CONTINUATION SHEET (Additional Charges) DD Form 458, AMBUHL, Megan M.,
SPC. -HHC, 16th MP Bde (Abn), Ill Corps, Victory Base, Iraq APO AE
09342

Item 10 (continued)

SPECIFICATION 2: In that Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, U.S. Army, at or near
Baghdad Central Confinement Facility, Abu Ghraib, Iraq, on or about 23 October 2003,
did maltreat several Iraqi detainees, persons subject to her orders, by participating in a

hotograph with Private First Class depicting Private First Class
%olding a naked detainee by a leash wrapped around said detainee’s neck and
by watching Private First Class ﬁhold a naked detainee by a leash
wrapped around said detainee’s neck. .

002501

ACLU-RDI 962 p.250
DOD 001401



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

TC:: The charges are signed bym,
a person sﬁbject to the Code as accuser; and the additional charges
are signed by VNSNS & thc charges and the additional
charges were properly sworn to before a commissioned officer of the
armed forces authorized to admipisterﬁoaths; and are properly
referred to this court f&":'c"?{;rial b}@Lieutenant General Thomas F.
Metz, the Convening Au!‘horify.
) "-"-"“"'H?MJ: Very well, Specialist Ambuhl, counsel, please rise.
[The accused and counsel did as directed.]}

MJ: Specialist Megan M. Ambuhl, how do you plead? Before
receiving your plea, I advise you that any motions to dismiss or to
grant any other appropriate relief should be made at this time. Your
defense counsel will speak for you.

DC: Your Honor, the defense request to defer plea. Several
motions have been filed with this court, Your Honor. We request to
defer plea until the outcome of those motions.

MJ: Roger. Have a seat, please.

[The accused and counsel did as directed.]

MJ: All right. Let me put on the record the substance of the

802 that we held just a minute ago in my office. Present were -

-, _ and myself. A couple of things, I was
informed that VNN hos been retained as civilian counsel

and will be present for the trial even if tried here in Baghdad,

0 002502

ACLU-RDI 962 p.251

DOD 001402



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23

Iraq. However, Specialist Ambuhl was willing to waive his appearance
for the purposes of the arraignment. The second thing that we talked

-

about is that it's my understand‘r’t\:hat -’, who will be the
judge of record in this case, has set the 23rd of August as a date
for motion hearing in Mannheim, Germany and (SN i formed
me that she does expect (MM to present for that motion hearing
and of course Specialist Ambuhl and counsel will be there as well.
Past that, I'll let -set any future dates as necessary for
either additional motions or trial. I was also told that the defense
has requested an expert on psychological affects of working in
prisons to the effect of why good people may do bad things. The
government has not yet acted on that and of course we're getting down
to the wire because you ought to be able to litigate that motion on
PN '
the 23rd. 1It's my understand'that defense will start travel from
Tikrit- on or abéut 19th, so government you are hereby ordered to get
that to the CG and have action taken one way or the other no later
than the 18th of August, all right.

TC: Yes, ma'am.

MJ: Defense, if I were you I would just plan on it being
denied so that you can raise the motion before you scoot off to
Germany. I realize that it takes several days to get from Tikrit to
Germany. That was the substance of everything that my notes showed

that we talked about, is there anything counsel that you want to add?
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1 TC: No, ma'am.

2 DC: No, Your Honor.

3 MJ: Very well. All right. Specialist Ambuhi, the purpose of
4 today as I saild was to start the pretrial process, it's called an

5 arraignment and it'é essentially where a judge calls for the plea.

6 You didn't need to enter your plea today, but I called for your

7 plea.

8 As the accused in a court-martial, you have the absolute

9 right to be present at every session of your court and that's whether
10 it's a pretrial session like the one we just held or a pretrial

11 session like you are going to hold on the 23rd of August or the trial
12 or even any post-trial session. The one exception to your right to
13 be present for trial ‘is if you were to go AWOL between now and the

14 date that is set for trial, then the government could opt to try you

15 even in your absence. It wouldn't be a pretty sight for —

16 < or“ because they would be defending an empty

17 chair. The judge would enter a plea of not guilty for you and you
18 would go with an officer panel. I don't expect that you are going to
19 go AWOL frankly from Iraq, I don't know where you would go AWOL, all
20 right. The reason that I tell you that is that I inform everybody of
21 that I have arraigned because it's critically important for y‘ou to

22 remain in close contact with—and- between

23 now and the dates you've set for pretrial hearings and for the trial
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1 so that you could be present on the day of trial to assist in your
2 defense. Do you understand that?
3 ACC: Yes, ma'am.

4 MJ: All right. 1Is there any thing else we can take up here

5 today then?

6 TC: No, ma'am.
7 DC: ' No, Your Honor.
8 MJ: Court is in recess.

9 [The court-martial recessed at 1312, 11 August 2004.]
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[The Article 39(a) session was called to order at Mannheim, Germany,
at 1505, 23 August 2004.)

MJ:‘ Court is called to order. The following people are again

present the accused, (i NS -n —
—, you weren’t at the arralgnment of the

aCcused?
ATC: That’s correct, Your Honor.

MJ: Put your qualifications and detailing on the record,

please. .

ATC: Yes, my name is — I‘ve been
detailed to this court-martial by (NN , Chicf of

Military Justice, III Corps. I’.m qualified and certified under
Article 27(b) and sworn under Article 42(a), Uniform Code of Military
Justice. I have not acted in any manner which might tend to
disquali:fy’me in this court-martial.

MJ: And —, you wéren’t here, were you?

CDC: I was not here, Your Honor.

MJ: Please put your qualifications on the record.

Mo: S 'm the retained counsel for Specialist
Megan Ambuhl. I’'m a member in good standing of the bars of the
Commonwealth of Virginia and Washington D.C. and the Court of

Military Appeals, United States Supreme Court, all federal appellate
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1 courts.  I've handled approximately 100 court-martials and also was

2 counsel in the case of VCD, the Berlin Democratic Club versus the

3 Department of the Army.

4 [The civilian defense counsel was sworn.]

5 MJ s fou’ve not acted in any manner inconsistent with your

6 duties a\:s defense counsel in this case, have you, .“

7 CDbC: No, sir.

8 MJ And Specialist Ambuhl, at the prior hearing with, I believe

9 _, she discussed your rights to counsel with

10 you. Do you recall that?

11 ACC: Yes, sir.

12 MJ: And at that time, did you indicate you wanted bot:h-
13

14 AC(ﬁ,: Yes, sir.

15 MJ: But at that time, you waived the presence of —,

16 true?

17 ACC: [No verbal response.]
18 MJ: You didn’t----
19 ACC: Oh, yes, sir, I did.

20 MJ: I’m— I’ve been properly certified

21 and sworn and detailed to this court-martial. As I’'m sure both sides

22 are aware, Ethat I'm also the military judge in the companion cases,
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1 Dbut I’m?not aware of any grounds that might be a challenge against

2  me. Doés either side desire to question or to challenge me at this

3 time?

4 TC% No, Your Honor.

5 éDd: No, Your Honor.

6 : MJ And of course, both sides are aware of my status in the

7 otherAcéses, and if there is an issue, I would expect either side

8 that Wants:to raise the issue raises it on their own.

9 “has been detailed to
10 this court4martial as court reporter and has been previously sworn.
11 I believe that accounts for all the parties.

12 : 1711 also note for the record that this, as I told all

13 counsel, this case was moved to Mannheim at the request of the

14 defense because they were going to be in Germany conducting

15 disco&e:y. The fact that this hearing is being conducted in Mannheim
16 in no way indicates the eventual situs of trial and has no

17 precedential value on any change of venue or change of place of trial

18 motion.

19 Defense, I understood you have some motions you wish to
20 make?
21 CDC: That’s correct, Your Honor. The first motion will be

22 presented by (GGG

15
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MJ: Okay, that’s been marked as Appellate Exhibit I, which is
the request to dismiss the additional charge. 1Is that correct,
P—

DCQ That’s correct, Your Honor.

MJQ The failure to comply with R.C.M. 405 alpha in that they
were not investigated.

- DC: Correct, Your Honor.

MJ: Government, do you have a written response?

ATC: Yes, Your Honor, it’s been previously provided.

MJ; That’s Appellate Exhibit II. It would appear to the court
that this ié primarily a legal issue. Do both sides agree?

" ATC: Yes, Your Honor.

DC: Yes, Your Honor.

MJ: And that the facts are really not in dispute?

ATC: That is correct, Your Honor.

MJ Okay, I have a copy of the--as I understand it, the
additional‘charges were not preferred at the time of the 32, but were
preferred and referred subsequent to the 32.

: ATC: That is correct, Your Honor.

MJﬁ fhe defense motion includes an exhibit which include the

Article :32 officer’s report and the transcript. Any objection to me

considering both those documents?
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.ATd: No, Your Honor.
MJ: Defense?
ATd: No, Your Honor.

M3 ﬁow GRS vou would agree the defenseg has the
burdeﬁ'&n this motion?

DC: Yes, Your Honor, we do.

MJ; It would strike to the court to do it by each
speéifidation.

DCQ Yes, Your Honor.

' MJ; Now, the specification of Additional Charge T is a
conspirécyboffense on or about 8 November. And you allege there was
no évidéncé presented on that issue at the 322

DC{ As to the conspiracy, Yes, Your Honor. The defense’s
position oﬁ that is that in order for the government ultimately'to
meet ité bﬁrden of proof, not only do they need to meet the elements
of the conspiracy, but also those of the underlying offense, Your
Honor. °‘And this particular conspiracy was not investigated by the
investigating officer.

MJ: What element wasn’t addressed?

DC: Your Honor, the two elements that are required, tﬁat the
accuséd‘entered into an agreement with one or more persons to commit

an offense. And secondly, that while the agreement continued to
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exist and While the accused remained a party to that agreement, the
accUséd; o# at least one of the co-conspirators, performed an overt
act.

Your Honor, we ask the court to take into consideration
with're§ard to that charge the fact that the investigating bfficer,
in fact, recommended that in order to go forward with that, the
government:produce more evidence, in effect, recommending that that
charge ﬁot be referred over to a general court-martial.

MJf ;Well, now apparently, we need to refer back to--you're
talkiﬁg:about the additional charge, or it’s an original chérge?

DC: Your Honor, I'm sorry, the underlying predicate.

MJf of original Charge III?

DC{ Yes, Your Honor, and I mention that to the court because
that is:thé way the position of the government is presented in their
responsive:motion. Simply focusing on Additional Charge I and its
Specifiqation, the two elements for a conspiracy were not
investigated by the investigating officer, Your Honor.

MJ; Well, you would agree that the overt act was, wasn’t it?

DC: Yes, Your Honor.

MJ: Government, what evidence--was there an agreement

introduced at the 327

18

002511

ACLU-RDI 962 p.260

DOD 001411



1 ATC: We believe that the evidence found in the sworn statements

2 of the Qo—conspirators, that is, the statement of--the 32 officer

3  considered the statement of (NG SN
4 — and —, Your Honor, as well as various

5 pictures showing what occurred the night of November 7th and 8th.

6 The govérnment did not attach the statements to its motion. We did

7 attaicﬁ 'ﬁhotographs but can provide the statements of the co-accused

8§ if the court would like.

9 MJ: Well, what you gave me is a picture of a, apparently, naked

10 detainee with an individual holding a dog leash around his head.

11 ATC_: That’s correct, Your Honor.

12 MJ: A statement from N

13 ATC: That’s correct.

14 MJ: The SJA recommendation.

15 ATC: And then six photographs, Your Honor, that’s correct. And

16 we believe that those photographs are a sampling of some of the

17 evidence that we’ve shown of what happened the night of November

18 7th--—--
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